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Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements in this Annual Report on ForaKnstitute “forward-looking statementai/ithin the meaning of applicable U.S. ¢
Canadian securities legislation. Additionally, famgd-looking statements may be made orally or ispreleases, conferences, reports, on our
website or otherwise, in the future, by us or onlmhalf. Such statements are generally identiidlyl the terminology used such as “plans,”
“expects,” “estimates, acippates,” “believes, tgets,” “objective,” “could,” “should,” “may”
or other similar words.

projects,” “indicates,

budgets,” “intends,

By their very nature, forward-looking statementguiee us to make assumptions that may not mategiali that may not be accurate.
Forward-looking statements are subject to knownuarichown risks and uncertainties and other fadtmasmay cause actual results, levels of
activity and achievements to differ materially fréinose expressed or implied by such statementsidimg the factors discussed under
Item 1A. Risk Factors in this Annual Report on FdreaK. Such factors include, but are not limitedttee following: fluctuations in and
volatility of the market prices for oil and natugds products; the ability to produce and transpibeind natural gas; the results of exploration
and development drilling and related activitiesibgll economic conditions, particularly in the caoiggt in which we carry on business,
especially economic slowdowns; actions by governaieruthorities including increases in taxes, legige and regulatory initiatives related to
fracture stimulation activities, changes in enviramtal and other regulations, and renegotiatioropfracts; political uncertainty, including
actions by insurgent groups or other conflicts;rikgotiation and closing of material contractsyfatcapital requirements and the availability
of financing; estimates and economic assumptioad ursconnection with our acquisitions; risks agsec with drilling, operating and
decommissioning wells; actions of third-party cormns of interests in properties in which we alsm @m interest; our ability to effectively
integrate companies and properties that we accanethe other factors discussed in other docuntkeatsve file with or furnish to the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”)@adadian securities regulatory authorities. Thesichjpf any one factor on a particular
forward-looking statement is not determinable veigintainty as such factors are interdependent upgr actors and our course of action
would depend upon our assessment of the futurejaenring all information then available. In thagaed, any statements as to: future oil or
natural gas production levels; capital expendituttes allocation of capital expenditures to expimaand development activities; sources of
funding for our capital expenditure programs; d@rdlof new wells; demand for oil and natural gasdoicts; expenditures and allowances
relating to environmental matters; dates by whiehiain areas will be developed or will come onatneexpected finding and development
costs; future production rates; ultimate recovditgtinf reserves, including the ability to converbbable and possible reserves to proved
reserves; dates by which transactions are expéeteldse; future cash flows, uses of cash flowHBectability of receivables and availability of
trade credit; expected operating costs; changasyrof the foregoing and other statements usingdai-looking terminology are forward-
looking statements, and there can be no assurhattht expectations conveyed by such forward-tegpktatements will, in fact, be realized.

Although we believe that the expectations convdyethe forwardiooking statements are reasonable based on infanmavailable to u
on the date such forward-looking statements wememao assurances can be given as to future relemiéds of activity, achievements or
financial condition.

Readers should not place undue reliance on anyaforiooking statement and should recognize thastigements are predictions of
future results, which may not occur as anticipafedual results could differ materially from thoasticipated in the forwartboking statemen
and from historical results, due to the risks andentainties described above, as well as otheraowtanticipated. The foregoing statement:
not exclusive and further information concerningiosluding factors that potentially could matelyiadffect our financial results, may emerge
from time to time. We do not intend to update famivlboking statements to reflect actual resultstmnges in factors or assumptions affecting
such forward-looking statements.
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Glossary of Selected Oil and Natural Gas Terms

The following are abbreviations and definitiong@ins commonly used in the oil and natural gasstrgiiand this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

2D seismic.Geophysical data that depict the subsurface strateo dimensions.

3D seismic.Geophysical data that depict the subsurface strataee dimensions. 3D seismic typically providesore detailed and
accurate interpretation of the subsurface strata #D seismic.

Appraisal wells. Wells drilled to convert an area or sub-region frihia resource to the reserves category.

Bbl. One stock tank barrel, or 42 U.S. gallons liquitlwee, used in reference to oil or other liquid hyaiarbons.

Bbl/d. Barrels of oil per day.

Bcf. One billion cubic feet of natural gas.

Boe.Barrels of oil equivalent. Boe is not included lire DeGolyer and MacNaughton reserves report addrised by the Company by
converting natural gas to oil in the ratio of sixfdf natural gas to one Bbl of oil. The conversfaator is the current convention used by m
oil and natural gas companies. Boe may be mislgagiarticularly if used in isolation. A Boe conviersratio of six Mcf to one Bbl is based on
an energy equivalency conversion method primaplyliaable at the burner tip and does not represamaiue equivalency at the wellhead.

Boepd.Barrels of oil equivalent per day.

Commercial well; commercially productive well. An oil and natural gas well which produces oil amadural gas in sufficient quantities
such that proceeds from the sale of such produetiored production expenses and taxes.

Completion. The installation of permanent equipment for thedpiation of oil or natural gas or, in the case diyahole, the reporting of
abandonment to the appropriate agency.

Developed acreagelThe number of acres which are allocated or asslgrtalproducing wells or wells capable of produetio

Development well. A well drilled within the proved area of an oil matural gas reservoir to the depth of a stratigapbrizon known to
be productive.

Directional drilling. The technique of drilling a well while varying thagle of direction of a well and changing the dimtof a well to
hit a specific target.

Dry hole; dry well. A well found to be incapable of producing eithdrasinatural gas in sufficient quantities to jugtifompletion as an
oil or natural gas well.

Exploitation. The continuing development of a known producingrfation in a previously discovered field, includiefforts to maximiz
the ultimate recovery of oil or natural gas frora freld by development wells, secondary recoveniggent or other suitable processes and
technology.
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Exploratory well. A well drilled to find a new field or to find a nexeservoir in a field previously found to be protiue of oil or natural
gas in another reservoir. Generally, an explorateell is any well that is not a development well.

Farm-in or farm-out. An assignment of an interest in a drilling locataomd related acreage conditional upon the drikihg well on that
location, the completion of other work commitmergkated to that acreage, or some combination tiiereo

Formation. A succession of sedimentary beds that were depogitder the same general geologic conditions.

Frac; fracture stimulation. A stimulation treatment involving the fracturing @feservoir and then injecting water, sand andnateds
into the fractures under pressure to stimulate ¢gahbon production in low-permeability reservoirs.

Gross acres or gross wellsThe total acres or wells, as the case may be, iohwdhworking interest is owned.

Horizontal drilling. A drilling technique used in certain formations wde well is drilled vertically to a certain degthd then drilled at
right angle with a specified interval.

Initial production rate. Generally, the maximum 24-hour production volunmaarfra well.
Mbbl. One thousand stock tank barrels.

Mboe. One thousand barrels of oil equivalent.

Mboepd. One thousand barrels of oil equivalent per day.

Mcf. One thousand cubic feet of natural gas.

Mcf/d. One thousand cubic feet of natural gas per day.

Mmbbl. One million stock tank barrels.

Mmboe. One million barrels of oil equivalent.

Mmcf. One million cubic feet of natural gas.

Mmcf/d. One million cubic feet of natural gas per day.

Net acres or net wellsThe sum of the fractional working interests ownedtrioss acres or gross wells.

Overriding royalty interest. An interest in an oil or natural gas property dintit the owner to a share of oil and natural gaslpction
free of costs of production.

Play. A term applied to a portion of the exploration grdduction cycle following the identification by @egists and geophysicists of
areas with potential oil and natural gas reserves.

Present value of estimated future net revenues onNR10. The present value of estimated future net reversuas estimate of future net
revenues from a property at the date indicatedhowit giving effect to derivative financial instrunteactivities, after deducting production and
ad valorem taxes, future capital costs, abandonousis and operating expenses, but before dedudtimg federal income taxes. The future
net
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revenues have been discounted at an annual ra@oto determine their “present value.” The presahie is shown to indicate the effect of
time on the value of the net revenue stream andldimot be construed as being the fair market vafuitbe properties. Estimates have been
made using constant oil and natural gas pricepedating and capital costs at the date indicateitls acquisition date, or as otherwise
indicated. We believe that the present value ofmeded future net revenues before income taxedewloit a financial measure in accordance
with U.S. generally accepted accounting princigtesS. GAAP"), is an important financial measureeddy investors and independent oil anc
natural gas producers for evaluating the relatigeificance of oil and natural gas properties aoguésitions because the tax characteristics of
comparable companies can differ materially.

Productive well. A productive well is a well that is not a dry well.

Proved developed reserve®eveloped oil and natural gas reserves are resef\a®/ category that can be expected to be reedver
(i) through existing wells with existing equipmentd operating methods or in which the cost of #triired equipment is relatively minor
compared to the cost of a new well and (ii) throurgdtalled extraction equipment and infrastructyperational at the time of the reserves
estimate.

Proved reservesThose quantities of oil and natural gas, whichabglysis of geoscience and engineering data, castbeated with
reasonable certainty to be economically produciioten a given date forward, from known reservo@nsg under existing economic conditions,
operating methods, and government regulationsy pyithe time at which contracts providing the tighoperate expire, unless evidence
indicates that renewal is reasonably certain, digas of whether deterministic or probabilistic hoets are used for the estimation. The projec
to extract the hydrocarbons must have commenc#tearperator must be reasonably certain that ito@ihmence the project within a
reasonable time.

The area of the reservoir considered as proveddes!: (i) the area identified by drilling and liettby fluid contacts, if any, and
(ii) adjacent undrilled portions of the reservdiat can, with reasonable certainty, be judged todm¢inuous with it and to contain economic
producible oil or natural gas on the basis of @a@@ geoscience and engineering data.

In the absence of data on fluid contacts, provexhtjties in a reservoir are limited by the lowesbwn hydrocarbons as seen in a well
penetration unless geoscience, engineering, ooqeaince data and reliable technology establisheser contact with reasonable certainty.
Where direct observation from well penetrations diefined a highest known oil elevation and the piidt exists for an associated gas cap,
proved oil reserves may be assigned in the straiégurigher portions of the reservoir only if ge@stce, engineering, or performance data anc
reliable technology establish the higher contathwéasonable certainty.

Reserves which can be produced economically thrapglication of improved recovery techniques (idahg, but not limited to, fluid
injection) are included in the proved classificatishen: (i) successful testing by a pilot projecan area of the reservoir with properties no
more favorable than in the reservoir as a whoke ogperation of an installed program in the resereoan analogous reservoir, or other
evidence using reliable technology establishesdhsonable certainty of the engineering analysiwtich the project or program was based
and (ii) the project has been approved for devekagrby all necessary parties and entities, inclydiovernmental entities.

Existing economic conditions include prices andas$ which economic producibility from a reservigito be determined. The price
shall be the average price during the twelve meetiiod prior to the ending date of the period ceddny the report, determined as an
unweighted arithmetic average of the first-dayta#-tnonth price for each month within such periadess prices are defined by contractual
arrangements, excluding escalations based uporefatunditions.

Proved undeveloped reservefkeserves of any category that are expected todogeesd from new wells on undrilled acreage or from
existing wells where a relatively major expenditisreequired for recompletion.

iv
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Reserves on undrilled acreage shall be limitetidse directly offsetting development spacing atieasare reasonably certain of
production when drilled, unless evidence usingal#é technology exists that establishes reasomablainty of economic producibility at
greater distances. Undrilled locations can be ifladsas having undeveloped reserves only if a Wgment plan has been adopted indicating
that they are scheduled to be drilled within fiveags, unless the specific circumstances justifngér time.

Undrilled locations can be classified as havingvptbundeveloped reserves only if a development Ipdesnbeen adopted indicating that
they are scheduled to be drilled within five yeansgess the specific circumstances justify a lorigee.

Under no circumstances shall estimates for undpeeloeserves be attributable to any acreage farhwdm application of fluid injection
or other improved recovery technique is contemplat@aless such techniques have been proved efduyiactual projects in the same
reservoir or an analogous reservoir or by othedewe using reliable technology establishing realsiencertainty.

Recompletion.An operation within an existing well bore to make twell produce oil or natural gas from a differeparately
producible zone other than the zone from whichvib# had been producing.

Reasonable certaintylf deterministic methods are used, reasonableiogyteneans a high degree of confidence that thetifies will be
recovered. If probabilistic methods are used, tisbmild be at least a 90% probability that the tjtias actually recovered will equal or exceec
the estimate. A high degree of confidence exidtisafquantity is much more likely to be achieveahtimot and, as changes due to increased
availability of geoscience (geological, geophysieald geochemical), engineering, and economicatatanade to estimated ultimate recovery
(“EUR") with time, reasonably certain EUR is mucloma likely to increase or remain constant thandorease.

Reservoir. A porous and permeable underground formation coimgia natural accumulation of producible oil amdiatural gas that is
confined by impermeable rock or water barriers igriddividual and separate from other reservoirs.

Sales volumesThe amount of production of oil or natural gas safler deducting royalties and working interestsed/by third parties.

Shale.Fine-grained sedimentary rock composed mostly nfotidated clay or mud. Shale is the most freqyesttturring sedimentary
rock.

Standardized measure of discounted future net cadtows or the Standardized MeasurelUnder the Standardized Measure, future
cash flows for the years ended December 31, 20113 and 2011 are estimated by applying the simgeage spot prices for the trailing
twelve month period using the first day of each thdseginning on January 1 and ending on Decembéeach respective year, adjusted for
fixed and determinable escalations, to the estidhuteire production of year-end proved reservetuteucash inflows are reduced by estimate
future production and development costs based nagsend and future plugging and abandonment dosietermine pre-tax cash inflows.
Future income taxes are computed by applying tietstry tax rate to the excess of pre-tax casbwdlover our tax basis in the associated
properties. Future net cash inflows after incomxesaare discounted using a 10% annual discountoaeive at the Standardized Measure.

Tcf. One trillion cubic feet of natural gas.

Undeveloped acreagel.icense or lease acreage on which wells have rent Halled or completed to a point that would periine
production of commercial quantities of oil and matgas regardless of whether such acreage comieonsd reserves.

\
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Wellhead production. The volume of oil or natural gas produced afterudtidg royalties and working interests owned bydigarties
prior to any oil and natural gas lost or used fiwallhead to market.

Working interest. The operating interest that gives the owner thietitig drill, produce and conduct activities on greperty and a share
of production.

vi



Table of Contents

PART |

Item 1. Bu siness

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, referencesuwe,” “us,” “our,” or the “Company” refer to Transkntic Petroleum Ltd. and its
subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. Unless staledwise, all sums of money stated in this AnRigbort on Form 10-K are expressed in
U.S. Dollars.

Our Business

We are an international oil and natural gas commangaged in acquisition, exploration, developmeut groduction. We have focused
our operations in countries that have establishetyunderexplored, petroleum systems, are net itapoof petroleum, have an existing
petroleum transportation infrastructure and prova®rable commodity pricing, royalty rates and tates to exploration and production
companies. As of December 31, 2013, we held interesapproximately 1.9 million net acres of deywald and undeveloped oil and natural ga
properties in Turkey and Bulgaria. As of March @12, approximately 40% of our outstanding commaareh were beneficially owned by N.
Malone Mitchell 3rd, the chairman of our board o&dtors and our chief executive officer.

Based on the reserves report prepared by DeGatgeMacNaughton, independent petroleum engineerssiimated proved reserves at
December 31, 2013 were approximately 12,221 net dmbf which 79.5% was oil. Of these estimated pdoreserves, 54.1% were proved
developed reserves. As of December 31, 2013, th&@Pahd Standardized Measure of our proved resevees $592.5 million and $495.8
million, respectively. See “Item 2. Properties—\Malf Proved Reserves” for a reconciliation of PVtd@he Standardized Measure.

Recent Developments

Relinquishment of Sud Craiova Exploration License2012, the Romanian government temporarily sndpd unconventional
exploration of hydrocarbons, including fractureratlation, pending a government review of unconwarai drilling and completion techniqut
As aresult, in May 2013, we notified the Romarganernment that we were relinquishing our Sud Gaiexploration license, covering
approximately 500,000 net onshore acres in Romania.

Acquisition of Additional Exploration Acreage inuBleeastern TurkeyOn May 20, 2013, we completed the acquisitiothcée
exploration licenses from ARAR Petrol ve Gaz Aradratim Pazarlama A.S (“ARAR”). The exploration litees, which cover an aggregate of
150,000 acres, are located adjacent to our Moltdoeation licenses in southeastern Turkey. We laeel00% owner and operator of the
licenses. In December 2013, we applied to relinguoise of these exploration licenses.

TBNG Credit Facility. In June 2013, our wholly owned subsidiary, ThrBesin Natural Gas (Turkiye) Corporation (“TBNG&ntered
into a 78.8 million New Turkish Lira (approximatehg6.9 million at December 31, 2013) unsecureddineredit with a Turkish bank, of
which 60 million New Turkish Lira is available imsh for TBNG and 18.8 million New Turkish Lira igaglable in the form of non-cash bank
guarantees and letters of credit for TBNG and sdwaher of our wholly owned subsidiaries operaimgurkey. We have made two
borrowings under this credit facility, each of wiigas a one-year term at a fixed interest rate@8f%4er annum. At maturity, we expect to
renew the borrowings for one additional year ahtb@rrent market interest rates. As of Decembef813, we had borrowed $20.0 million
under this credit facility.

Amendment of Purchase AgreemelmtJuly 2013, our wholly owned subsidiary, TratisAtic Worldwide, Ltd. (“TransAtlantic
Worldwide”) entered into a second amendment (thméAdment”) to our purchase agreement (the “Purchgssement”) with Direct
Petroleum Exploration, LLC (formerly Direct Petrote Exploration, Inc.) (“Direct”). Pursuant to then&ndment, we issued 351,074 common
shares to Direct as partial
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payment of certain liquidated damages due undePtinehase Agreement. The parties also agreed tredts not eligible for any liquidated
damages relating to the coring of the Etropoleesf@imation, which resulted in the 2013 reversa 86.0 million contingent liability recorded
in 2011. The Amendment sets forth a new obligatiodrill and test the Deventci-R2 well by May 1,120 We achieved target depth on the
Deventci-R2 well in January 2014, and the wellugrently awaiting completion. The Amendment progideat we will issue $7.5 million of
common shares to Direct if the Deventci-R2 wel isommercial success (as defined in the PurchasseAtgnt) on or prior to May 1, 2016.

Additionally, the Amendment provides that if thel@arian government issues a production concessienaur Stefenetz concession
area, Direct will be entitled to $10.0 million addrmmon shares, or a pro rata amount if the productmcession is less than 200,000 acres.

Bulgaria Farm-Out In August 2013, TransAtlantic Worldwide enteratbia farm-out agreement with Koynare Developmedt L
(“KDL™), a private oil and natural gas investmemingpany. Pursuant to the agreement, KDL will funéo7& our initial $40 million work
program in Bulgaria, and our wholly owned subsigli@irect Petroleum Bulgaria EOOD (“Direct Bulgdiiawill assign KDL a 50% interest
our Koynare concession area. Direct Bulgaria wdbassign KDL 50% of its interest in our Stefensincession area, subject to LNG Energy
Ltd.’s (“LNG”) farm-out interest, in the event thtite pending concession application is approvethéyBulgarian government.

Idil Farm-Out. In February 2014, our wholly owned subsidiarygigAtlantic Turkey, Ltd. (“TransAtlantic Turkey'and Selsinsan Pet
Maden T.O. San ve Tic. Ltd. Sti. (“Selsinsan”) eatkinto a farm-out agreement with Onshore Petrl@ompany AS (“Onshore”), a private
oil and gas company. Pursuant to the agreemenhdasvill fund 100% of our initial exploration welip to $3.5 million, on the Idil license in
southeastern Turkey. Expenses over $3.5 milliohhveilsplit equally between us and Onshore. In exgbaTransAtlantic Turkey and Selsin:
will assign Onshore a 50% interest in the Idil ise.

Appointment of New DirectorOn February 10, 2014, we appointed Gregory KvRanto our board of directors. Mr. Renwick worked
at Mobil for 25 years and, under his leadershipbNMsuccessfully acquired upstream assets in Katakh Turkmenistan and Azerbaijan. He
served as president and chief executive officdtadt West Petroleum Corp. from 2010 to 2013 arttleadirector of business development for
Dana Gas PJSC in the United Arab Emirates from 20@010.

Reverse Stock Splibn March 4, 2014, the Company’s shareholdersoygpora 1-for-10 reverse stock split, which becaffecgve
March 6, 2014. Pursuant to the reverse stock glishareholders of record received one commoredioa each ten common shares owned
(subject to minor adjustments as a result of foaeti shares). The reverse stock split reducedsthed and outstanding common shares from
374,026,984 to 37,402,698. U.S. GAAP requirestiatreverse stock split be applied retrospectitelgll periods presented. As a result, all
common share transactions described herein haveduiasted to reflect the 1-for-10 reverse stodit.sp

Our Strengths
We believe that the following strengths providenith meaningful competitive advantages:

Significant Exploration Acreage in Known HydrocanbBasinsAs of March 1, 2014, we held approximately 1.9 imillnet acres in
Turkey and Bulgaria. The majority of this acreagiexploratory, but lies within areas of known hyzndon production. We will seek to
actively develop our acreage to monetize productod we will consider joint ventures or farm-ogt@ements where appropriate.

Strong and Experienced Management Te@ur management team, led by our chairman and ekidutive officer, Mr. Mitchell,
includes executives and managers with significadaistry, operational and technical experience.Nichell previously built Riata Energy,
Inc. (re-named SandRidge Energy, Inc.) into
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one of the largest privately-held energy compaimdhe United States before selling his controllitgke in 2006. Upon his departure, Riata
Energy, Inc. had 1 Tcf in proved reserves, 300 srolenatural gagathering pipeline, more than 34,000 horsepoweiatidiral gas compressic
and owned or operated 43 drilling rigs. In 2013,asleed four senior technical employees who havstanbal experience in geology,
horizontal drilling, unconventional reservoirs awmpletions, and secondary recovery. On averagepmrations management team possess
more than 25 years of industry experience. The teamages our operations from our corporate offiges Dallas, Texas.

Growing Production and Cash Flowe increased our proved reserves by 5.4% in 20ithd second half of 2013, based on our 2013
exit rate, we increased our average daily welllgaduction rate by 24%. We expect to continue tmgproduction and cash flow through the
development of our Selmo, Molla, and Thrace Baspiaation licenses and production leases, theldpugent of other exploration properties
in Turkey and Bulgaria, and the reduction of ounaral and administrative expenses and operatioséidiencies.

Operations in Attractive Regiond/e have focused our operations in countries the leatablished, yet underexplored petroleum sys
are net importers of petroleum, have an existirtgppeum transportation infrastructure and proviaediable commodity pricing, royalty rates
and tax rates to exploration and production congmr@®ur production in Turkey is subject to a 12r8¥%@lty rate, and the corporate income
rate is 20%. We sell our oil based on Brent crudigmg, and natural gas prices are generally highdiurkey than in North America. During
2013, we realized average prices of $101.05 pefdldur oil sales volumes and $9.43 per Mcf for natural gas sales volumes in Turkey.
expect that our properties in Bulgaria will alseogte under favorable economic terms. We expetfuahare production in Bulgaria will be
subject to royalty rates ranging from 2.5% to 3@¥td corporate income tax rates of 10% after a @ae-tax holiday.

Our Strategy
The following are key elements of our strategy:

Increase Reserves and ProductioiVe increased our proved reserves by 5.4% in 201tBe second half of 2013, based on our 2013 ex
rate, we increased our average daily wellhead mtomturate by 24%. We plan to continue to increaseoil and natural gas reserves and
production in Turkey through exploration and depef@nt on our Selmo, Molla and Thrace Basin expiondicenses and production leases,
including the application of 3D seismic, horizordailling and fracture stimulation techniques. 012, we plan to drill or participate in the
drilling of between 19 and 27 new gross wells inteeastern Turkey and between 14 and 22 new greks iw northwestern Turkey, and
recomplete between 15 and 25 existing gross welerthwestern Turkey.

Utilize New 3D Seismic Data to Improve Well TanggtiDuring 2013, we spent $12.8 million shooting 3smic over areas of Turkey
where 3D seismic data did not previously exist. &pect this new data will improve our ability tegat well locations, drill wells and
ultimately delineate hydrocarbon reservoirs.

Expand the Use of Horizontal Drillindpuring 2013, we expanded our use of horizontalidg) employing it on 13 of 35 wells drilled,
with successful results in the Selmo, Molla andatlerBasin areas. During 2014, we anticipate extensie of horizontal drilling techniques
our wells in southeastern and northwestern Turkenare effectively extract hydrocarbons and inogeas returns on invested capital.

Further Expand Fracture Stimulation Progranm 2013, we expanded our use of hydraulic fraatutechnology to complete otherwise
low productive formations in Turkey. The evolutiohfracturing fluids and stimulation designs haslgéed positive results in both northwest
and southeastern Turkey. For 2014, we plan to oatoptimizing our hydraulic fracturing techniguesmprove well performance and
economics
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Our Properties and Operations
Summary of Geographic Areas of Operations
The following table shows net reserves informatisrof December 31, 2013:

Total Proved Possible
Proved Develope: Proved Probable Reserve:
Undeveloped Reserves Reserves
Reserves (Mboe) Reserves (Mboe (Mboe) (Mboe) (Mboe)
Turkey 6,617 5,60 12,22 11,95¢ 29,91:

Turkey

As of March 1, 2014, we held interests in 23 onstard offshore exploration licenses and 12 onshi@@uction leases covering a tots
2.1 million gross acres (1.3 million net acresYurkey. As of December 31, 2013, we had total mev@d reserves of 9,714 Mbbl of oil and
15,039 Mmcf of natural gas, net probable reser#@1@0 Mbbl of oil and 23,030 Mmcf of natural gasd net possible reserves of 16,877
Mbbl of oil and 78,205 Mmcf of natural gas in Tuyk®uring 2013, our average wellhead production agsroximately 4,375 net Boepd of
and natural gas in Turkey. The following summariaescore producing properties in Turkey:

Southeastern TurkeySubstantially all of our oil production is contetted in southeastern Turkey, primarily in thenS®l Goksu, Bahar
and Arpatepe oil fields. These properties aredselproximity to the Zagros fold belt, which encasges the oil fields of Iran and Iraq. In
2013, we drilled 10 horizontal wells and five veati wells in southeastern Turkey.

We hold a 100% working interest in the Selmo prdidimclease. The Selmo oil field is the second lar@gd field in Turkey in terms of
historical cumulative production and is responsfblethe largest portion of our current crude ebguction. In 2013, we drilled six horizontal
developmental wells in the field, five of which veezommercially successful. We also remodeled thm&#eld based on 3D seismic and well
control. The static model we developed led us tofa new horizontal drilling plan in the field. F013, our wellhead production of crude oil
from the Selmo field was 670,711 Bbls at an averatge of approximately 1,838 Bbl/d. Turkiye PetallAnonim Ortakligi (“TPAO”), a
Turkish government-owned oil and natural gas compand Tirkiye Petrol Rafinerileri 8. (“TUPRAS"), a privately-owned oil refinery in
Turkey, purchase all of our crude oil productioonfrthe Selmo field, which is transported by truzkheir neighboring facilities. At March 1,
2014, we had 50 producing wells in the Selmo fiated we plan to drill 10 horizontal developmentle/él Selmo during 2014.

We hold a 100% working interest in each of our ¢hvolla exploration licenses, which contain the &oknd Bahar oil fields. In the
Goksu field, we are primarily targeting the Marétinmation, and in the Bahar field, we are primatdygeting the Bedinan and Hazro
formations. In 2013, we completed five horizonta&ll& and began shooting approximately 800 sq. KBDoseismic over the Molla area.
During the first half of 2014, we anticipate dnllj two vertical wells in the Bahar field, includiagvertical sidetrack of the Bahar-2 well, to
better understand the geology in preparation foizbatal drilling in the Molla area.

During 2013, we also drilled the Catak-1 well ie fdolla area, and we plan to complete the wellarlye2014 using hydraulic fracture
stimulation to target the Hazro and Bedinan forovei

We hold a 50% working interest in our Arpatepe picttbn lease and exploration license. For 2013 wmithead production of crude oil
from the Arpatepe field was 56,561 Bbls at an ayenmate of approximately 155 Bbl/d. At March 1, 20Wve had five producing wells on the
Arpatepe production lease, and we plan to drill ontvo development wells on the Arpatepe fiel@@14.

Northwestern TurkeySubstantially all of our natural gas productisicdncentrated in the Thrace Basin, which is orituokey’s most
productive onshore natural gas regions. It is kda@h northwestern Turkey near Istanbul. We haweiaclated significant onshore acreage in
the Thrace Basin.
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Our goal is to monetize proven formations in theatle Basin. For 2013, our wellhead production afirzd gas in the Thrace Basin was
approximately 3,793 Mmcf, or approximately 10.4 Mfdcln 2013, we drilled three horizontal wellssauthern Thrace Basin, six shallow
vertical wells in northern Thrace Basin, and 11wvaional vertical wells in the Thrace Basin aide also completed a 234 sqg. km. 3D
seismic program in the Osmanli area of the soutfirace Basin. As of March 1, 2014, we had 123 pcod) wells on our Thrace Basin
properties, and we plan to drill or participatdahe drilling of between 14 and 22 new gross walld ecomplete between 15 and 25 existing
gross wells in 2014. We plan to target the Mezardétstone and the Teslimkoy formation with honital drilling. We also expect to drill
conventional vertical wells in the area.

Bulgaria

As of March 1, 2014, we held interests in one onstexploration concession and one onshore productincession covering a total of
567,000 acres in Bulgaria. During 2013, our welthpeoduction was approximately 15.8 Mmcf of natwas on a limited test basis in
Bulgaria.

On November 14, 2012, Bulgaria’s Council of Ministawarded our subsidiary, Direct Bulgaria, a 3&rygoduction concession
covering the approximately 163,000 acre Koynarecession area (the “Koynare Concession Area”). Tbgnidre Concession Area contains
the Deventci-R1 well, where we discovered a redeindhe Jurassic-aged Ozirovo formation at a degftapproximately 13,800 feet, which
the Bulgarian government has certified as a geolagd commercial discovery. During 2013, our wedth@roduction was approximately 15.8
Mmcf of natural gas on a limited test basis, whi@s sold to a compressed natural gas facility adjeio the Deventci-R1 well.

In August 2013, we entered into a farm-out agre¢mgth KDL, pursuant to which KDL would fund 75% ofir initial $40 million work
program in Bulgaria in exchange for a 50% intemestur Koynare Concession Area. We will also as#@1. 50% of our interest in our
Stefenetz concession area, subject to LNG’s fartinterest, in the event that the pending concesapiplication is approved by the Bulgarian
government.

In January 2012, the Bulgarian Parliament enaagiglation that banned fracture stimulation infRepublic of Bulgaria. The legislation
had the effect of preventing conventional drillengd completion activities. As a result, we tempityauspended drilling and completion
operations in Bulgaria in January 2012. In June22@ie Bulgarian Parliament amended the legislatariarify that conventional operations
were not intended to be affected by the law. Acitwylgl, our conventional natural gas exploratiornyelepment and production activity in
Bulgaria resumed in 2013. The current legislatigni§icantly constrains our unconventional natugas exploration, development and
production activities in Bulgaria.

During the second half of 2013, we resumed driltijgy Deventci-R2 directional well on our Koynaren€ession Area. In January 2014,
we reached target depth of 14,100 feet, and theisvelirrently awaiting completion.

In November 2011, we initiated the application gsscfor a production concession covering approXdn&®95,000 acres over the
southern portion of our former A-Lovech exploratigermit (the “Stefenetz Concession Area”). The &tefz Concession Area is estimated to
contain over 300,000 prospective acres of Etropbéde at a depth of approximately 12,500 feet, whie Bulgarian government has certified
as a geologic discovery. During 2012, we initiad@denvironmental impact assessment which the Balygovernment must approve prior to
granting the production concession. Pursuant tagteement with LNG, if we obtain a production cesgion over the Stefenetz Concession
Area, LNG would fund an additional $12.5 millionéxchange for a 50% working interest in the proidmctoncession. The remaining 50%
working interest in the production concession wdwdsplit equally between us and KDL.
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Current Operations

As of March 1, 2014, our wellhead production wasggregate of approximately 2,800 Bbl/d, primafitym the Selmo production lease,
Arpatepe production lease and Molla exploratioarges, and approximately 11.1 Mmcf/d of natura) gemarily from our various Thrace
Basin production leases and exploration licensesfMMarch 1, 2014, we were engaged in the follgwdnilling and exploration activities:

Turkey. During the first quarter of 2014, we were driffithe Selmo-92H well, our fifth Selmo MSD horizdntell, and completing the
Selmo-86H well, and we initiated our first watedtbpilot test in the Selmo field to assess thelfepotential for secondary recovery. We also
completed the final four stages of the Selmo-36H1l im the Selmo field and completed the AmbaraZikell in the Arpatepe field. We
continue to interpret data from our 800 sqg. km.s@éBmic program over the Molla exploration licend®se to weather conditions, we believe
the remaining 3D seismic to be shot over the Gdiedd will resume in late April 2014.

Bulgaria. We reached target depth of 14,100 feet on the DewB2 well on the Koynare Concession Area in ing fjuarter of 2014,
and the well is currently awaiting completion.

Planned Operations

We continue to actively explore and develop oustixg oil and natural gas properties in Turkey analuate opportunities for further
activity in Bulgaria. Our success will depend intgan discovering additional hydrocarbons in contr@mruantities and then bringing those
discoveries to production.

We expect our net field capital expenditures fot£0vhich includes seismic, to range between $@Bd$100.0 million. We expect net
field capital expenditures during 2014 to consfamproximately $76.0 million of drilling and congtion expense for between 33 and 49 gros
wells, $4.0 million of seismic expense and $8.Hionilof infrastructure improvements and other cagitvestments. Of these expenditures, we
expect to spend approximately 15% in northwestemkdy, devoted to developing conventional and umeational natural gas production and
building infrastructure. Most of the remaining 85#these anticipated expenditures is expected foMssted in southeastern Turkey, devoted
to drilling developmental and exploratory oil wedlsSelmo, Arpatepe and Molla and acquiring seishate. We expect cash on hand,
borrowings from our credit facilities, including oplanned debt refinancing, and cash flow from afiens will be sufficient to fund our 2014
net field capital expenditures. If not, we willlest curtail our discretionary capital expendituveseek other funding sources. Our projected
2014 capital expenditure budget is subject to chang

Exploration, Development and Productiie currently plan to execute the following drilliagd exploration activities during 2014:

Turkey.We plan to drill between 33 and 49 gross wellsybich 26 are expected to be drilled horizontallg approximately 60% of
which will be fracture stimulated. We also plaret@cute at least four waterflood pilot tests anustict the infrastructure necessary to
produce and sell oil and natural gas from the pctide wells we drill.

Bulgaria. We spud the Deventci-R2 well on our Koynare Cesimn Area in October 2013 and reached target de@thnuary 2014. We
may drill an additional well in Bulgaria, dependiag the results of the Deventci-R2 well.

Principal Markets

In accordance with the Financial Accounting Stadd@oard (“FASB”) Accounting Standards CodificatiASC”) 280, Segment
Reporting(*ASC 280"), we currently have two reportable gesqgic segments: Bulgaria and Turkey. For finanaifairmation about our
operating segments and geographic areas, reféde“12—Segment information” to our consolidateficial statements.

6



Table of Contents

Customers

Oil . During 2013, 71.3% of our oil production was cemitated in the Selmo field in Turkey. TUPRAS pasés the majority of our oil
production from the Selmo field. During 2013, wéds$87.2 million of oil to TUPRAS, representing appimately 66.7% of our total
revenues. We sell our oil to TUPRAS pursuant tomeistic crude oil purchase and sale agreement.ridinel@urchase and sale agreement,
TUPRAS purchases oil produced by us and deliverexdit Boru Hatlari ile Petrol Tasima A.S. (“BOBA Batman tanks and to the BOBA
Dértyol plant. The price of the oil delivered puasii to the purchase and sale agreement is detetmirder the Petroleum Market Law
No. 5015 under the laws of the Republic of TurkElye purchase and sale agreement automatically sefugvguccessive o-year terms unless
earlier terminated in writing by either party. Nihver purchasers of our oil accounted for more ttz# of our total revenues.

Natural Gas. During 2013, no purchasers of our natural gasw@aded for 10% or more of our total revenues.

Competition

We operate in the highly competitive areas of od aatural gas exploration, development, produdiod acquisition with a substantial
number of other companies, including U.S.-basedimtednational companies doing business in eacheotountries in which we operate. We
face intense competition from independent, techmeliriven companies as well as from both major ather independent oil and natural gas
companies in each of the following areas:

» seeking oil and natural gas exploration licensesmoduction licenses and leas

e acquiring desirable producing properties or newdsdor future exploratiol

» marketing oil and natural gas producti

e integrating new technologies; a

« contracting for drilling services and equipment aeduring the expertise necessary to develop aactappropertie:

Many of our competitors have substantially grefiteancial, managerial, technological and other veses than we do. To the extent
competitors are able to pay more for propertien tha are paying, we will be at a competitive disattage. Further, many of our competitors
enjoy technological advantages over us and maypleeta implement new technologies more rapidly thancan. Our ability to explore for and
produce oil and natural gas prospects and to azauiditional properties in the future will depenmbn our ability to successfully conduct
operations, implement advanced technologies, etaharad select suitable properties and consummaisactions in this highly competitive
environment.

Fracture Stimulation Program

Oil and natural gas may be recovered from our ptgsethrough the use of fracture stimulation camebli with modern drilling and
completion techniques. Fracture stimulation inveltlee injection of water, sand and chemicals updessure into formations to fracture the
surrounding rock and stimulate production. We hewecessfully utilized fracture stimulation in ourr@ice Basin, Molla and Selmo licenses
and production leases.

For unconventional reservoirs, including the Meeaedormation in the Thrace Basin, a typical fraetstimulation consists of injecting
between 20,000 and 100,000 gallons of fluid thata@io between 10,000 and 150,000 pounds of sanaidvary depending on formation and
treatment objective but, in general, are eithekslater (fresh water with salt and friction redjaara gelled fluid containing organic polymers
with a 4% potassium chloride solution and requiveshkers. Fracture stimulations in Selmo and Mad&conducted in a low permeability
carbonate reservoir. These stimulations generalhgist of injecting between 20,000 and
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100,000 gallons of fluid that contain between 10,88d 100,000 pounds of sand. Fluids are geneaxatijxture of slickwater and 15%
hydrochloric acid, which is typical in carbonateratlation. The size of fracture stimulation treatrtseis dependent on net pay thickness an
proximity of the hydrocarbon zones of interest tmev bearing zones.

Although the cost of each well will vary, on avesagpproximately 30% of the total cost of drillingdacompleting a well in the
unconventional Mezardere formation in the ThracsiBand approximately 15% of the total cost of néeeing and completing a well at Selmo
is associated with fracture stimulation activitiége account for these costs as typical drilling eochpletion costs and include them in our
capital expenditure budget.

We believe that the stacked nature of the sandstb@erals within the Mezardere unconventional fation, which is up to approximate
5,300 feet thick, and the limited number of deepgbetions to date on these structures providesfigignt opportunities for additional drilling
and multi-stage fracs as the program matures.

We diligently review best practices and industgnstards in connection with fracture stimulation\aii¢s and strive to comply with all
regulatory requirements in the protection of patabbter sources. Protective practices includeakmihot limited to, setting multiple strings of
protection pipe across potable water sources, ctmgesurface casing from setting depth to surfawdsecond string from setting depth up intc
the surface casing and, in some cases, to sudas#nuously monitoring the fracture stimulatiompess in real time and disposing of all non-
commercially produced fluids in certified disposalls at depths below the potable water sources arcertified water treatment plant. There
have not been any incidents, citations or suitsliiag environmental concerns related to our frex&timulation operations on our properties.

In the Thrace Basin, Selmo and Molla, we have actewater resources which we believe will be adégto execute our fracture
stimulation program in 2014. We also employ proceddor environmentally friendly disposal of fluidscovered from fracture stimulation,
including recycling approximately 50% of these dlsti

For more information on the risks of fracture stiation, please read “Item 1A. Risk Factors—Risk$aRal to the Oil and Natural Gas
Industry—Our oil and natural gas operations argesuiho extensive and complex laws and governmegnilation in the jurisdictions in which
we operate and compliance with existing and fulames may increase our costs or impair our operatiand “ltem 1A. Risk Factors—Risks
Related to the Oil and Natural Gas Industry—Legjiigbaand regulatory initiatives and increased pubtirutiny relating to fracture stimulation
activities could result in increased costs andtamuhl operating restrictions or delays.”

Governmental Regulations

Government RegulationOur current or future operations, including exatmn and development activities on our propertieguire
permits from various governmental authorities, anch operations are and will be governed by lawisragulations concerning exploration,
development, production, exports, taxes, labor lamdé standards, occupational health, waste disposét substances, land use, environme
protection and other matters. Compliance with thegeirements may prove to be difficult and expezisDue to our international operations,
we are subject to the following issues and unaatits that can affect our operations adversely:

» the risk of expropriation, nationalization, waryotution, political instability, border disputegnegotiation or modification of
existing contracts, and import, export and trantggimn regulations and tariff

» laws of foreign governments affecting our abilityftacture stimulate oil or natural gas wells, sastthe legislation enacted in
Bulgaria in January 2012 and the temporary susparediunconventional exploration and drilling aétas imposed in Romania in
2012;
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» the risk of not being able to procure residencyandk permits for our expatriate personr
* taxation policies, including royalty and tax incsea and retroactive tax clain

» exchange controls, currency fluctuations and otimeertainties arising out of foreign governmenteseignty over international
operations

» laws and policies of the United States affectingifgn trade, taxation and investment, including-bribery and anti-corruption
laws;

» the possibility of being subjected to the exclugiwésdiction of foreign courts in connection wittgal disputes and the possible
inability to subject foreign persons to the jurtdin of courts in the United States; ¢

» the possibility of restrictions on repatriationezrnings or capital from foreign countri

Permits and Licensedn order to carry out exploration and developnutiil and natural gas interests or to place tlegecommercial
production, we may require certain licenses andhfisrfrom various governmental authorities. Theae be no guarantee that we will be ab
obtain all necessary licenses and permits thatlmeagquired. In addition, such licenses and perangssubject to change and there can be no
assurances that any application to renew any egifitenses or permits will be approved.

Repatriation of EarningsCurrently, there are no restrictions on the négiédn of earnings or capital to foreign entitfesm Turkey or
Bulgaria. However, there can be no assurance tiyasiach restrictions on repatriation of earningsapital from the aforementioned countries
or any other country where we may invest will netimposed in the future. We may be liable for thgrpent of taxes upon repatriation of
certain earnings from the aforementioned countries.

Environmental The oil and natural gas industry is subject tteesive and varying environmental regulations icheaf the jurisdictions
in which we operate. Environmental regulationstdih standards respecting health, safety and @mviental matters and place restrictions
and prohibitions on emissions of various substapceduced concurrently with oil and natural gasniost instances, the regulatory
requirements relate to the handling and disposdtithing and production waste products and wastaied by water and air pollution control
procedures. These regulations can have an impabeoselection of drilling locations and facilitiesd potentially result in increased capital
expenditures. In addition, environmental legislatoay require those wells and production facilite®e abandoned and sites reclaimed to th
satisfaction of local authorities. Such regulati@s increased the cost of planning, designindirdyiloperating and, in some instances,
abandoning wells. We are committed to complyindweitvironmental and operational legislation whereve operate.

There has been a recent surge in interest amonget&, government regulators and private citizemeerning the possible negative
environmental and geological effects of fracturmstation. Some have alleged that fracture stimofatesults in the contamination of aquifers
and may even contribute to seismic activity. Inudag 2012, the government of Bulgaria enacted latiim that banned the fracture stimulal
of oil and natural gas wells in the Republic of garia and imposed large monetary penalties on corpshat violate that ban. In 2012, the
Romanian government temporarily suspended uncoiorattdrilling and exploration of hydrocarbons, liing fracture stimulation, pending
government review of unconventional drilling anangietion techniques. As a result of the suspensienelinquished our Sud Craiova lice
in Romania. There is a risk that Turkey could ahegoint impose similar legislation or regulatioBsich legislation or regulations could
severely impact our ability to drill and completelis, and could increase the cost of planning,giéisg, drilling, completing and operating
wells. We are committed to complying with legistetiand regulations involving fracture stimulatiohexever we operate.

Such laws and regulations not only expose us bdliiafor our own negligence, but may also expasdo liability for the conduct of
others or for our actions that were in compliandth all applicable laws at the time
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those actions were taken. We may incur significasts as a result of environmental accidents, agddil spills, natural gas leaks, ruptures, or
discharges of hazardous materials into the enviesripincluding clean-up costs and fines or peral#elditionally, we may incur significant
costs in order to comply with environmental laws aegulations and may be forced to pay fines oafties if we do not comply.

Insurance

We currently carry general liability insurance anaess liability insurance with a combined annimaitlof $21.0 million per occurrence
and $32.0 million in the aggregate. These insurgotieies contain maximum policy limits and are jgabto customary exclusions and
limitations. Our pollution insurance, which is paftour general liability policy, has a per occunze limit of $1.0 million and aggregate annual
limit of $2.0 million. Our general liability insuree covers us and our subsidiaries for third-peleiyns and liabilities arising out of lease
operations and related activities. The excesdlifiglmsurance is in addition to, and is triggeiigdhe general liability insurance per occurrence
limit is reached.

We also maintain control of well insurance. Ourteohof well insurance has a per occurrence anduioed single limit of $15.0 million
and is subject to deductibles ranging from $150008600,000 per occurrence.

We require our thirgsarty service providers to sign master serviceegents with us pursuant to which they agree tormdfy us for the
personal injury and death of the service providerployees as well as subcontractors that are hiéde service provider. Similarly, we
generally agree to indemnify our third-party seevroviders against similar claims regarding oupleyees and our other contractors.

We also require our third-party service providéat perform fracture stimulation operations fotaisign master service agreements
containing the indemnification provisions notedaad/Ne do not currently have any insurance poliriesffect that are intended to provide
coverage for losses solely related to fracturedtition operations. We believe that our generdilitg, excess liability and pollution insurance
policies would cover third-party claims relatedtacture stimulation operations and associated kex@enses, in accordance with, and subject
to, the terms of such policies. However, thesecpgdimay not cover fines, penalties or costs apemrses related to government-mandated
environmental clean-up responsibilities.

Bermuda Tax Exemption

As a Bermuda exempted company and under curremiBkx law, we are not subject to tax on profitspine or dividends, nor is there
any capital gains tax applicable to us in Bermutafits can be accumulated, and it is not obligafor us to pay dividends.

Furthermore, we have received an assurance fromfithister of Finance of Bermuda under the Exempiedertakings Tax Protection
Act 1966, as amended, that in the event that Beanemdcts any legislation imposing tax computedrofitp, income, any capital asset, gain ol
appreciation, we and any of our operations or bares, debentures or other obligations shall bmpk&om the imposition of such tax until
March 31, 2035, provided that such exemption siatlprevent the application of any tax payabledooadance with the provisions of the Le
Tax Act, 1967 or otherwise payable in relationand in Bermuda leased to us.

We are required to pay an annual government fee"&BF"), which is determined on a sliding scalerbjerence to our authorized share
capital and share premium account, with a minimeendf $1,995 Bermuda Dollars and a maximum fee8&fH#20 Bermuda Dollars. The
Bermuda Dollar is treated at par with the U.S. BiolThe AGF is payable each year on or before tildeoé January and is based on the
authorized share capital and share premium acayuAugust 31 of the preceding year.

In Bermuda, stamp duty is not chargeable in respiettte incorporation, registration, licensing of@xempted company or, subject to
certain minor exceptions, on their transactions.
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Employees

As of March 1, 2014, we employed 287 people. Appnaely 41 of our employees at one of our subsiel§apperating in Turkey were
represented by collective bargaining agreements tié Petroleum, Chemical and Rubber Workers Uafofurkey (“PETROL-IS”). We are
currently negotiating a collective bargaining agneat with PETROL-IS covering approximately 36 enyeles at another of our subsidiaries
operating in Turkey. We consider our employee i@fatto be satisfactory.

Formation

We were incorporated under the laws of British @atia, Canada on October 1, 1985 under the named’Résources Ltd. and
continued to the jurisdiction of Alberta, CanadaentheBusiness Corporations A¢Alberta) on June 10, 1997. Effective Decembera®81
we changed our name to TransAtlantic Petroleum (gifpctive October 1, 2009, we continued to thiésfliction of Bermuda under the
BermudaCompanies Act 198dnder the name TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd.

Available Information

Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reportd=orm 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and ainments to those reports filed or
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of3keurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended @xetfange Act”), are made available free
of charge on our website at www.transatlanticpetrol.com as soon as reasonably practicable aftee tleports and other information are
electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC.

Executive Officers of the Registrant
The following table and text sets forth certairoimmfiation with respect to the Company’s executiieefs as of March 1, 2014

Name Age Positions
N. Malone Mitchell Zrd 52  Chairman and Chief Executive Offic

lan J. Delahunt 34  Presiden

Wil F. Saquetor 44  Vice President and Chief Financial Offic
Jeffrey S. Mecon 48  Vice President, Legal and Corporate Secre

N. Malone Mitchell 3rchas served as our chief executive officer since RIalyl, as a director since April 2008 and as oairolan since
May 2008. Since 2005, Mr. Mitchell has served asgtesident of Riata Corporate Group, LLC, a Ddtlased private oil and natural gas
exploration and production company. From June toeD®er 2006, Mr. Mitchell served as president dndf @perating officer of SandRidge
Energy, Inc. (formerly Riata Energy, Inc.), an ipdadent oil and natural gas company concentratimxploration, development and
production activities. Until he sold his controliinterest in Riata Energy, Inc. in June 2006, Mitchell also served as president, chief
executive officer and chairman of Riata Energy, latich Mr. Mitchell founded in 1985 and built inbne of the largest privately held energy
companies in the United States.

lan J. Delahuntyhas served as our president since January 201D &lhunty served as our vice president, businegsldpment from
February 2012 until his promotion to president.jbleed us in October 2008 and has worked with qarations in Turkey, Romania and
Morocco, serving as our vice president, engineesiveyseeing completions and workovers from Nover20€0 to January 2012. Prior to
joining us, he worked as a senior engineer withi@oherger N.V. in Vietnam and the United States anid completions engineer w
Occidental Petroleum Corp. in the United States.
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Wil F. Saquetoinas served as the Compasyice president and chief financial officer siaggust 2011. Mr. Saqueton previously ser
as the Company’s corporate controller from May 20ail August 2011 and as a consultant to the Comi@m February 2011 until May
2011. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Saquetorvae as the vice president and chief financialceffiof BCSW, LLC, the owner of Just
Brakes in Dallas, Texas, from July 2006 to Decen@®d:0. From July 1995 until July 2006, he held aetg of positions at Intel Corporation,
including strategic controller at the Chipset Grooperations controller at the Americas Sales aadkiting Organization Division, finance
manager at the Intel Online Services, Inc. Divisamid senior financial analyst at the Chipset Gr&ujor to 1995, Mr. Saqueton was a senior
associate at Price Waterhouse, LP.

Jeffrey S. Mecorhas served as the Company’s corporate secretary Mlay 2006 and as a vice president since May 2Béfore joining
the Company in April 2006, Mr. Mecom was an attgrireprivate practice in Dallas. Mr. Mecom servedvice president, legal and corporate
secretary with Aleris International, Inc., a fornY SE-listed international metals recycling andgassing company, from 1995 until April
2005.

Item 1A. Risk Factors
Risks Related to Our Business
We have a history of losses and may not achievesiiant profitability in the future.

We have incurred substantial losses in prior ydansing 2013, we generated a net loss from contimaiperations of $13.3 million. We
will need to generate and sustain increased reviemess in future periods in order to become cdesidy profitable, and even if we do, we n
not be able to maintain or increase our level ofiability. We may incur losses in the future Bonumber of reasons, including risks describe
herein, unforeseen expenses, difficulties, compitina and delays, and other unknown risks.

Our exploration, development and production actiei may not be profitable or achieve our expecteturns.

The future performance of our business will depgpan our ability to identify, acquire and develajgional oil and natural gas reser
that are economically recoverable. Success wileddpipon our ability to acquire working and revemierests in properties upon which oil
and natural gas reserves are ultimately discovieredmmercial quantities, and the ability to depepwospects that contain additional proven
oil and natural gas reserves to the point of prodacWithout successful acquisition and explonatéctivities, we will not be able to develop
additional oil and natural gas reserves or genewdiional revenues. There are no assuranceaddétonal oil and natural gas reserves wil
identified or acquired on acceptable terms, or ¢lieind natural gas reserves will be discovereslifficient quantities to enable us to recover
our exploration and development costs or sustairbosiness.

The successful acquisition and development ofradl @atural gas properties requires an assessmestaferable reserves, future oil and
natural gas prices and operating costs, potentidtenmental and other liabilities, and other fast&Such assessments are inherently uncertai
In addition, no assurance can be given that ouloexfion and development activities will resulttie discovery of additional reserves.
Operations may be curtailed, delayed or canceledrasult of lack of adequate capital and otheiofa¢c such as lack of availability of rigs and
other equipment, title problems, weather, compkawith governmental regulations or price controlechanical difficulties, or unusual or
unexpected formations, pressures and/or work impgions. In addition, the costs of exploration aegelopment may materially exceed our
internal estimates.

Drilling for and producing oil and natural gas ardaigh-risk activities with many uncertainties that coulaldversely affect our business,
financial condition or results of operations

Our future success depends on the success of plaration, development and production activitieg@th of our prospects. These
activities are subject to numerous risks beyondcoutrol, including the risk that we will be unaliéeeconomically produce our reserves or be
able to find commercially productive oil or natugals
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reservoirs. Our decisions to purchase, exploregldpvor otherwise exploit prospects or propertidsdepend in part on the evaluation of data
obtained through geophysical and geological analys®duction data and engineering studies, thdtsesf which are often inconclusive or
subject to varying interpretations. The cost ollidg, completing and operating wells is often uriain before drilling commences. Overruns in
budgeted expenditures are common risks that came mglarticular project unprofitable. Further, méagtors may curtail, delay or prevent
drilling operations, including:

e unexpected drilling condition:
e pressure or irregularities in geological formatic
* equipment failures or acciden
» pipeline and processing interruptions or unavalitgbi
» title problems
» adverse weather conditior
» lack of market demand for oil and natural ¢
« delays imposed by, or resulting from, compliancthweinvironmental laws and other regulatory requésts;
» declines in oil and natural gas prices;
» shortages or delays in the availability of drillings, equipment and qualified persont
Our future drilling activities might not be succgsand drilling success rates overall or withipaaticular area could decline. We could

incur losses by drilling unproductive wells. Shatwells, curtailed production and other produciiaierruptions may materially adversely
affect our business, financial condition and ressaftoperations.

Shortages of drilling rigs, equipment, oilfield seices and qualified personnel could delay our extion and development activities ar
increase the prices we pay to obtain such drilliigs, equipment, oilfield services and personnel.

Our industry is cyclical and, from time to timeeth may be a shortage of drilling rigs, equipmeiffield services and qualified person
in the countries in which we operate. Shortagedriiing and workover rigs, pipe and other equipmeray occur as demand for drilling rigs
and equipment increases, along with increasesintimber of wells being drilled. These factors akso cause significant increases in cost:
equipment, oilfield services and qualified persdnHégher oil and natural gas prices generally state demand and result in increased prices
for drilling and workover rigs, crews and assodlagepplies, equipment and services. It is beyomctontrol and ability to predict whether
these conditions will exist in the future and,af svhat their timing and duration will be. Thespédyg of shortages or price increases could
significantly increase our net loss, decrease ash provided by operating activities, or restrigt ability to conduct the exploration and
development activities we currently have plannedi laudgeted or which we may plan in the future.ddition, the availability of drilling rigs
can vary significantly from region to region at gmsrticular time. An undersupply of rigs in anytbé regions where we operate may result in
drilling delays and higher drilling costs for thigs that are available in that region.

We depend on the services of our chairman and clarécutive officer.

We depend on the performance of Mr. Mitchell, dusicman and chief executive officer. The loss of Mitchell could negatively
impact our ability to execute our strategy. We dbmaintain a key person life insurance policy on Mitchell.
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We have concentrated current production of oil ing Selmo oil field, the majority of which is sold bne customer.

During 2013, we derived 71.3% of our oil productfoom the Selmo oil field in southeastern Turkeg. dresult of this concentration, we
may be disproportionately exposed to the impacegional supply and demand factors, delays orrmpdions of production from wells in this
area caused by governmental regulation, processitrgnsportation capacity constraints, markettatons, water shortages, litigation or
interruption of the processing or transportatiomibfnatural gas or natural gas liquids. In additiwe are currently in litigation with a group of
villagers who live around the Selmo oil field anbawclaim ownership of a portion of the surface gt Selmo.

In addition, TPAO, the national oil company of Teykand TUPRAS, a privately owned oil refinery iarRey, purchase all of our oil
production from the Selmo field. TUPRAS purchasesrhajority of our oil production from Selmo, repeating 66.7% of our total revenues in
2013. If either of these companies fails to pureh@s oil production, our results of operationslddae materially and adversely affected.

We could lose permits or licenses on certain of quoperties unless the permits or licenses are egtd or we commence production and
convert the permits or licenses to production leagg concessions.

At December 31, 2013, of our total net undevelope@age, 22% and 26% will expire during 2014 aritb2@espectively, unless we are
able to extend the permits or licenses coveringdbreage or commence production on this acreatjeaavert the permits or licenses into
production leases or concessions. If our permitenses expire, we will lose our right to explared develop the related properties. Our
drilling plans for these areas are subject to chdraged upon various factors, including factorsahabeyond our control. Such factors includ
drilling results, oil and natural gas prices, thaikbility and cost of capital, drilling and proction costs, availability of drilling services and
equipment, gathering system and pipeline transpomntaonstraints, and regulatory approvals.

Virtually all of our operations are conducted in Tiey and Bulgaria, and we are subject to politicaeigonomic and other risks and
uncertainties in these countries.

Virtually all of our international operations arerformed in the emerging markets of Turkey and Brilg which may expose us to gre
risks than those associated with more develope#atarDue to our foreign operations, we are sultetie following issues and uncertainties
that can adversely affect our operations:

» the risk of, and disruptions due to, expropriatioationalization, war, revolution, election outc@neconomic instability, political
instability, or border dispute

» the uncertainty of local contractual terms, renigiain or modification of existing contracts andaweement of contractual terms in
disputes before local cour

» the risk of import, export and transportation regioins and tariffs, including boycotts and embasgg
» the risk of not being able to procure residencyandk permits for our expatriate personr

» the requirements or regulations imposed by locaeguments upon local suppliers or subcontracterbemng imposed in an
unexpected and rapid mann

« taxation and revenue policies, including royalty &ax increases, retroactive tax claims and theositipn of unexpected taxes or
other payments on revenu:

e exchange controls, currency fluctuations and atimeertainties arising out of foreign governmenteseignty over foreign
operations

» laws and policies of the United States and of themcountries in which we operate affecting fonetigade, taxation and investme
including ant-bribery and an-corruption laws
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» the possibility of being subjected to the exclugiwésdiction of foreign courts in connection wittgal disputes and the possible
inability to subject foreign persons to the jurtdin of courts in the United States; ¢

» the possibility of restrictions on repatriationezrnings or capital from foreign countri
To manage these risks, we sometimes form jointurestand/or strategic partnerships with local pe\and/or governmental entities.

Local partners provide us with local market knowjedHowever, there can be no assurance that chamgesditions or regulations in the
future will not affect our profitability or abilityo operate in such markets.

Acts of violence, terrorist attacks or civil unrest southeastern Turkey and nearby countries coadversely affect our busines

During 2013, we derived 71.3% of our oil productfoom the Selmo oil field in southeastern Turkeysthrically, the southeastern arei
Turkey and nearby countries such as Iran, IragSymi have experienced political, social or ecormopnoblems, terrorist attacks, insurgencies
or civil unrest. If any of these events, conditiemsonflicts occurs, we may be unable to accessatations where we conduct operations. In
those locations where we have employees or opagtwee may incur substantial costs to maintairsttfety of our personnel and our
operations. Despite these precautions, the safayrqersonnel and operations in these locatiomg continue to be at risk, and we may in the
future suffer the loss of employees and contraatomur operations could be disrupted, any of witichld have a material adverse effect or
business and results of operations.

Our amended and restated credit facility contairsrdus covenants that limit our management’s distiom in the operation of our business
and can lead to an event of default that may adwedysaffect our business, financial condition andselts of operations.

The operating and financial restrictions and coménan our amended and restated credit facilitg (t'mended and Restated Credit
Facility”) with BNP Paribas (Suisse) SA (“BNP Pa#tj) and Standard Bank Plc (“Standard Bank”) maxeeskly affect our ability to finance
future operations or capital needs or to engagehar business activities. Our Amended and Resfatedit Facility contains various covena
that restrict our ability to, among other things:

* incur additional debi

+ create liens

e enter into any hedge agreement for speculativeqsais

* engage in business other than as an oil and naasatxploration and production compa
» enter into sale and leaseback transacti

* enter into any merger, consolidation or amalgama

» declare or provide for any dividends or other pagta@®r distributions

» redeem or purchase any shares

» guarantee the obligations of any other per

In addition, the Amended and Restated Credit Rgigiiquires us to maintain specified financialoatand tests. Various risks,
uncertainties and events beyond our control coffigtaour ability to comply with the covenants dmthncial tests and ratios required by the
Amended and Restated Credit Facility and couldlr@san event of default under the Amended andded Credit Facility.

15



Table of Contents

An event of default under the Amended and Resi@tedit Facility includes, among other events, f&lto pay principal or interest when
due, breach of certain covenants and obligatiamssadefault to other indebtedness, bankruptcpsmivency, failure to meet the required
financial covenant ratios and the occurrence obhgenal adverse effect. In addition, the occurresfca change of control is an event of default
A change of control is defined as the occurrencangfof the following: (i) our failure to own, oécord and beneficially, all of the equity of
TransAtlantic Exploration Mediterranean InternatibRty Ltd (“TEMI”), Talon Exploration, Ltd. (“Talo Exploration”), TransAtlantic Turkey,
Amity Oil International Pty. Ltd. (“Amity”), Petrogs Petrol Gaz ve Petrokimya Uriinlerjdat Sanayi ve Ticaret &. (“Petrogas”)and DMLP,
Ltd. (“DMLP,” and together with TEMI, Talon Explatian, TransAtlantic Turkey, Amity and Petrogas, tBerrowers”) or either of
TransAtlantic Petroleum (USA) Corp. and TransAtiaiorldwide or to exercise, directly or indirectlyay-to-day management and
operational control of any Borrower or TransAtlarfietroleum (USA) Corp. and TransAtlantic Worldwi@§ the failure by the Borrowers to
own or hold, directly or indirectly, all of the erests granted to Borrowers pursuant to certaindegadbon licenses designated in the Amendec
and Restated Credit Facility; or (i) (a) Mr. Mitell ceases for any reason to be the executivemhaiof our board of directors at any time,
(b) Mr. Mitchell and certain of his affiliates cea® own of record and beneficially at least 35% wf common shares; or (c) any person or
group, excluding Mr. Mitchell and certain of hidikdites, shall become, or obtain rights to becothe,beneficial owner, directly or indirectly,
of more than 35% of our outstanding common shamétezl to vote for members of our board of direston a fully-diluted basis. Provided
that, if Mr. Mitchell ceases to be executive chamof our board of directors by reason of his deattlisability, such event shall not constitute
an event of default unless we have not appointetaessor reasonably acceptable to the lendermithdays of the occurrence of such e\

In the event of a default and acceleration of ineébess under the Amended and Restated Credittfragilr business, financial
condition and results of operations may be matgraald adversely affected.

We have identified material weaknesses in our imtar control over financial reporting. These matetiaveaknesses, if not corrected, could
affect the reliability of our financial statementand have other adverse consequences.

Under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 20@2are required to furnish a report by our mansge on internal control over
financial reporting. This report must contain, amather matters, an assessment of the effectiveriess internal control over financial
reporting, including a statement as to whetheradonr internal control over financial reportingeffective. This assessment must include
disclosure of any material weaknesses in our iatezantrol over financial reporting identified byromanagement. In addition, the report must
contain a statement that our auditors have issnedtastation report on management’s assessmesatbfinternal control over financial
reporting.

We have identified material weaknesses in our iirdlecontrol over financial reporting as of Decem®&r 2013, as disclosed in “Iltem 9A.
Controls and Procedures”. Failure to have effedtiternal controls could lead to a misstatemerdwffinancial statements or prevent us from
filing our financial statements in a timely mannéras a result of deficiencies in our internahtrols, we cannot provide reliable financial
statements, our business decision processes nayvbesely affected, our business and operatindtsesauld be harmed, investors could lose
confidence in our reported financial informatidme tprice of our common shares could decrease anabdlity to obtain additional financing,
additional financing on favorable terms, could deesely affected. In addition, failure to maintafifiective internal control over financial
reporting could result in investigations or sanusidy regulatory authorities.

We intend to take further action to remediate ttaamal weaknesses and improve the effectivenesarahternal control over financial
reporting. However, we can give no assuranceghieatneasures we may take will remediate the mateeaknesses identified or that any
additional material weaknesses will not arise mfiture due to our failure to implement and mamgalequate internal control over financial
reporting. In addition, even if we are succesgiudtrengthening our controls and procedures, thos&ols and procedures may not be adec
to prevent or identify irregularities or ensure fai presentation of our financial statementstideld in our periodic reports filed with the SEC.
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We could experience labor disputes that could ditrour business in the future.

As of March 1, 2014, approximately 41 of our emgley at one of our subsidiaries operating in Tuwkese represented by collective
bargaining agreements with PETROL-IS. We are ctigreregotiating a collective bargaining agreemeithWETROL-IS covering
approximately 36 employees at another of our sidosés operating in Turkey. Potential work disrops from labor disputes with these
employees could disrupt our business and adveadtgt our financial condition and results of opienas.

We could be assessed for Canadian federal tax assalt of our 2009 continuance under the Bermuda @panies Act 1981.

For Canadian tax purposes, we were deemed, imnegdizfore the completion of our 2009 continuanceéear the Bermud@ompanies

Act 1981, to have disposed of each property owned by uprfmzeeds equal to the fair market value of thaperty, and will be subject to tax
on any resulting net income. In addition, we wemguired to pay a special “branch tax” equal to 28%ny excess of the fair market value of
our property over the “paid-up capital”’ (as defirnedhe Income Tax Act (Canada)) of our outstandiognmon shares and our liabilities.
However, management, together with its professiadaisors, has determined that the paid-up capitalr common shares and our liabilities
exceeded the fair market value of our propertylteg) in no “branch tax” being payable. The CanBdavenue Agency (“CRA”) may not
accept our determination of the fair market valtiew property. In the event that CRA’s determioatof fair market value is significantly
higher than our valuation and such determinatidinad, we may be subject to material amounts gfresulting from the deemed disposition.

Risks Related to the Oil and Natural Gas Industry
Reserves estimates depend on many assumptionsrihgtturn out to be inaccurate

Any material inaccuracies in our reserves estimatesderlying assumptions could materially affibet quantities and present values of
our reserves. The process of estimating oil andrabgjas reserves is complex. It requires integpiats of available technical data and various
assumptions, including assumptions relating to egoa factors. Any significant inaccuracies in th@gerpretations or assumptions could
materially affect the estimated quantities and gmésalue of reserves that we may report. In ord@repare these estimates, we must project
production rates and timing of development expemdd. We must also analyze available geologicalplagsical, production and engineering
data, and the extent, quality and reliability déttiata can vary. The process also requires ecanassumptions relating to matters such as oil
and natural gas prices, drilling and operating esps, capital expenditures, taxes and availalufifunds.

Actual future production, oil and natural gas psiceevenues, taxes, development expenditures, toppexpenses and quantities of
recoverable oil and natural gas reserves mostlikél vary from our estimates. Any significant vance could materially affect the estimated
guantities and pre-tax net present value of resahat we may report. In addition, we may adjuitregtes of proved, probable and possible
reserves to reflect production history, resultexjloration and development, prevailing oil ancunaltgas prices and other factors, many of
which are beyond our control. Moreover, there camd assurance that our reserves will ultimatelproeluced or that our proved undevelo|
probable and possible reserves will be develop#dimihe periods anticipated. Any significant vaga in the assumptions could materially
affect the estimated quantity and value of ourmesse

Investors should not assume that the pre-tax msiept value of our proved, probable and possilsierves is the current market value of
our estimated oil and natural gas reserves. Wethaggre-tax net present value of future net clsisffrom our proved, probable and possible
reserves on prices and costs on the date of thmeatst Actual future prices, costs, and the volwhpgroduced reserves may differ materially
from those used in the pre-tax net present valtimate.
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We may not correctly evaluate reserves data oreRploitation potential of properties as we engageour acquisition, development, and
exploitation activities.

Our future success will depend on the successohaguisition, development, and exploitation atigsd. Our decisions to purchase,
develop or otherwise exploit properties or prosp&dtl depend in part on the evaluation of dataaoted from production reports and
engineering studies, geophysical and geologicdiyaes and seismic and other information, the resaflivhich are often inconclusive and
subject to various interpretations. Our estimaggmrding reserves and production resulting fronattiuisitions of TEMI, Talon Exploration,
Amity, Petrogas, Direct Bulgaria and TBNG and oxpleration and development activities may provédancorrect, which could significan
reduce our income and our ability to generate castled to fund our capital program and other wgrkapital requirements in the longer te

We may be unable to acquire or develop additionederves, which would reduce our cash flow and in@m

In general, production from oil and natural gaspemties declines over time as reserves are deplstddthe rate of decline depending on
reservoir characteristics. If we are not successfolur exploration and development activitiesroacquiring properties containing reserves,
reserves will generally decline as reserves arduymed. Our oil and natural gas production is higldpendent upon our ability to economically
find, develop or acquire reserves in commerciahtjtias.

To the extent cash flow from operations is redueditier by a decrease in prevailing prices formail natural gas or an increase in finc
and development costs, and external sources abtéeicome limited or unavailable, our ability take the necessary capital investment to
maintain or expand our asset base of oil and negasareserves would be impaired. Even with sudfitiavailable capital, our future explorat
and development activities may not result in adddi reserves, and we might not be able to drilbipctive wells at acceptable costs.

A substantial or extended decline in oil and natligas prices may adversely affect our ability toeheur capital expenditure obligation
and financial commitments.

Our revenues, operating results and future ratggafth are substantially dependent upon the priegagrices of, and demand for, oil a
natural gas. Lower oil and natural gas prices nisy @educe the amount of oil and natural gas theatan produce economically. Historically,
oil and natural gas prices and markets have bekatilepand they are likely to continue to be vidéain the future.

A decrease in oil or natural gas prices will noyaeduce revenues and profits, but will also redthe quantities of reserves that are
commercially recoverable and may result in chatge=arnings for impairment of the value of thessetss If oil or natural gas prices decline
significantly for extended periods of time in theure, we might not be able to generate sufficdash flow from operations to meet our
obligations and make planned capital expendit@dsand natural gas prices are subject to widet@lations in response to relatively minor
changes in the supply of, and demand for, oil aatdnal gas, market uncertainty and a variety oftadhl factors that are beyond our control.
Among the factors that could cause fluctuations are

* market expectations regarding supply and demandiffand natural gas

» levels of production and other activities of theg@mization of Petroleum Exporting Countries andeothil and natural gas
producing nations

* market expectations about future pric

» the level of global oil and natural gas exploratiproduction activity and inventorie

» political conditions, including embargoes, in ofeating oil and natural gas production activitiaad
» the price and availability of alternative fue
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Lower oil and natural gas prices may not only dasesour revenues on a per unit basis, but alsaredgaye the amount of oil and natural
gas that we can produce economically. A substaotiaktended decline in oil or natural gas pricey tnave a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of openast

If oil and natural gas prices decline, we may begréred to write down the carrying values of our @hd natural gas properties

There is a risk that we could be required to waidevn the carrying value of our oil and natural gesperties, which would reduce our
earnings and shareholders’ equity. We follow thecessful efforts method of accounting for our oidlanatural gas properties. Under this
method, the costs of productive wells, developmatriaholes and productive leases are capitaliZbé. acquisition costs of unproved acreage
are initially capitalized and are carried at cast, of accumulated impairment provisions, untilrsleases are transferred to proved properti
charged to exploration expense as impairments jpfawed properties. Exploration costs, such as eapdoy geological and geophysical costs,
delay rentals and exploration overhead, are chaigegpense as incurred. Exploratory drilling cpstsluding the cost of stratigraphic test
wells, are initially capitalized but charged to Bxation expense if and when the well is determiteelde non-productive. The capitalized costs
of our oil and natural gas properties may not eddbeir estimated fair market value. When evalgptiar proved properties, we are require
test for potential write-downs at the lowest lefaglwhich identifiable cash flows are largely inéewlent of the cash flows of other assets,
which is typically on a field-by-field basis. If paalized costs exceed future cash flows, we wttd@/n the costs of proved properties to our
estimate of fair market value, which is generafifirmated using a discounted cash flow approach.n/¢waluating our unproved properties,
write down the capitalized costs of the unprovegpprties if it is determined that the costs arelikety to be recoverable. Any such charge
not affect our cash flow from operating activitibsit will reduce our earnings and shareholdersitgqu

The development of proved undeveloped reservesdcedain. In addition, there are no assurances thatr probable and possible reserves
will be converted to proved reserves.

At December 31, 2013, approximately 45.9% of otaltestimated net proved reserves were proved whojged reserves. Undeveloped
reserves, by their nature, are significantly les$ain than developed reserves. At December 313,204 also had a significant amount of
unproved reserves, which consist of probable asgipte reserves. There is significant uncertaittgched to unproved reserves estimates.
discovery, determination and exploitation of undeped or unproved reserves requires significanitab@xpenditures and successful drilling
and exploration programs. We may not be able wertie additional capital that we need to devdiegd reserves. There is no certainty the
will be able to convert undeveloped reserves tehbged reserves or unproved reserves into prowssives or that our undeveloped or
unproved reserves will be economically viable ahtecally feasible to produce.

Part of our strategy involves drilling in new or eenging unconventional formations using fracture stiulation and horizontal drilling and
completion techniques. The results of our plannedllthg program in these formations may be subjeitt more uncertainties than
conventional drilling programs in more establishédrmations and may not meet our expectations foseeves or production.

The results of our drilling in new or emerging uneentional formations, such as the Mezardere faomaare generally more uncertain
than drilling results in areas that are develop®ditzave established production. Because new orgéngeformations have limited or no
production history, we are less able to use palindrresults in those areas to help predict autufe drilling results. Further, part of our dril
strategy to maximize recoveries from our propeitieBurkey, particularly in the Thrace Basin anditb@astern Turkey, involves the drilling of
horizontal wells. Our experience with horizontallirg in the Thrace Basin and southeastern Turlesyvell as the industry’s drilling and
production history, while growing, is limited. Tl#timate success of these drilling and completivatsgies and techniques will be better
evaluated over time as more wells are drilled and
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production profiles are better established. Furtter utilization of these techniques requires twari&lly greater capital expenditures, as
compared to the drilling of a traditional vertieegll. If our drilling results are less than ant@ipd or we are unable to execute our drilling
program because of capital constraints, and/oralagias and oil prices decline, our investmenhase areas may not be as attractive as we
anticipate and we could incur material write-dowfisinevaluated properties and the value of our veldped acreage could decline in the
future.

Legislative and regulatory initiatives and incread@ublic scrutiny relating to fracture simulation@tivities could result in increased cos
and additional operating restrictions or delays.

Fracture stimulation is an important and commorsdgdiprocess for the completion of oil and natuaal wells and involves the
pressurized injection of water, sand and chemicédsrock formations to stimulate production. Retgrthere has been increased public
concern regarding the potential environmental imhpéfracture stimulation activities. Most of thesencerns have raised questions regarding
the drilling fluids used in the fracturing procesi®ir effect on drinking water supplies, the uevater in connection with completion
operations, and the potential for impact to surfaater, groundwater and the environment generally.

The increased attention regarding fracture stimaratould lead to greater opposition, includingghition, to oil and natural gas
production activities using fracture stimulatioshaiques. Increased public scrutiny may also leaatiditional levels of regulation in the
countries in which we operate that could causeasjmeral restrictions or delays, make it more diffido perform fracture stimulation or could
increase our costs of compliance and doing busirekditional legislation or regulation, such asguirement to disclose the chemicals use
fracture stimulation, could make it easier for dhirarties opposing fracture stimulation to initietgal proceedings based on allegations that
specific chemicals used in the fracturing procesgdcadversely affect groundwater. A substantiatipo of our operations rely on fracture
stimulation, and the adoption of legislation in alia and a temporary moratorium on unconventidnifling activities in Romania have
placed restrictions on our fracture stimulatioriwaiiés, causing us to suspend our fracture stitimdaactivities in Bulgaria and to relinquish
Sud Craiova license in Romania in 2013. The adopgfdegislative or regulatory initiatives in Tunrkeestricting fracture stimulation could
impose operational delays, increased operatiorts ensl additional related burdens on our explonagiod production activities which could
suspend or make it more difficult to perform fraetstimulation, cause a material decrease in tiflendrof new wells and related completion
activities and increase our costs of compliancedmidg business, which could materially impact business and profitability.

We are subject to operating hazards.

The oil and natural gas exploration and produdbiosiness involves a variety of operating risksluding the risk of fire, explosion,
blowout, pipe failure, casing collapse, stuck tpalscontrollable flows of oil or natural gas, abmaily pressured formations and environme
hazards such as oil spills, surface cratering,rabgas leaks, pipeline ruptures, discharges attgases, underground migration, surface spills
mishandling of fracture stimulation fluids, incladi chemical additives, and natural disasters. Toeamence of any of these events could resu
in substantial losses to us due to injury and tddie, loss of or damage to well bores and/ollidg or production equipment, costs of
overcoming downhole problems, severe damage talesuiuction of property, natural resources andpgent, pollution and other
environmental damage, clean-up responsibilitieqlegory investigation and penalties and suspensiaperations. Gathering systems and
processing facilities are subject to many of theesdiazards and any significant problems relatebdse facilities could adversely affect our
ability to market our production.

20



Table of Contents

Our oil and natural gas operations are subject ttensive and complex laws and government regulatiorthe jurisdictions in which we
operate and compliance with existing and future lawinay increase our costs or impair our operations.

Our oil and natural gas operations are subjecutoarous federal, state, local, foreign and proginews and regulations, including thc
related to the environment, employment, immigratiabor, oil and natural gas exploration and dgwelent, payments to local, foreign and
provincial officials, taxes and the repatriatiorfafeign earnings. If we fail to adhere to any &ggille federal, state, local, foreign and
provincial laws or regulations, or if such lawsregulations restrict exploration or productionnegatively affect the sale, of oil and natural
gas, our business, prospects, results of operafioasicial condition or cash flows may be impairéée may be subject to governmental
sanctions, such as fines or penalties, as welbsnpal liability for personal injury, property oatural resource damage and might be require
to make significant capital expenditures to compith federal, state or international laws or regjolas. In addition, existing laws or
regulations, as currently interpreted or reinteigmién the future, or future laws or regulationsldoadversely affect our business or operations
or substantially increase our costs and associitegitities.

In addition, exploration for, and exploitation, grtion and sale of, oil and natural gas in eaeintry in which we operate is subject to
extensive national and local laws and regulatieggiiring various licenses, permits and approvaisifrarious governmental agencies. If these
licenses or permits are not issued or unfavoraggictions or conditions are imposed on our exgtlon or drilling activities, we might not be
able to conduct our operations as planned. Altarelgt failure to comply with these laws and redidas, including the requirements of any
licenses or permits, might result in the suspeneiaermination of operations and subject us tcafigss. Our costs to comply with these
numerous laws, regulations, licenses and perngtsignificant.

Specifically, our oil and natural gas operatiors subject to stringent laws and regulations rejgtinthe release or disposal of materials
into the environment or otherwise relating to eomimental protection. Failure to comply with theme&d and regulations may result in the
imposition of administrative, civil and/or criminpénalties, incurring investigatory or remedialigations and the imposition of injunctive
relief.

Changes in environmental laws and regulations ocegquently, and any changes that result in maegsnt or costly waste handling,
storage, transport, disposal or cleanup requiresnemild require us to make significant expendittwesttain and maintain compliance and 1
otherwise have a material adverse effect on owrstng in general and on our own results of openaticompetitive position or financial
condition. Although we intend to comply in all ma# respects with applicable environmental lawd sggulations, we cannot assure you that
we will be able to comply with existing or new régfions. In addition, the risk of accidental spillsakages or other circumstances could
expose us to extensive liability. We are unablpraalict the effect of additional environmental laavel regulations that may be adopted in the
future, including whether any such laws or regolasiwould materially adversely increase our costadfig business or affect operations in an
area.

Under certain environmental laws that impose stjoint and several liability, we may be requiredémediate our contaminated
properties regardless of whether such contaminaéisulted from the conduct of others or from conseges of our own actions that were or
were not in compliance with all applicable lawsha time those actions were taken. In additioripddor damages to persons or property ma
result from environmental and other impacts of @perations. Moreover, new or modified environmertiahlth or safety laws, regulations or
enforcement policies could be more stringent argbise unforeseen liabilities or significantly incseaompliance costs. Therefore, the costs |
comply with environmental, health or safety lawsegulations or the liabilities incurred in conrientwith them could significantly and
adversely affect our business, financial condittomesults of operations.
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In addition, many countries have agreed to regatissions of “greenhouse gases.” Methane, a pyis@nponent of natural gas, and
carbon dioxide, a byproduct of burning of oil aradural gas, are greenhouse gases. Regulation @flyvase gases could adversely impact
some of our operations and demand for some ofewices or products in the future.

We do not plan to insure against all potential op¢ing risks. We might incur substantial losses fromind be subject to substantial liability
claims for, uninsured or underinsured risks related our oil and natural gas operations.

We do not intend to insure against all risks. QUawnd natural gas exploration and production dib¢is are subject to numerous hazards
and risks associated with drilling for, producinglaransporting oil and natural gas, and storiramgporting and using explosive materials, an
any of the following risks can cause substantissés:

» environmental hazards, such as uncontrollable flofwgatural gas, oil, brine, well fluids, toxic gasother pollution into the
environment, including groundwater contaminatiamjerground migration and surface spills or mishiagddf fracture stimulation
fluids, including chemical additive

» abnormally pressured formatior

» leaks of oil, natural gas and other hydrocarboriesses of these hydrocarbons as a result of agsidering drilling and
completion operations, including fracture stimuatactivities, or from the gathering and transpateof oil, natural gas and other
hydrocarbons, malfunctions of pipelines, processingther facilities in our operations or at detivgoints to third parties

» spillage or mishandling of oil, natural gas, brinell fluids, hydraulic fracturing fluids, toxic gar other pollutants by third-party
service providers

» mechanical difficulties, such as stuck oil fieldldrg and service tools and casing collag

» fires and explosion:

» personal injuries and deal

e regulatory investigations and penalties;

* natural disaster:

As is customary in the oil and natural gas indystry maintain insurance against some, but nobatur operating risks. Our insurance

may not be adequate to cover potential lossesbitities and insurance coverage may not contioumetavailable at commercially acceptable
premium levels or at all. We might not elect toadbtinsurance if we believe that the cost of alddlansurance is excessive relative to the risk

presented. Losses and liabilities arising from saiad or under-insured events could require usakenarge unbudgeted cash expenditures
that could adversely impact our business, finaraaldition or results of operations.

We might not be able to identify liabilities assatéd with properties or obtain protection from smi§ against them, which could cause us to
incur losses.

Our review and evaluation of prospects and futerpisitions might not necessarily reveal all exigtor potential problems. For exam
inspections may not always be performed on evetly aed environmental problems, such as groundwagatamination, may not be readily
identified even when an inspection is undertakeenBwvhen problems are identified, a seller mayrbeilling or unable to provide effective
contractual protection against all or part of thpegblems, and we may assume environmental and Bsks and liabilities in connection with
acquired properties.
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Competition in the oil and natural gas industry istense, and many of our competitors have greateahcial, technological and other
resources than we do, which may adversely affeat ahility to compete.

We operate in the highly competitive areas of od aatural gas exploration, development, produdio acquisition with a substantial
number of other companies, including U.S.-basedfaraign companies doing business in each of theti@s in which we operate. We face
intense competition from independent, technologyedr companies as well as from both major and dtidegpendent oil and natural gas
companies in each of the following areas:

» seeking oil and natural gas exploration licensesmnduction license:

* acquiring desirable producing properties or newdsdor future exploratiol

» marketing oil and natural gas producti

» integrating new technologies; a

» contracting for drilling services and equipment aaduring the expertise necessary to develop aadtEpproperties

Many of our competitors have substantially greitemncial, managerial, technological and other veses than we do. These companies
are able to pay more for exploratory prospectsmoductive oil and natural gas properties than ame @o the extent competitors are able to
pay more for properties than we are paying, we lvglat a competitive disadvantage. Further, maruotompetitors enjoy technological
advantages over us and may be able to implementestwologies more rapidly than we can. Our abibtgxplore for and produce oil and
natural gas prospects and to acquire additionggsties in the future will depend upon our abitiysuccessfully conduct operations,
implement advanced technologies, evaluate andtsl#able properties and consummate transactiotigg highly competitive environment.

We might not be able to obtain necessary permifsravals or agreements from one or more governmagencies, surface owners, or other
third parties, which could hamper our exploratiomlevelopment or production activities.

There are numerous permits, approvals, and agraemith third parties, which will be necessary nder to enable us to proceed with
our exploration, development or production actagtand otherwise accomplish our objectives. Theguaent agencies in each country in
which we operate have discretion in interpretingows laws, regulations, and policies governingrapens under the licenses. Further, we
be required to enter into agreements with privatéase owners to obtain access to, and agreemanthé location of surface facilities. In
addition, because many of the laws governing dll matural gas operations in the international coemin which we operate have been ena
relatively recently, there is only a relatively shioistory of the government agencies handling iatefpreting those laws, including the various
regulations and policies relating to those lawdgs Bhort history does not provide extensive preatder the level of certainty that allows us to
predict whether such agencies will act favorablyad us. The governments have broad discretiontémpret requirements for the issuance of
drilling permits. Our inability to meet any suchymrements could have a material adverse effectunrexploration, development or production
activities.

Risks Related to Our Common Shares

The interests of our controlling shareholder may heoincide with yours and such controlling sharetd®@r may make decisions with which
you may disagree

As of March 1, 2014, Mr. Mitchell beneficially owd@pproximately 40% of our outstanding common shaks a result, Mr. Mitchell
could control substantially all matters requiririgaeeholder approval, including the election of clioes and approval of significant corporate
transactions. In addition, this concentration ohevship may delay or prevent a change in controuofcompany and make some future
transactions more difficult or impossible witholietsupport of Mr. Mitchell. The interests of Mr. tehell may not coincide with our interests
or the interests of our other shareholders.
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The value of our common shares may be affected tatters not related to our own operating performance

The value of our common shares may be affecteddtyens that are not related to our operating peréorce and which are outside of our
control. These matters include the following:

general economic conditions in the United Stateskdy, Bulgaria and globalh
industry conditions, including fluctuations in thece of oil and natural ga

governmental regulation of the oil and natural igasistry, including environmental regulation andulkation of fracture stimulatio
activities;

fluctuation in foreign exchange or interest ra

liabilities inherent in oil and natural gas opevas;

geological, technical, drilling and processing peols;

unanticipated operating events which can reducdymtion or cause production to be shut in or dala
failure to obtain industry partner and other t-party consents and approvals, when requi

stock market volatility and market valuatiol

competition for, among other things, capital, asdign of reserves, undeveloped land and skilledgeel;
the need to obtain required approvals from regufaathorities

worldwide supplies and prices of, and demand fibgrad natural gas

political conditions and developments in each ef¢buntries in which we opera

political conditions in oil and natural gas procdwgregions

revenue and operating results failing to meet etgbiens in any particular perio

investor perception of the oil and natural gas stdu

limited trading volume of our common shar

announcements relating to our business or the éssiof our competitor

the sale of asset

our liquidity; and

our ability to raise additional fund

In the past, companies that have experienced litylati the trading price of their common sharesdaeen the subject of securities class
action litigation. We might become involved in sgtes class action litigation in the future. Sditlyation often results in substantial costs anc
diversion of management’s attention and resouredscauld have a material adverse effect on oumiessi financial condition and results of

operation.

U.S. shareholders who hold common shares duringeaipd when we are classified as a passive foreigvestment company may be subject
to certain adverse U.S. federal income tax consames.

Management believes that we are not currently aiyaforeign investment company. However, we mayehzeen a passive foreign
investment company during one or more of our pasable years and could become a passive foreiggsiment company in the future. In
general, classification of our company as a padsrggn investment company during a period whéh& shareholder holds common shares
could result in certain adverse U.S. federal incoamxeconsequences to such shareholder.
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Certain U.S. shareholders who hold common sharesidg a period when we are classified as a contrdll®reign corporation may be
subject to certain adverse U.S. federal income tabes.

Management believes that we currently are a cdattdbreign corporation for U.S. federal income paxposes and that we will continue
to be so treated. Consequently, a U.S. sharehtiideowns 10% or more of the total combined vopogver of all classes of our shares entitlec
to vote on the last day of our taxable year maguigect to certain adverse U.S. federal incometbes with respect to the shareholder’s
investment in us.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
Not applicable.

Item 2. Properties
Turkey

General. As of March 1, 2014, we held interests in 23 onshard offshore exploration licenses and 12 onsbia@uction leases
covering a total of approximately 2.1 million grasses (approximately 1.3 million net acres) inKay. We acquired our interests in Turkey
through acquisitions, as well as through farm-ireagnents with existing third-party license holdems through applications submitted to the
Turkish General Directorate for Petroleum Affailse( “"GDPA”), the agency responsible for the regulation of od aatural gas activities unc
the Ministry of Energy and Natural Resources inkeyr

The following map shows our interests in Turkey:

TURKEY LICENSE STATUS

Legend
I TransAuantic Licenses & Jv
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ReservesAs of December 31, 2013, we had total net provedres of 9,714 Mbbl of oil and 15,039 Mmcf of matwas, net probable
reserves of 8,120 Mbbl of oil and 23,030 Mmcf ofural gas and net possible reserves of 16,877 Mbbill and 78,205 Mmcf of natural gas
Turkey.

Equipment Yards. As of March 1, 2014, we leased equipment yards umatli, Diyarbakir and Tekirdag and owned equipmyarts at
Selmo and Edirne.

Commercial Terms. Turkey’s fiscal regime for oil and natural gas licensgésently comprised of royalties and income téne floyalty
rate is 12.5% and the corporate income tax ra2896. Our revenue from the Selmo oil field is subjecan additional 10% royalty, which is
offset by the amount of exploration expense thatiT&nd DMLP, the owners of our interest in the Selail field, incur in Turkey. If those
exploration expenses do not equal or exceed theainod this additional 10% royalty, we would owe ttlifference. Dividends repatriated fr
Turkey would be subject to a withholding tax ratd 5% unless reduced by a tax treaty. There isahsb8% value added tax. However, for
exploration licenses, no value added tax is asdessédrilling, completion, workover, seismic andbgic activities.

Licensing RegimeThe licensing process in Turkey for oil and natgad concessions occurs in three stages: perceihde and lease.
Under a permit, the government grants the non-sikauright to conduct a geological investigatioreioan area. The size of the area and the
term of the permit are subject to the discretiothef GDPA. A new petroleum law was passed by th&i3ln government in May 2013,
amending some of the processes related to liceasidgperations in Turkey. The regulations conegrithplementation were passed by the
Turkish government in January 2014. The existingrses and future licensing processes are curii@rdlyransition phase from the old
petroleum law to the new petroleum law. The new faawides that operators have the option to mairttair licenses under the old petroleum
law for the duration of the existing terms of a&lise or to convert their licenses to the new patirallaw prior to the expiration of the license.
Further details regarding the process for convaraire awaiting confirmation from the GDPA.

The GDPA awards a license after it approves théiapy’'s work program, which may include obligatssuch as geological and
geophysical work, seismic reprocessing and intésiioa and contingent shooting of seismic andidgliof wells. A license grants exclusive
rights over an area for the exploration for petnate

Licensing Under the Old Petroleum Law.A license has a term of four years and requirdindyiactivities by the third year, but this
obligation may be deferred into the fourth yeaiplgting a bond. A license is eligible for two separtwo-year extensions by fulfilling prior
work commitments and subscribing to additional wooknmitments. A final thregear term may be granted as an appraisal perioafpoil ol
natural gas discovery registered in the previotmgeNo single company may own more than an agtgagfal00% of eight licenses within a
district. Rentals are due annually based on thedizhe license.

Once a discovery is made, the license holder mplydp convert the area, not to exceed 25,000 hest@pproximately 62,000 acres), to
a lease. Under a lease, the lessee may produardiiatural gas. The term of a lease is for 20syaatl may be extended for two further terms
of 10 years each. Annual rentals are due basekeosize of the lease. The production lease hosdigpically able to apply for a new
exploration license covering the area of the oabaxploration license, minus the area of the negvnted production lease.

Licensing Under the New Petroleum Law A license has a term of five years and requineditense holder to post a bond equal to 2%
of the cost of the work commitments to secure thiliment of work commitments. Licenses shall keesbd on map sections of scale equal to
1/50,000 (approximately 148,000 acres) or 1/25(@@proximately 37,000 acres). A license is eligifioletwo separate two-year extensions by
fulfilling prior work commitments and subscribing additional work commitments, including the dnitii of at least one well in each separate
extension period, and providing a bond to secufélifuent of the additional work commitments. A ihtwo-year term may be granted to
appraise a petroleum discovery made during the prians. An additional six-month extension may benged during any of the foregoing
terms in order to complete the drilling or testafgan exploration well.
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Once a discovery is made, the license holder mpiydp convert part of the license area, coverlmgpgrospective petroleum field, to a
production lease. Under a lease, the lessee maypemil and natural gas. The term of a leaseri2@o/ears and may be extended for two
further terms of 10 years each if production isnteined. The production lease holder is typicalliieao apply for a new exploration license
covering the area of the original exploration lisepminus the area of the newly-granted produdtiase.

The expiration dates reported on our exploratioarises and production leases below are subjeetrimue extensions available under the
old petroleum law and the new petroleum law. Tham#ions of exploration licenses with productioe awailable during any term for
conversion to a production lease with a term of&ars plus two further 10 year extensions if préidacs maintained. We are currently
engaged in discussions with GDPA regarding the emion of some of our qualifying acreage into tee/mpetroleum law regulations. This v
be a gradual process, but we anticipate that ceimremto the new petroleum law will provide foetrenewal of the exploration license terms
for qualifying acreage.

Northwestern Turkey. The following map shows our interests in northwesteurkey at March 1, 2014:

Balek Sea

Black Sea

Marmara Sea

Legend

B 7~ Licanses & v

[ Production L ease

Adatepe (Production Lease 4959 and License 50¥8)own a 50% working interest in Production Lea88&%and License 5016, which
cover approximately 3,086 gross acres and 117,688s@cres, respectively. As of March 1, 2014, ag deven producing wells on the
Adatepe production lease. In 2014, we plan to drit well on License 5016 or License 4288 to satls work program for License 5016, and
we plan to maintain production to satisfy our oatign on Production Lease 4959. We are the opecdt®roduction Lease 4959 and License
5016. The current terms of Production Lease 4989 .étense 5016 expire in September 2031 and Jar@dry, respectively, with extensions
available under the old and new petroleum laws.
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Alpullu (Production Lease 4794) and Temrez (Licet1).We own a 100% working interest in Production Le&®4 and License
4861, which cover approximately 3,158 acres anddl7acres, respectively. As of March 1, 2014, ae five producing wells on the Alpullu
production lease. Two wells on License 4861 areeruly awaiting completion, and the results of ghoperations will determine future drilling
operations on the license. We plan to maintain petidn to satisfy our obligation on Production Led§94. We are the operator of Productior
Lease 4794 and License 4861, which expire in Sapte2028 and December 2014, respectively, withnskbas available under the old and
new petroleum laws.

Atakoy (Production Lease 5122)Ve own a 41.5% working interest, subject to @&8% overriding royalty interest, in Production Leas
5122, which covers approximately 440 gross acrefMarch 1, 2014, we had six producing wells loa Atakoy production lease. We plai
maintain production to satisfy our obligation om@uction Lease 5122. We are the operator of Pramutiease 5122, which expires in
November 2032, with extensions available undeotdeand new petroleum law

Banarli (Production Lease 5059Ve own a 50% working interest in Production LeaB8% which covers approximately 4,609 gross
acres. As of March 1, 2014, we had one producingomethe Banarli production lease. We plan to neimproduction to satisfy our obligation
on Production Lease 5059. We are the operatoramfuRetion Lease 5059, which expires in February 208t extensions available under the
old and new petroleum laws.

Bekirler (License 4126)We own a 41.5% working interest, subject to 48% overriding royalty interest, in License 412@jeh cover:
approximately 124,000 gross acres. We are the tipesfiLicense 4126, which expired in December 2063ecember 2013, the GDPA
certified a gas discovery on the Bekirler licerasgd we subsequently applied for a thyear extension of License 4126 and are awaiting &
approval.

Edirne (License 3839) and Habiller (License 403We own a 55% working interest in License 3839 arid)0% working interest in
License 4037, which cover an aggregate of appraeiiyn239,000 gross acres. In April 2010, we comneentatural gas sales from the Edirne
natural gas field. As of March 1, 2014, we had fiddpcing wells on the Edirne and Habiller licend&'®. are the operator of Licenses 3839
4037, which expire in October 2014 and March 20&8pectively, with extensions available under tldleamd new petroleum laws. During
2014, we plan to submit an application for at least production lease covering the productive aveate Edirne license. Following the
commercially successful application of minimum weghcept drilling on these licenses in 2013, adddl prospects are currently being
evaluated for a similar drilling campaign in 2014.

Gelindere (Production Lease 3659)Ve own a 41.5% working interest, subject to d 8% overriding royalty interest, in Production
Lease 3659, which covers approximately 709 grosssaés of March 1, 2014, we had one producing aelthe Gelindere lease. We plan to
maintain production to satisfy our obligation om@uction Lease 3659. We are the operator of Pramutease 3659, which expires in June
2017, with extensions available under the old aaad petroleum laws.

Gocerler (Production Lease 4200 and License 4288).own a 50% working interest in Production Lead@Mand License 4288, which
cover approximately 3,363 gross acres and 119,88 @cres, respectively. As of March 1, 2014, ag three producing wells on the Goce
production lease and seven producing wells on Iseet288. We plan to drill one well in 2014 on Lise®288 or License 5016 to satisfy the
work program for License 4288 and we plan to mainpaoduction to satisfy our obligations on ProdaictLease 4200. We are the operator of
Production Lease 4200 and License 4288, which expiMarch 2024 and August 2015, respectively, wittensions available under the old
and new petroleum laws.

Hayrabolu (Production Lease 2926YVe own a 41.5% working interest, subject to 48% overriding royalty interest, in Production
Lease 2926, which covers approximately 12,400 groess. As of March 1, 2014,
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we had three producing wells on the Hayrabolu pctido lease. We plan to maintain production tos$gatbur obligation on Production Lease
2926. We are the operator of Production Lease 28B&h expires in February 2020, with one ten-y@dension available under the old and

new petroleum laws.

Karaevli (License 3934)We own a 41.5% working interest, subject to &8% overriding royalty interest, in License 3934ioh
covers approximately 122,000 gross acres. As otMar 2014, we had three producing wells on thea&dr license. We are the operator of
License 3934, which expires in November 2015, wittensions available under the old and new petnolews.

Karanfiltepe (License 5151)We own a 41.5% working interest, subject to 48% overriding royalty interest, in License 515hieh
covers approximately 121,000 gross acres. We arephbrator of the Karanfiltepe license, which expin June 2017, with extensions avail;

under the old and new petroleum laws.

Malkara (License 4532)NVe own a 100% working interest in License 4532 chfldovers approximately 122,000 acres. We are the
operator of License 4532, which expires in Jan2&d5, with extensions available under the old aad petroleum laws.

Senova (License 3858We own a 41.5% working interest, subject to 48% overriding royalty interest, in License 3858&iieh covers
approximately 122,000 gross acres. Depending opribduction results of the Senova-1 well or sudegsscompletion efforts on additional
wells, we plan to apply for a production lease arehse 3858. We are the operator of License 386&hnexpires in May 2015, with
extensions available under the old and new petnolews.

Tekirdag (Production Lease 3860), Gazioglu (Prothrctease 3861) and Nusratli (License 393%Je own a 41.5% working interest,
subject to a 0.415% overriding royalty interestPioduction Leases 3860 and 3861 and License 3@8th cover an aggregate of
approximately 112,000 gross acres. As of MarchD142we had 18 producing wells on the Tekirdag @adioglu production leases and 53
producing wells on the Nusratli license. Producti@ase 3860 and License 3931 are the current fafooigr 2014 horizontal drilling campaign
in the Thrace Basin. We plan to maintain productmsatisfy our obligation on Production Leases(86d 3861. We are the operator of
Production Leases 3860 and 3861 and License 393thwexpire in December 2023, December 2021 ancehdper 2015, respectively, with
extensions available under the old and new petnolews.

Velimese (License 3791) and Cayirdere (License BT9&8 own a 50% working interest in Licenses 37913r@R, covering an aggreg
of approximately 117,000 gross acres. As of Marck014, we had four producing wells on License 37M92A0 is the operator of Licenses
3791 and 3792, which expired in August 2013 andBmt 2013, respectively. In July 2013, we appl@dsf production lease on License 3972
and TPAO applied for a production lease on Lice3%&®1. After receipt of the production leases, wanpb negotiate the reacquisition of the
remaining exploration acreage with TPAO on Licer3£31 and 3792.
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Southeastern Turkey.The following map shows our interests in southeasterrkey at March 1, 2014:

¥ [

Arpatepe (Production Lease 5003 and License 50%2% own a 50% working interest in Production Lea@@3 and License 5025, whi
cover approximately 11,200 and 84,600 gross aoespectively. For 2013, our wellhead productiowibfrom the Arpatepe field was
approximately 56,561 Bbls of oil, at an average Htapproximately 155 Bbl/d. As of March 1, 20 had five producing wells on the
Arpatepe production lease. We plan to drill the &gpe-8 infill well in 2014, and a waterflood pilstunder evaluation for implementation in
2014. Aladdin Middle East, Ltd. is the operatoPobduction Lease 5003 and License 5025, which expiNovember 2028 and February
2016, respectively, with extensions available urilerold and new petroleum laws.

Bakuk (License 5064 and Production Lease 504@).own a 50% working interest in License 5064 armtiBction Lease 5043. The
exploration license covers approximately 61,00Ggm@cres, and the production lease covers apprtedin®?,000 gross acres near the Turkist
border with Syria. Production continues from th&kBa101 well, and we are evaluating additional effaell locations. Tiway Turkey, Ltd.
(“Tiway”) is the operator of License 5064 and Proiilon Lease 5043, which expire in June 2016 andalg2032, respectively, with
extensions available under the old and new petnolaws.

Bismil (Licenses 4172 and 4239)icenses 4172 and 4239 were acquired from ARARdUthe second quarter of 2013. We own a 1(
working interest in the ARAR licenses, which coaaraggregate of approximately 30,400 gross aciesnte 4239 is a part of our large Molla
3D acquisition program and we are currently evahgadrilling prospects on the license for 2014. sve the operator of the licenses, which
expire in June 2014 and December 2014, respectisebject to establishing qualifying production aeverting the acreage to a production
lease or leases.
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Gaziantep (License 4607We own a 62.5% working interest in License 46fihject to a 0.78% overriding royalty interest, ethcover:
approximately 123,000 gross acres near the Tubdostier with Syria. We are the operator of Licen8@74 which expired in August 2013. We
are currently evaluating additional prospects en@aziantep license, including an offset to thdéyi 1H discovery well. We have applied for
a two-year extension of the license and the apdicas pending with the GDPA. There are extensiawveilable for License 4607 under the old
and new petroleum laws.

Gurun (License 4325)We own a 90% working interest in License 4325ichwttovers approximately 122,000 gross acres itraen
Turkey. We are the operator of License 4325, wiigbired in February 2014. We plan to negotiatecforversion of the license from the old
petroleum law to the new petroleum law.

Idil (License 4642) We own a 50% working interest in License 4642iclttovers approximately 123,000 gross acres meaf tirkish
border with Syria. We plan to drill one well onghicense in 2014. In February 2014, we enteremlarfarm-out agreement with Onshore
whereby Onshore will fund the costs, up to $3.3iam| to drill and complete a well targeting the fdim formation. We plan to drill this well |
2014. We are the operator of License 4642, whigiirex in October 2014, with extensions availabldarrthe old and new petroleum laws.

Molla (Licenses 4174 and 4845) and West Molla (hsse5046) We own a 100% working interest in Licenses 44B#5 and 5046,
which cover an aggregate of approximately 112,@08saadjacent to the northern border of our Proeolidtease 5003. In 2013, we drilled five
horizontal wells in the Molla area. We continuértterpret the 800 sg. km. seismic data to delinpadspects on the Molla licenses, and we
plan to sidetrack the Bahar-2 well following théeirpretation of the data. We are the operator oéhses 4174, 4845 and 5046, which expire i
June 2014, March 2015 and June 2016, respectiwély extensions available under the old and newopsim laws.

Selmo (Production Lease 829)Ve own a 100% working interest in Production le=829, which covers 8,886 acres and includes the
Selmo oil field. As of March 1, 2014, there were@0ducing wells on the Selmo production lease.20dr3, our wellhead production of oil in
the Selmo field was approximately 670,711 Bblsibfad an average rate of approximately 1,838 Bbiltie Selmo lease is currently the focus
of a horizontal drilling campaign, and we are ewtihg a waterflood program for implementation irl20We are the operator of Production
Lease 829, which expires in June 2015. We have stgohan application to extend the expiration d#tBroduction Lease 829 until June 20
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Bulgaria

General. As of March 1, 2014, we held interests in one onskexploration permit and one onshore productiorcession in Bulgaria.
We acquired all of our Bulgarian interests throtigd purchase of Direct Bulgaria in February 20hlldnuary 2012, the Bulgarian Parliament
enacted legislation that banned the fracture sttiar of oil and natural gas wells in the RepubliBulgaria. The legislation also had the ef
of preventing conventional drilling and completiactivities. In June 2012, the Bulgarian Parlianmsnended the legislation to clarify that
conventional drilling and completion activities warot intended to be affected by the law. As losithis legislation remains in effect, our
unconventional natural gas exploration, developraedtproduction activities in Bulgaria will be sificantly constrained. The following map
shows our interests in Bulgaria at March 1, 2014:
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ReservesAs of December 31, 2013, there are no economicvesa@associated with our properties in Bulgaria.

Commercial Terms.Bulgaria’s petroleum laws provide a framework fovestment and operation that allows foreign investio retain
the proceeds from the sale of petroleum produciitwe. fiscal regime is comprised of royalties antbime tax.

The royalty ranges from 2.5% to 30%, based on afat®r” which is particular to each production concessigreament, but is typicall
calculated by dividing the total cumulative revesifit®dm a production concession by the total cundatosts incurred for that production
concession.

The production concession holder pays Bulgariapa@te income tax, which is assessed at a rat@%f All costs incurred in
connection with exploration, development and proidmcoperations are deductible for corporate incoaxepurposes.
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Resident companies which remit dividends outsidBulfaria are subject to a dividend withholding between 10% to 15%, depending
on the proportion of the capital owned by the rexip No customs duty is payable on the exportatfqgleum, nor is customs duty payable on
the import of material necessary to conduct petirol®perations. There is also a 20% value addedis priced at market while natural gas
is tied to a bundle pricing based in part on thpamprice and in part on the domestic price.

Licensing Regime.The licensing process in Bulgaria for oil and nalgas concessions occurs in two stages: explarpgomit and then
production concession.

Under an exploration permit, the government grartdoration rights for a term of up to five yeavsconduct seismic and other
exploratory activities, including drilling. The ripéent of an exploration permit commits to a workgram and posts a bank guarantee in the
amount of the estimated cost for the program. Tha aovered by an onshore exploration permit magstdarge as 5,000 square kilometers.
The exploration permit may be extended for up to additional two-year terms, subject to fulfillmesftminimum work programs, and may be
extended for an additional one-year term in ordexfpraise potential geologic discoveries. Interaatler an exploration permit are
transferable, subject to government approval. Tdrenfi holder is required to pay an annual areatpel to 30 Bulgarian Lev (approximately
$21 at March 1, 2014) per square kilometer, or dg&ian Lev (approximately $32 at March 1, 201d) gquare kilometer in the event the
permit term is extended.

Upon the registration of a commercial discoveryeaploration permit holder may apply for a prodastconcession. The production
concession size corresponds to the area of the eocrahdiscovery. The duration of a production @swion is 35 years and may be extended
by a further 15 years subject to the terms anditiond of the production concession agreementrdsts under a production concession are
transferable, subject to government approval. Nwbas paid to the government by the company upowearsion to a production concession.

Koynare. We own a 100% working interest, subject to a 3.@®8rriding royalty interest and KDL's 50% farm-intérest, in the
Koynare production concession covering approxingaté3,000 acres. The Koynare Concession Area amithe Deventci-R1 well, where we
discovered a reservoir in the Jurassic-aged Oziforrnation at a depth of approximately 13,800 fedtich the Bulgarian government has
certified as a geologic and commercial discovemyNobvember 2011, we commenced drilling the DeveR&iappraisal well on the Koynare
Concession Area, which we suspended following tieegnent of the Bulgarian government’s January 28@3lation. During the second half
of 2013, we resumed drilling the Deventci-R2 weltlaeached target depth of 14,100 feet in Janu@ty.2The well is currently awaiting
completion. We are the operator of the Koynare pctidn concession, which expires in 2047.

StefenetzIn November 2011, we initiated the application gssfor a production concession covering approxan®95,000 acres over
the southern portion of our former A-Lovech exptama permit. The Stefenetz Concession Area is egohto contain over 300,000
prospective acres for Etropole shale at a dep#ppfoximately 12,500 feet, which the Bulgarian gamgent has certified as a geologic
discovery. During 2012, we initiated an environna¢ithpact assessment, which the Bulgarian goverhmeist approve prior to granting the
production concession.

In September 2011, we entered into an agreementlWG pursuant to which LNG funded the drillingari exploration well on the
Stefenetz Concession Area to core and test the@&#chale formation. This well, the Peshtene-Rd4ched total depth in late November
2011, from which we collected more than 900 feetak. We suspended drilling and completion ofReshtendrk11 well following enactmel
of the Bulgarian government’s January 2012 legmtatWe and LNG are evaluating the core data aneldping a conventional completion
program for the Peshtene-R11 well. If we obtaimadpction concession over the Stefenetz Concegsiea, LNG would fund up to an
additional $12.5 million in exchange for a 50% wiatkinterest in the production concession. The iaing 50% working interest in the
production concession would be split equally betwes and KDL.
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Aglen. We own a 100% working interest, subject to a 1%adiag royalty interest, in the Aglen exploratipermit, which covers
approximately 1,700 acres within the boundariethefformer A-Lovech exploration permit and lieshiitthe boundary of the Stefenetz
Concession Area. The Aglen permit contains a pradspgedeep natural gas field that produced appraiafy 9.0 Bcf of natural gas before
being abandoned in the late 1990s. We are the tmparthe Aglen permit, which was set to expirédipril 2012. Due to the Bulgarian
government’s January 2012 legislation, a force orajevent was recognized by the government. Asatchli1, 2014, we were negotiating the
relinquishment of this license.

Summary of Oil and Natural Gas Reserves

The following table summarizes our net proved, plde and possible reserves at December 31, 20d&ordance with the rules and
regulations of the SEC.

Reserves
QOil and
Condensat Natural Gas
Total

Reserves Categon (Mbbl) (Mmcf) (Mboe)
Proved Reserve

Proved Develope 4,87¢ 10,45( 6,617

Proved Undevelope 4,83¢ 4,58¢ 5,60¢

Total Provec 9,71« 15,03¢ 12,22:
Probable Reserve 8,12( 23,03( 11,95¢
Possible Reserve 16,87 78,20¢ 29,91

Value of Proved Reserves
The following table shows our estimated futurene@enue, PV-10 and Standardized Measure as of Dmredi, 2013:

(in thousands)

Future net revenu $819,79!
Total PVv-10® $592,52-
Total Standardized Measu $495,76¢

(1) The PV-10 value of the estimated future neeéneie is not intended to represent the current maegdee of the
estimated oil and natural gas reserves we own. lyimant believes that the presentation of PV-10lewiot a
financial measure in accordance with U.S. GAAPytes useful information to investors because Widely
used by professional analysts and sophisticatezbtovs in evaluating oil and natural gas compaimiesause
many factors that are unique to each individual gany impact the amount of future income taxes egtohto b
paid, the use of a pre-tax measure is valuable wherparing companies based on reserves. PV-1Q & no
measure of financial or operating performance uttl&r GAAP. PV-10 should not be considered as an
alternative to the standardized measure as definddr U.S. GAAP. The Standardized Measure represeat
PV-10 after giving effect to income taxes. Theduling table provides a reconciliation of our PV{bGur
Standardized Measur

(in thousands)

Total P\-10 $ 592,52
Future income taxe (127,97)
Discount of future income taxes at 10% per ani 31,21¢
Standardized Measu $ 495,76¢
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Proved Reserves

Estimates of proved developed and undevelopeduwesare inherently imprecise and are continualbjesi to revision based on
production history, results of additional explosatiand development, price changes and other faGers“—Oil and Natural Gas Reserves
under U.S. Law.”

At December 31, 2013, our estimated proved resevees 12,221 Mboe, an increase of 5.4% comparéd,&97 Mboe at December 31,
2012. During 2013, we added estimated proved resest/2,005 Mboe through extensions and discovdrigen by our 2013 drilling activity
in Turkey and 137 Mboe through performance revisionexisting producing wells. These increases wéeet by sales volumes of 1,518
Mboe. The estimated undiscounted capital costxaged with our proved reserves is $131.6 million.

Proved Undeveloped Reserves

At December 31, 2013, our estimated proved undeeeloeserves were 5,604 Mboe, an increase of 16dbapared to 5,094 Mboe at
December 31, 2012. This increase in proved undpedloeserves was primarily attributable to exters@and discoveries from horizontal
drilling, improved well performance and successédompletions.

Probable Reserves

Estimates of probable reserves are inherently ioipee When producing an estimate of the amountl @inal natural gas that is
recoverable from a particular reservoir, an estajuantity of probable reserves is an estimateasfe additional reserves that are less certai
to be recovered than proved reserves but whicletheg with proved reserves, are as likely as nbeteecovered. Estimates of probable
reserves are also continually subject to revistmased on production history, results of additianadloration and development, price changes
and other factors. See “—Oil and Natural Gas Resemnder U.S. Law.”

When deterministic methods are used, it is asylikslnot that actual remaining quantities recovericexceed the sum of estimated
proved plus probable reserves. When probabiliséthads are used, there should be at least a 508alpility that the actual quantities
recovered will equal or exceed the proved plus @hbébreserves estimates. Probable reserves massigmed to areas of a reservoir adjacent t
proved reserves where data control or interpretatad available data are less certain, even ifrttexpreted reservoir continuity of structure or
productivity does not meet the reasonable certairitgrion. Probable reserves may be assignecetsaghat are structurally higher than the
proved area if these areas are in communicatidmtivé proved reservoir. Probable reserves estinaddesnclude potential incremental
guantities associated with a greater percentagsreeg of the hydrocarbons in place than assumegrfmred reserves.

At December 31, 2013, our estimated probable resamere 11,958 Mboe, an increase of 19.9% compare®72 Mboe at
December 31, 2012. This increase in probable resemas primarily attributable to extensions anddalisries from horizontal drilling and
improved well performance.

Possible Reserves

Estimates of possible reserves are also inherenfiyecise. When producing an estimate of the amotioil and natural gas that is
recoverable from a particular reservoir, an estadauantity of possible reserves is an estimatentight be achieved, but only under more
favorable circumstances than are likely. Estimafgmossible reserves are also continually subfectvisions based on production history,
results of additional exploration and developmerite changes and other factors. See “—Oil and fdh@ias Reserves under U.S. Law.”
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When deterministic methods are used, the total tifienultimately recovered from a project havew brobability of exceeding proved
plus probable plus possible reserves. When prababimethods are used, there should be at leB8%aprobability that the total quantities
ultimately recovered will equal or exceed the ppéus probable plus possible reserves estimatssilite reserves may be assigned to area:s
of a reservoir adjacent to probable reserves wileta control and interpretations of available dataprogressively less certain. Frequently,
will be in areas where geoscience and engineeate afe unable to define clearly the area andcatitmits of commercial production from
the reservoir by a defined project. Possible resealso include incremental quantities associatddangreater percentage recovery of the
hydrocarbons in place than the recovery quantisssimed for probable reserves.

Possible reserves may be assigned where geoserda@ngineering data identify directly adjacentipos of a reservoir within the same
accumulation that may be separated from provedsdrgdaults with displacement less than formathiokness or other geological
discontinuities and that have not been penetratealveellbore, and the registrant believes that aujacent portions are in communication \
the known (proved) reservoir. Possible reserves loesgssigned to areas that are structurally highlewer than the proved area if these area:
are in communication with the proved reservoir.

At December 31, 2013, our estimated possible resemere 29,911 Mboe, a decrease of 8.3% compaZl@068 Mboe at December 31,
2012. This decrease in possible reserves was plynadtributable to the transfer of possible ressrinto proved and probable reserves.

Internal Controls

Management has established, and is responsibla farmber of internal controls designed to provatesonable assurance that the
estimates of proved, probable and possible resamneesomputed and reported in accordance with arldsegulations provided by the SEC as
well as established industry practices used bypgaeddent engineering firms and our peers. Thesealteontrols consist of documented
process workflows and qualified professional engjiitgy and geological personnel with specific resgrexperience. We also retain an outside
independent engineering firm to prepare estimatesiioproved, probable and possible reserves. Wi wlosely with this firm, and
management is responsible for providing accuraggaimg and technical data to it. Management hetedethe processes and controls regatr
our reserves estimates for 2013. Senior managemaerivs and approves our reserves estimates, whathgared internally or by third parti
In addition, our audit committee serves as ourrk@secommittee and is composed of three outsidetdirs, all of whom have experience in
review of energy company reserves evaluations.alitit committee reviews the final reserves estimatkalso meets with representatives
from the outside engineering firm to discuss tipeacess and findings.

Oil and Natural Gas Reserves under U.S. Law

In the United States, we are required to disclosequ reserves, and we are permitted to disclasiegple and possible reserves, using
standards contained in Rule 4-10(a) of the SECuR&ion S-X. The estimates of proved, probable @mekible reserves presented as of
December 31, 2013 have been prepared by DeGolgeMasNaughton, our external engineers. The techp&aon at DeGolyer and
MacNaughton that is primarily responsible for oesisg the preparation of our reserves estimat@®isgistered Professional Engineer in the
State of Texas and has a Bachelor of Science degMechanical Engineering from Kansas State UmittgrHe has over 30 years of
experience in oil and natural gas reservoir studigsevaluations and is a member of the SocieBetfoleum Engineers. We maintain an
internal staff of petroleum engineers and geoseigmofessionals who work closely with DeGolyer &acNaughton to ensure the integrity,
accuracy and timeliness of data furnished to thenthfe preparation of their reserves estimates.dDigf reservoir engineer has over 42 years
of experience in oil and natural gas reservoirisgidnd evaluations. He has a Bachelor of Scieageed in Petroleum Engineering from
Colorado School of Mines and a Masters of Busidghsinistration degree from the University of Phoerie is a Registered Professional
Engineer in the state of Colorado, and is a merabtre Society of Petroleum Engineers and the $poiePetroleum Evaluation Engineers.
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Estimates of oil and natural gas reserves are giojes based on a process involving an indeperttiedtparty engineering firm’s
collection of all required geologic, geophysicalgaeering and economic data, and such firm’s cetepxternal preparation of all required
estimates and are forward-looking in nature. Thieperts rely upon various assumptions, includirgyagtions required by the SEC, such as
constant oil and natural gas prices, operating msg®eand future capital costs. We also make asmmaptlating to availability of funds and
timing of capital expenditures for development of proved undeveloped, probable and possible resemhese reports should not be
construed as the current market value of our resefhe process of estimating oil and natural gasrves is also dependent on geological,
engineering and economic data for each reserveiraBse of the uncertainties inherent in the inétgtion of this data, we cannot ensure that
the reserves will ultimately be realized. Our atteaults could differ materially. See “Supplemétdormation —Supplemental oil and
natural gas reserves information (unaudited)” toamnsolidated financial statements for additianédrmation regarding our oil and natural
gas reserves.

The technologies and economic data used in theatitin of our proved, probable and possible reseinaude, but are not limited to,
electrical logs, radioactivity logs, core analyggeplogic maps and available downhole and prodadtata, seismic data and well test data.
Reserves attributable to producing wells with sigfit production history were estimated using appabe decline curves or other performa
relationships. Reserves attributable to produciefisawith limited production history were estimatesing performance from analogous wells
in the surrounding area and geologic data to asBesgservoir continuity. These wells were congiddo be analogous based on production
performance from the same formation and complaigng similar techniques.

The estimates of proved, probable and possiblevesg@repared by DeGolyer and MacNaughton for #e ynded December 31, 2013
included a detailed review of our Selmo, Arpatepekuk, Molla and Thrace Basin properties in Turkey our West Koynare field in Bulgal
DeGolyer and MacNaughton determined that theimestés of reserves conform to the guidelines o€, including the criteria of
“reasonable certainty,” as it pertains to expeotetiabout whether proved reserves are econommaljucible from a given date forward,
under existing economic conditions, operating meshand government regulations, consistent withdéfmition in Rule 4-10(a)(24) of SEC
Regulation S-X.

Oil and Natural Gas Reserves under Canadian Law

As a reporting issuer under Alberta, British Coliandnd Ontario securities laws, we are requireceu@inadian law to comply with
National Instrument £-101 “Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Aitigg” (“NI 51-101") implemented by the memberstbé& Canadian
Securities Administrators in all of our reservesited disclosures. DeGolyer and MacNaughton evetutite Company’s reserves as of
December 31, 2013, in accordance with the resetgfsitions of NI 51-101 and the Canadian Oil aras@&valuators Handbook (“COGEH").
Our annual oil and natural gas reserves discloqunegzared in accordance with NI 51-101 and COGHiHféded in Canada are available at
www.sedar.com.
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Oil and Natural Gas Wellhead Production
The following table sets forth our wellhead prodoretof oil and natural gas for 2013, 2012 and 2011:

Wellhead Production

oil @ Natural Gas Total
Year (Bbls) (Mcf) (Boe)
2013
Turkey 941,29'@ 3,915,89: 1,593,94
Bulgaria 32¢ 15,81: 2,96:
2012
Turkey 952,301 4,419,01 1,688,81;
Bulgaria 641 33,53: 6,23(
2011
Turkey 894,83(@ 4,821,19 1,698,36!
Bulgaria 1,171 45,69: 8,78¢
(1) “Oil” volumes include condensate (light oil) and mediuade oil.

(2) During 2013, 2012 and 2011, our wellhead prtéidncof oil in the Selmo oil field was 670,711 Bpb&l5,840 Bbls, and
840,584 Bbls, respectivel

Oil and Natural Gas Sales Volumes
The following table sets forth our sales volumesibaind natural gas for 2013, 2012 and 2011

Sales Volumes

oil M Natural Gas Total
Year (Bbls) (Mcf) (Boe)
2013
Turkey 932,462 3,495,69 1,515,07!
Bulgaria 32¢ 15,81: 2,96:
2012
Turkey 947,992 4,204,62! 1,648,72i
Bulgaria 641 33,53: 6,23(
2011
Turkey 889,574 4,610,53 1,657,99
Bulgaria 1,171 45,69: 8,78¢
(1)  “Oil” volumes include condensate (light oil) and mediuuode oil.
(2) During 2013, 2012 and 2011, our sales volumedke Selmo oil field was 665,025 Bbls, 813,222sBbhd 838,615 Bbls,

respectively
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Average Sales Price and Production Costs

The following table sets forth the average salé&seger Bbl of oil and Mcf of natural gas and thverage production cost, not including
ad valorem and severance taxes, per unit of pramufir each of 2013, 2012 and 2011:

2013 2012 2011
Turkey

Average Sales Pric

Oil ($/Bbl) $101.0¢ $102.6( $100.2¢
Natural Gas ($/Mcf $ 9.4c $ 8.7z $ 7.0¢
Unit Costs(1]

Production ($/Boe $ 10.62 $ 9.2 $ 8.9¢
Bulgaria

Average Sales Pric

QOil ($/Bbl) $ 55.4¢ $ 76.4¢ $108.0¢
Natural Gas ($/Mcf $ 3.8¢ $ 4.17 $ 4.6C
Unit Costs(1]

Production ($/Boe $ 71.4¢ $ 49.2¢ $ 71.9¢

(1)  We have recalculated the oil and natural gassqoer Boe for the years ended December 31, 20d2@l11 based on
working interest volumes before royalty deductitmsonform to current year presentati

Drilling Activity

The following table sets forth the number of netdurctive and dry exploratory wells and net produecind dry development wells we
drilled in 2013, 2012 and 2011:

Development Wells Exploratory Wells

Productive Dry Productive Dry

Turkey

2013 10.51 0.5C 3.5C 4.4z

2012 14.4¢ 1.42 4.04 7.92

2011 14.5¢ 5.5C 2.5¢ 6.6C

Bulgaria

2013 — — — —

2012 — — — —

2011

Oil and Natural Gas Properties, Wells, Operations ad Acreage

Productive Wells. The following table sets forth the number of pratilteewells (wells that were producing oil or natugas or were
capable of production) in which we held a workinterest as of December 31, 2013:

Qil Natural Gas
T % %
Turkey 61 57.¢ 13C 63.1
Bulgaria 0 0 1 1

(1) “Gross well” means the wells in which we held a working intefeperating or nc-operating)
(2) “Net well” means the sum of the fractional working interestaed in gross wells
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Developed AcreageThe following table sets forth our total gross aed developed acreage as of December 31, 2013:

Developed (Acres
Gross®) Net (2)

Turkey 86,56¢ 47,79:

(1) “Gros! means the total number of acres in which we hadrking interest
(2) “Nef” means the sum of the fractional working interestaed in gross acre

Undeveloped AcreageThe following table sets forth our undeveloped laodition as of December 31, 2013:

Undeveloped

(Acres)
Gross®) Net &)
Turkey 1,979,09 1,238,97!
Bulgaria 567,10t 567,10t
Total 2,546,19 1,806,07!

(1) “Gros? means the total number of acres in which we hadrking interest
(2) “Nef” means the sum of the fractional working interestaexd in gross acre

Undeveloped Acreage ExpirationsThe following table summarizes by year our undepetbacreage scheduled to expire in the nex
years:

% of Total
Undevelope(

Undevelo(%ed O

As of December 31 (Acres) gAcres;
Gross® Net ©) Net

2014 529,99! 402,46¢ 22.:
2015 883,29t 473,16¢ 26.2
2016 445,07: 313,23: 17.2
2017 120,72t 50,10: 2.8

2018 — — —

(1) Excludes the Stefenetz Concession Area for whiclhawe applied for a production concess
(2) “Gros¢ means the total number of acres in which we hadrking interest
(3) “Net” means the sum of the fractional working interestaexd in gross acre

We anticipate that we will be able to extend tleertise terms for substantially all of our undevetbpereage in Turkey scheduled to
expire in 2014 through the execution of our currgatk commitments.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

TEMI has been involved in a number of lawsuits vétgroup of villagers living around the Selmo @ld who claim ownership of a
portion of the surface at Selmo. These cases amg bigjorously defended by TEMI and Turkish govesmnhauthorities. We do not have
enough information to estimate the potential addal operating costs we could incur in the eveatpirported surface owners’ claims are
ultimately successful. The following is a summafyhmse cases.

In 2003, the villagers applied to the Kozluk Ci€iburt of First Instance in Turkey with seven tilavey certificates dating back to
Ottoman times. These villagers were granted tigstration certificates, and in 2005, these vélagapplied to the Kozluk Civil Court of First
Instance to enlarge the areas covered by theicaté$
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to approximately 20 square kilometers. Neither we to our knowledge, any ministry in the Turkisbvgrnment received notice of this court
proceeding. Almost all of our production wells fa tSelmo oil field lie within this enlarged area.2009, the Supreme Court overruled the
Kozluk Civil Court of First Instance and directedd re-examine the case (the “Surface Litigation”)

In 2006, the Turkish Forestry Authority filed aiahain the Kozluk Cadastre Court against the villager attempting to register land that
is registered with the Turkish government as fore&MI joined the Turkish government as a plainiifthat case. In February 2011, the
Kozluk Cadastre Court decided to suspend the aatfighere is a resolution of the Surface Litigatio

In addition, TEMI is a defendant in two nuisanceesafiled in the Kozluk Cadastre Court and onexclar damages filed in the Kozluk
Civil Court of First Instance. The plaintiffs in@aof these cases are the same villagers in thfacguitigation. The Turkish Treasury
Department and the Turkish Forestry Authority hppeed TEMI as defendants in each of these cades Kbzluk Cadastre Court has decided
to suspend each of these nuisance cases untilithemesolution of the Surface Litigation. On Deber 27, 2012, the Kozluk Civil Court of
First Instance dismissed the damages case, ampdatingffs appealed that decision.

On June 27, 2012, the Kozluk Civil Court of Fingstance dismissed the Surface Litigation. The dsatted its formal decision on
August 8, 2012, and the plaintiffs filed an appeih the Court of Appeal. We will continue to vigasly defend our interests.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.

PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty Securities
Canada

Our common shares are traded in Canada on the fbo&tock Exchange (the “TSX”) under the trading bpidTNP”. The following
table sets forth the quarterly high and low sakésep per common share in Canadian dollars on 8 for the periods indicated. The high and
low sales prices per common share for each quargteriod within the two most recent fiscal yeadigated below have been adjusted to re
our 1-for-10 reverse stock split effected Marcl2®14.

High Low

2013:

Fourth Quarte $10.0C $ 7.7C

Third Quartel $10.1( $ 6.1C

Second Quarte $ 9.4( $ 7.1C

First Quartel $10.7( $ 8.5(C
2012:

Fourth Quarte $10.2( $ 7.0C

Third Quartel $11.4C $ 8.8C

Second Quarte $12.7C $ 8.6(

First Quarte! $16.1( $10.8(
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United States

Our common shares are traded in the United StatéisscoNYSE MKT exchange under the trading symb@\TT. The following table
sets forth the high and low sales price per comai@me in U.S. Dollars on the NYSE MKT for the pesandicated. The high and low sales
prices per common share for each quarterly peritisimthe two most recent fiscal years indicatetblvehave been adjusted to reflect our 1-
for-10 reverse stock split effected March 6, 2014.

High Low

2013:

Fourth Quarte $11.0C $ 7.3C

Third Quartel $ 9.7C $ 7.1C

Second Quarte $ 9.1C $ 6.9C

First Quartel $10.4( $ 8.8(C
2012:

Fourth Quarte $10.6( $ 7.1C

Third Quartel $12.0C $ 8.4(C

Second Quarte $12.9( $ 8.0C

First Quarte! $16.4( $11.0C

Common Shares and Dividends

As of March 7, 2014, we had 37,402,698 common shiaseied and outstanding and held by 332 recodklglincluding nominee
holders such as banks and brokerage firms whodiw@des for beneficial owners.

We have not declared any dividends to date on @omaeon shares. We have no present intention of gaily cash dividends on our
common shares in the foreseeable future, as wedriteuse cash flow from operations to invest inlmusiness.
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Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative tokalreholder return on TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltimmon shares with the
Russell 2000 Index and the S&P/TSX Capped Energyoséndex. The graph assumes an investment of $id@ecember 31, 2008 in our
common shares, the Russell 2000 Index and the S®¥®Japped Energy Sector Index, and assumes theestiment of dividends where
applicable. The share price performance shown emthph below is not intended and does not nedlyssalicate future price performance.
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Company/Index 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. $10C $49€ $48: $19C $12C %117
Russell 2000 Inde $10C $127 $16C $154 $17¢  $24¢
S&P/TSX Capped Energy Sector Inc $10C $14C $155 $132 $124  $14C

Foreign Exchange Control Regulations

We have been designated as a non-resident for Bierexchange control purposes by the Bermuda Mon@tathority. Because of this
designation, there are no restrictions on our tgltiti transfer funds in and out of Bermuda.

The transfer of shares between persons regardedidents outside Bermuda for exchange controlgaep and the sale of our common
shares to or by such persons may take place witpmdific consent under tliexchange Control Act 1972ssuances and transfers of shares

involving any person regarded as a resident in Bemfor exchange control purposes require spemifiwoval under thExchange Control Ac
1972.

As an “exempted company,” we are exempt from Beimad/s which restrict the percentage of share abjiat may be held by non-
Bermuda residents, but as an exempted company,ayenot participate in certain business transactimeuding: (1) the acquisition or
holding of land in Bermuda (except that requireddor business and held by way of lease or tenfordgrms of not more than 50 years)
without the express authorization of the Bermudslature, (2) the taking of mortgages on land @mrBuda to secure an amount in
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excess of $50,000 without the consent of the Minisf Finance, (3) the acquisition of any bondgelentures secured by any land in
Bermuda, other than certain types of Bermuda gawemnt securities or (4) the carrying on of busirefsany kind in Bermuda, except in
furtherance of our business carried on outside Bdan

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table summarizes selected consoldifiteancial information from continuing operatioius each of the five years in the
period ended December 31, 2013. All periods presenave been adjusted to reflect our oilfield sewibusiness segment and Moroccan
segment as discontinued operations. You shouldtheamhformation set forth below in conjunction lifitem 7. Managemerg’'Discussion ar
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Cytiems” and the consolidated financial statementsretes thereto included elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(amounts in thousands, except per share amount
Total revenue: $130,82 $143,90¢ $ 128,90! $ 70,85« $ 27,74¢
Seismic and other exploratic 14,00¢ 5,04( 11,54 16,88 14,60:
Net loss from continuing operatio (13,277 (6,379 (77,579 (29,549 (40,067
Comprehensive (loss) incor (50,68¢) 38,47( (173,019 (77,519 (52,54%
Basic and diluted net loss per common share fromtirmaing
operations (0.3¢) (0.17) (2.19) (0.95) (1.89)
Basic and diluted weighted average number of shartsganding 37,06¢ 36,74: 35,597 31,24¢ 21,23:
As of December 31
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(amounts in thousands;
Total asset $346,58¢ $358,25¢ $ 448,80: $473,96! $307,08:
Long-term liabilities 63,61¢ 72,81¢ 112,90: 62,48¢ 13,34:
Shareholder equity 167,31 213,82 171,27: 276,05 264,60
Capital expenditures, including acquisitions 99,95 81,82« 152,44( 170,31 92,35¢

(1) Excludes seismic and other exploration expendit
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Item 7. Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations

We are an international oil and natural gas commgangaged in acquisition, exploration, developmeut groduction. We have focused
our operations in countries that have establishetyunderexplored, petroleum systems, are net itapoof petroleum, have an existing
petroleum transportation infrastructure and prova®rable commodity pricing, royalty rates and tates to exploration and production
companies. As of December 31, 2013, we held inteiasapproximately 1.9 million net acres of deysd and undeveloped oil and natural ga
properties in Turkey and Bulgaria. As of March @12, approximately 40% of our outstanding commaareh were beneficially owned by
N. Malone Mitchell 3rd, the chairman of our boafdlectors and our chief executive offic

2013 Financial and Operational Performance

» During 2013, we derived 74.1% of our oil and naltges sales revenues from the production of oil2518% from the production
of natural gas

» Total oil and natural gas sales revenues decreasgt27.3 million for 2013 from $134.1 million rézdd in 2012, excluding sales
purchased natural gas. The decrease was primiagilsesult of a decrease in sales volumes of 137eMishich was partially offset
by a $2.80 per Boe increase in the average salesgceived

* Wellhead production decreased to 942 net Mbbl lodimdl 3,932 net Mmcf of natural gas for 2013, coragdo 953 net Mbbl of oil
and 4,453 net Mmcf of natural gas for 20

* In 2013, we incurred $114.0 million in total cap#apenditures, including license acquisition, secsand corporate expenditures,
compared to $87.7 million in 201

» At December 31, 2013, our debt outstanding was8s6@llion.

Recent Developments
For information on our recent developments, seaniliL. Business—Recent Developments.”

Current Operations

During 2013, we implemented our three-part strategncrease production and cash flow in Turkeytheé Molla horizontal program,
(ii) the Selmo field redevelopment program, ani {iie Thrace Basin development program. For aoldlitiinformation on our current
operations, see “ltem 1. Business—Current Opersfion

Planned Operations

We continue to actively explore and develop oustxg oil and natural gas properties in Turkey Batharia. For more information on
our planned 2014 operations, see “ltem 1. Businédarned Operations.”

Critical Accounting Policies

Our discussion and analysis of our financial caaditind results of operations is based upon ousaatated financial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAR.pFaparation of these consolidated financial statés requires management to make
estimates and judgments that affect the reporteabata of assets, liabilities, revenue and expersabrelated disclosures. Our significant
accounting policies are described in “Note 2—Sigaifit accounting policies” to our consolidated fioial statements included in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. We have identified below pieicthat are of particular importance to the pgstaf our financial position and results of
operations and which require the application ofifigant judgment by management. These estimatebased on historical experience,
information received from third parties, and onieas other assumptions that are believed to b@nedde under the circumstances,
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the results of which form the basis for making judmts about the carrying values of assets andifiebithat are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from thesemates under different assumptions or condition

We believe the following critical accounting poéisiaffect the significant judgments and estimasesl in the preparation of our
consolidated financial statements.

Oil and Natural Gas Properties.In accordance with the successful efforts methagicobunting for oil and natural gas propertiestsos
of productive wells, developmental dry holes anadpictive leases are capitalized into appropriabegs of properties based on geographical
and geological similarities. Acquisition costs obped properties are amortized using the unit-ofdpction method based on total proved
reserves, and exploration well costs and additideaklopment costs are amortized using the ungrofluction method based on proved
developed reserves. Proceeds from the sale of piepare credited to property costs, and a galoss is recognized when a significant por
of an amortization base is sold or abandoned. Eafptm costs, such as exploratory geological araphygsical costs, delay rentals and
exploration overhead, are charged to expense ag@tt Exploratory drilling costs, including thestof stratigraphic test wells, are initially
capitalized but charged to exploration expensadfwahen the well is determined to be non-productiree determination of an exploratory
well’s ability to produce must be made within oreayfrom the completion of drilling activities. Thequisition costs of unproved acreage are
initially capitalized and are carried at cost, oeaccumulated impairment provisions, until suckskes are transferred to proved properties or
charged to exploration expense as impairments jpfawed properties.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets.We follow the provisions of Accounting Standardsd@ication (*“ASC”) 360,Property, Plant and
Equipmen(*ASC 360”). ASC 360 requires that our long-livessats be assessed for potential impairment of ¢aeiying values whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate sughirment may have occurred. Proved oil and nagiaalproperties are evaluated by field for
potential impairment. An impairment on proved pnoigs is recognized when the estimated undiscouteide net cash flows of a field are
less than its carrying value. If an impairment agscthe carrying value of the impaired field isuedd to its estimated fair value, which is
generally estimated using a discounted cash flqwagzh.

Unproved oil and natural gas properties do not lmeducing properties and are valued on acquiskiipmanagement, with the
assistance of an independent expert when necegsargserves are proved through the successful letioy of exploratory wells, the cost is
transferred to proved properties. The cost of &@meaining unproved basis is periodically evaluatedilanagement to assess whether the valu
of a property has diminished. To do this assessmeamagement considers (i) estimated potentiatvesend future net revenues from an
independent expert, (ii) the Company’s historyxplering the area, (iii) the Company'’s future dntj plans per its capital drilling program
prepared by the Company’s reservoir engineers pedations management, and (iv) other factors aattivith the area. Impairment is taken
on the unproved property value if it is determitieak the costs are not likely to be recoverable Wdluation is subjective and requires
management to make estimates and assumptions wiitbhthe passage of time, may prove to be matgnififferent from actual results.

Business CombinationsWe follow ASC 805Business Combinatiorf$ASC 805"), and ASC 810-10-6%;onsolidation(*ASC 810-10-
65"). ASC 805 requires most identifiable assetjilities, non-controlling interests, and goodwitiquired in a business combination to be
recorded at “fair value.” The statement appliealtd®usiness combinations, including combinatiom®ag mutual entities and combinations by
contract alone. Under ASC 805, all business continina will be accounted for by applying the acdiosi method.

Foreign Currency Translation and RemeasurementWe follow ASC 830Foreign Currency Matter§’ASC 830") which requires the
assets, liabilities, and results of operations fafraign operation to be measured using the funatiourrency of that foreign operation. The
functional currency for each of our subsidiaries in
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Turkey and Bulgaria is the local currency. For @erentities, translation adjustments result frbm process of translating the functional
currency of the foreign operation’s financial staémts into our U.S. Dollar reporting currency, whis a non-cash transaction. These
translation adjustments are reported separatelypecaimulated in the consolidated balance sheetcamponent of accumulated other
comprehensive loss.

ASC 830 requires the assets, liabilities, and tesifloperations of a foreign operation to be messusing the functional currency of t
foreign operation. Exchange gains or losses fromeasuring transactions and monetary accountgimrancy other than the functional
currency are included in earnings.

Goodwill. In accordance with ASC 35Mhtangibles-Goodwill and OthgfASC 350”), goodwill is not amortized, but is tedtfor
impairment on an annual basis at December 31, oe frequently as impairment indicators arise. AS0 fermits an entity to first assess
qualitative factors to determine whether it is midkely than not that the fair value of a reportimgit is less than its carrying amount as a basis
for determining whether it is necessary to perftmetwo-step goodwill impairment test. We asseslsedjualitative factors at December 31,
2013 and, based upon the results of the qualitageessment, we determined that it was not negessperform the two-step goodwill
impairment test and that our goodwill was not im@ai All of our goodwill is attributable to our Tkey operating segment.

Other Recent Accounting Pronouncements and ReportmRules

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Stand&mdrd (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards UpdagsU”) 2013-02,New
Disclosures for Items Reclassified Out of Accunaaladther Comprehensive Incoi(*ASU 2013-02"). ASU 2013-02 requires reclassifioat
adjustments for items that are reclassified o@ozumulated other comprehensive income to net iedonbe presented in the statements w
the components of net income and the componerathef comprehensive income are presented or ifotiirotes to the financial statements.
Additionally, the amendment requires cross-refeirento other disclosures currently required forestreclassification items. The amendments
were effective for interim and annual reportingipes beginning after December 15, 2012. We adaiiegrovisions of ASU 2013-02 as of
January 1, 2013. The adoption of ASU 2013-02 didhawe a material impact on our consolidated firgrstatements.

We have reviewed other recently issued, but noaglepted, accounting standards in order to deterihigir effects, if any, on our results
of operations, financial position and cash flowas&d on that review, we believe that none of thesent pronouncements will have a
significant effect on our current or future earrsray operations.
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Results of Operations—Year Ended December 31, 20Cbmpared to Year Ended December 31, 2012

Year Ended December 31 Change
2013 2012 20132012

(in thousands of U.S. Dollars
except per unit amounts and production
volumes)

Wellhead production:

Oil (Mbbl) 94z 95z (11
Natural gas (Mmcf 3,932 4,45 (521)
Total production (Mboe 1,597 1,69¢ (98)
Average daily wellhead production (Boeg 4,37¢ 4,631 (25€)
Sales volumes:
Oil (Mbbl) 93z 94¢ (16)
Natural gas (Mmcf 3,512 4,23¢ (72€)
Total sales volumes (Mbo 1,51¢ 1,65¢ (137)
Average daily sales volumes (Boej 4,15¢ 4,52 (363
Average sales prices
Oil (per Bbl) $ 101.0: $ 102.5¢ $ (1.59
Natural gas (per Mci $ 9.4C $ 8.6¢ $ 0.72
Oil equivalent (per Boe $ 83.8¢ $ 81.0¢ $ 2.8C
Revenues:
Oil and natural gas sal 127,27( 134,11: (6,847
Sale of purchased natural ¢ 2,581 7,88 (5,300
Other 97¢€ 1,91 (939
Total revenue: 130,82 143,90t (23,08:)
Costs and expense:
Production 18,60: 17,80 79¢
Exploration, abandonment and impairm 27,33 39,99¢ (12,660
Cost of purchased natural ¢ 2,241 7,69/ (5,447)
Seismic and other exploratic 14,00¢ 5,04( 8,96¢
Revaluation of contingent considerati (5,000 — (5,000
General and administrati 29,02( 33,94% (4,927
Depletion 38,99¢ 26,02« 12,97
Depreciation and amortizatic 2,32¢ 2,191 13t
Interest and other expen 3,92¢ 8,34( (4,41))
Foreign exchange loss (ga 9,66: (1,087 10,74¢
Loss on commodity derivative contracts
Cash settlements on commaodity derivative contt (3,52)) (3,829 30¢
Change in fair value on commodity derivative cocis: 823 (1,719 2,54z
Total loss on commodity derivative contra (2,699 (5,54¢) 2,85(
Oil and natural gas costs per Bo(:
Production $ 10.7: $ 9.4: $ 1.3
Depletion $ 22.4¢ $ 13.7i $ 8.71

(1) We have recalculated the oil and natural gassquer Boe for the year ended December 31, 20d&dban working interest
volumes before royalty deductions to conform taen-year presentatiol
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Oil and Natural Gas SalesExcluding sales of purchased natural gas, totardl natural gas sales decreased to $127.3 mitlig013,
from $134.1 million in 2012. Of this decrease, $1rillion resulted from a decrease in sales voluofels37 Mboe. Sales volumes decreased
primarily on our Thrace Basin wells due to highldecrates. This decrease was partially offsetiynarease of $4.3 million, attributable to
higher average realized prices per Boe resultiognfthe production of a higher percentage of oil dnedrealization of higher natural gas prices
Our average price received increased $2.80 to 8§88Boe in 2013, compared to $81.04 per Boe 220

Production. Production expenses for 2013 increased to $18l&mfrom $17.8 million in 2012. The increase wasarily attributable
to the sale of our oilfield services business ineJA012. Certain expenses that were classifiedtas¢ompany and eliminated upon
consolidation prior to the sale are now classifisahird party. Production expense per Boe incrb$3e30 to $10.72 per Boe in 2013,
compared to $9.42 per Boe in 2012. This increapénsarily attributable to a decrease in our prducvolumes during 2013 as compared to
2012, combined with a higher percentage of oil potidn, which has a higher production cost per Bampared to natural gas.

Exploration, Abandonment and Impairment. Exploration, abandonment and impairment costs @dsetto $27.3 million in 2013,
compared to $40.0 million for 2012. The decrease pranarily due to an $8.7 million decrease in exalory dry hole expense and a $4.0
million decrease in impairment and abandonment.magrity of our impairment and abandonment chagfeil 1.3 million in 2013 related to
our exploration licenses in Turkey. In 2012, impaént was taken on a portion of our proved propgrtieTurkey for $6.7 million and on our
exploration licenses in Turkey for $8.4 million. ditlonally, in 2013, nine wells were written off é&xploration, abandonment and impairment
for $16.0 million, compared to 16 wells which wevetten off in 2012 for $24.7 million.

Seismic and Other Exploration.Seismic and other exploration costs increased 400&illion for 2013, compared to $5.0 million for
2012. The increase was primarily due to seismicaitipn activities conducted on our West Molleaelise during 2013.

Revaluation of Contingent Consideration As a result of the Amendment to the Purchase Agee¢mith Direct, during 2013, we
recognized the reversal of a $5.0 million contirtdebility that was originally recorded in 2011.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expense decreased $4icnno $29.0 million for 2013, compared to $33.9
million for 2012. The decrease was primarily dua fecrease in employee-related costs of $2.1omiind a decrease in legal, accounting an
consultancy expense of $0.5 million. Employee-eglatosts decreased due to a reduction in head to261.3, and legal, accounting and
consultancy expenses decreased primarily due tintledy filing of our quarterly reports on Form I@for the quarters ended June 30, 2013
and September 30, 2013. Also contributing to thereese was a $2.0 million accrual for a contingeetated to our Aglen exploration permit
in Bulgaria, which was recognized during 2012. Témaining decrease of $0.3 million was attributableur overall cost reduction efforts.

Depletion. Depletion expense increased to $39.0 million2f@t3, compared to $26.0 million in 2012. The inseewas due primarily to
capital additions in the Selmo, Tekirdag, Goksu ktudla fields and to downward reserves revisionkiclv increased the depletion rates for
certain fields.

Interest and Other Expenselnterest and other expense decreased to $3.9 mitho2013, compared to $8.3 million for 2012. The
decrease was primarily due to a decrease in ouageealebt levels from 2013 to 2012. In June 20E2repaid $129.2 million of debt with
proceeds from the sale of our oilfield servicesitess.
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Foreign Exchange Loss (Gain)We recorded a foreign exchange loss of $9.7 miilio2013, compared to a gain of $1.1 million in 2(
The change in foreign exchange is primarily uneeali(non-cash) in nature and results from the rasoméng of specific transactions and
monetary accounts in a currency other than thetifiumal currency. For example, a U.S. Dollar tratisacwhich occurs in Turkey is re-
measured at the period-end to the New Turkish CFRY”) amount if it has not been settled previously. Treeéased foreign exchange los
2013 is due to a 19.7% decrease in value of the Edtivpared to the U.S. Dollar in 2013.

Loss on Commodity Derivative ContractsDuring 2013, we recorded a net loss on commoditywdive contracts of $2.7 million,
compared to a net loss of $5.5 million for 20122013, we recorded a $0.8 million gain to mark @ummodity derivative contracts to their
fair value and a $3.5 million loss on settled caats. In 2012, we recorded a $1.7 million loss skrour commodity derivative contracts to
their fair value and a $3.8 million loss on settteshtracts. We are required under our Amended astafed Credit Facility to hedge between
30% and 75% of our anticipated oil production voasin our oil fields in Turkey.

Discontinued Operations.All revenues and expenses associated with our Marooperations and oilfield services business @di32an(
2012 have been included in discontinued operatibns.results of operations for our Moroccan operetiand oilfield services business wer
follows:

Year Ended December 31
2013 2012
(in thousands)

Revenues:
Oil and natural gas sal $ — $ 68
Oilfield services — 19,88¢
Total revenues — 19,95¢
Costs and expense:
Production 17¢ 78¢
Oilfield services cost 25 12,95t
General and administrati 30z 10,93¢
Total costs and expense 50¢ 24,68:
Operating loss (505 (4,726
Other (expense) income
Interest and other expen (8 (15€)
Interest and other incon 71 562
Foreign exchange (los — (769
Total other income (expense 63 (357)
Loss before income taxes from discontinued operatis (442) (5,089
Gain on disposal of discontinued operati — 35,99¢
Income tax provisiol — (8,297)
Net (loss) income from discontinued operation $ (449 $ 22,61¢
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Results of Operations—Year Ended December 31, 20Cbmpared to Year Ended December 31, 2011

Year Ended December 31 Change
2012 2011 2012-2011

(in thousands of U.S. Dollars, except pe
unit amounts and production volumes)

Wellhead production:

Oil (Mbbl) 95z 89¢€ 57
Natural gas (Mmcf 4,45: 4,86 (419
Total production (Mboe 1,69 1,70% (12
Average daily wellhead production (Boeg 4,631 4,67 (46)
Sales volumes
Oil (Mbbl) 94¢ 891 58
Natural gas (Mmcf 4,23¢ 4,65 (419
Total sales volumes (Mbo 1,65¢ 1,667 (12
Average daily sales volumes (Boej 4,52 4,56 (45)
Average sales prices
Oil (per Bbl) $ 102.5¢ $ 100.2% $ 2.2¢
Natural gas (per Mci $ 8.6¢ $ 7.0t $ 1.68
Oil equivalent (per Boe $ 81.0¢ $ 74.4¢ $ 6.5€
Revenues:
Oil and natural gas sal 134,112 124,16. 9,951
Sale of purchased natural ¢ 7,88 2,66¢ 5,21¢
Other 1,918 2,07t (162
Total revenue: 143,90¢ 128,90! 15,00:¢
Costs and expenses:
Production 17,80« 18,47* (677)
Exploration, abandonment and impairm 39,99¢ 60,95: (20,959
Cost of purchased natural ¢ 7,694 2,64¢ 5,04¢
Seismic and other exploratic 5,04( 11,54: (6,502
Revaluation of contingent considerati — 6,00( (6,000
General and administrati 33,94% 36,30¢ (2,35¢)
Depletion 26,024 37,00 (20,980
Depreciation and amortizatic 2,191 2,00¢ 187
Interest and other expen 8,34( 13,66" (5,325
Foreign exchange (gain) lo (1,089 11,97: (13,056
Loss on commodity derivative contracts
Cash settlements on commaodity derivative contt (3,829 (4,859 1,02t
Change in fair value on commodity derivative cocis: (1,719 (3,572 1,85:
Total loss on commodity derivative contra (5,54%) (8,42¢) 2,87¢
Oil and natural gas costs per Bo(:
Production $ 9.4z $ 9.4¢ $ (0.09)
Depletion $ 13.7i $ 19.01 $ (5.29

(1)  We have recalculated the oil and natural gassqoer Boe for the years ended December 31, 20d2@l11 based on
working interest volumes before royalty deductibmsonform to currer-year presentatior
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Oil and Natural Gas Sales Excluding sales of purchased natural gas, tétainal natural gas sales increased to $134.1 milhd2012,
from $124.2 million in 2011. Of this increase, 8 fillion was the result of an increase in the agersales prices received and the sale of 5¢
additional Mbbl of oil in 2012. This increase wastilly offset by a decrease of $0.9 million ditriable to a decrease in our sales volumes o
12 Mboe to 1,655 Mboe for 2012, compared to 1,6®08lin 2011. Sales volumes decreased primarilyuwdBNG wells due to high decline
rates and less drilling activity for the year en@stember 31, 2012 compared to the same perio@lih. Dur average sales price received for
2012 was $81.04 per Boe, compared to $74.48 pef@@D11.

Production. Production expenses for 2012 decreased to $17l@®mifitom $18.5 million in 2011.

Exploration, Abandonment and Impairment. Exploration, abandonment and impairment costs @dsetto $40.0 million in 2012,
compared to $61.0 million for 2011. The decreass pramarily due to the impairment of our Bulgarjoperties of $25.9 million in 2011
following the ban on fracture stimulation enactgdhe Bulgarian Parliament in January 2012. Impaeirtrfor 2012 was taken on a portion of
our proved assets in Turkey for $6.7 million andooin exploration licenses in Turkey for $8.4 mitlidn 2011, sixteen wells were written of
exploratory dry hole expense for $26.8 million. Aauhally, we recorded impairment of approximat&f8.8 million on our properties in
Turkey in 2011, primarily driven by downward rewss in natural gas reserves in the Alpullu andriedfrelds. In 2012, 16 wells were written
off for $22.6 million, and a partial write-off ofwaell was expensed for $2.1 million.

Seismic and Other Exploration.Seismic and other exploration expense decreasgsl@million for 2012, compared to $11.5 milliorr
2011. The decrease was due to a reduction in thdewnof seismic data acquisition projects fromr22011 to eleven in 2012.

Revaluation of Contingent ConsiderationDuring 2011, we determined that there was an iseréathe likelihood that we may not be
able to complete one of our drilling obligationgu&ed as part of the Purchase Agreement with Rifdterefore, we increased our costs and
expenses by $6.0 million in 2011 to reflect ourgmbial future costs. There were no contingent a@rsition costs required during 2012.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expense decreased $ignno $33.9 million for 2012, compared to $36.3
million for 2011, primarily due to reductions in playee-related costs of $1.8 million, legal andcactting expenses of $2.0 million,
acquisition costs of $1.2 million and travel cast$0.3 million. Employee-related costs decreasgsitd reductions in head count. Legal and
accounting expenses were higher in the comparabledin 2011 due to the late filing of our AnniReéport on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2010 and our quarterly Report on Fdi+® for the three months ended March 31, 2011h#éno acquisitions during the year
ended 2012, compared to two acquisitions duringséime period in 2011. This decrease was partiffygioby increases of $2.0 million for a
contingency related to our Aglen exploration perimiBulgaria and $1.7 million as a result of TBN@&iry included for a full twelve months in
2012. The remaining decrease of $0.8 million wasbatable to our overall cost reduction efforts.

Depletion. Depletion expense decreased to $26.0 million fd22@ompared to $37.0 million in 2011. The decrewas due primarily to
a reduction in our depletable basis in the Alpalhd Edirne fields, which was partially offset byddbns in the Molla, Goksu and Tekirdag
fields. The overall decrease was partially offgetibwnward reserves revisions and lower sales vefymwhich increased the depletion rate:
certain fields.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization expense increas&@ @ million for 2012, compared to $2.0 million in
2011.

Interest and Other Expenselnterest and other expense decreased to $8.3 mitio2012, compared to $13.7 million for 2011. The
decrease was primarily due to the decrease inutstanding debt. At December 31, 2012, our totédtanding debt was approximately $32.8
million, compared to $158.7 million at December 2Q11.
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Foreign Exchange (Gain) Loss We recorded a foreign exchange gain of $1.1 onilln 2012, compared to a loss of $12.0 million in
2011. The change in foreign exchange is primarisealized (non-cash) in nature and results fronréhmeasuring of specific transactions anc
monetary accounts in a currency other than thetifumal currency. For example, a U.S. Dollar tratisacwhich occurs in Turkey is re-
measured at the period-end to the TRY amounhifis not been settled previously. The change ingorexchange is primarily due to the
increase in value of the TRY compared to the U@ldbin 2012.

Loss on Commodity Derivative ContractsDuring 2012, we recorded a net loss on commoditywdive contracts of $5.5 million,
compared to a net loss of $8.4 million for 20112012, we recorded a $1.7 million loss to mark@ammodity derivative contracts to their 1
value and a $3.8 million loss on settled contrdat2011, we recorded a $3.6 million loss to mavk commodity derivative contracts to their
fair value and a $4.9 million loss on settled caats. We are required under our Amended and Rddtatslit Facility to hedge between 30%
and 75% of our anticipated production volumes s 3elmo and Arpatepe oil fields in Turkey.

Discontinued Operations.All revenues and expenses associated with our Marooperations and oilfield services business @d22anc
2011 have been included in discontinued operatibns.results of operations for our Moroccan operetiand oilfield services business wer
follows:

Year Ended December 31
2012 2011
(in thousands)

Revenues:
Oil and natural gas sal $ 68 $ 217
Oilfield services 19,88¢ 28,20:
Total revenues 19,95¢ 28,41¢

Costs and expense:
Production 78¢ 92¢
Exploration, abandonment and impairm — 23,16:
Seismic and other exploratic — 67
Oilfield services cost 12,95¢ 24,15;
General and administrati 10,93¢ 10,04¢
Depreciation, depletion and amortizat — 11,90z
Accretion — 1
Total costs and expense 24,68 70,26

Operating loss 4,72¢ (41,849

Other (expense) income

Interest and other expen (15€) (474)
Interest and other incon 562 11€
Foreign exchange (loss) g¢ (763 3,09(
Total other (expense) incom (357) 2,732
Loss before income taxes from discontinued operatis (5,08?%) (39,119
Gain on disposal of discontinued operati 35,99¢ —
Income tax provisiol 8,297 (4,25
Net income (loss) from discontinued operation $22,61¢ $ (43,369
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Capital Expenditures

For 2013, we incurred $114.0 million in total capixpenditures, including license acquisitionssg¢ and corporate expenditures,
compared to $87.7 million for 2012. The increasedpital expenditures was primarily due to increladig@lling and completion activities in the
Selmo field and the seismic acquisition activitesducted in southeastern Turkey in 2013. We expearchet field capital expenditures for
2014, which includes seismic, to range betweentd@bd $100.0 million.

We expect net field capital expenditures duringf@iconsist of approximately $76.0 million of drig and completion expense for
between 33 and 49 gross wells, $4.0 million ofra@sexpense and $8.5 million of infrastructure imy@ments and other capital investments.
Of these expenditures, we expect to spend appréeiynd5% in northwestern Turkey, devoted to devigigronventional and unconventional
natural gas production and building infrastructiviest of the remaining 85% of these anticipatedegexjitures is expected to be invested in
southeastern Turkey, devoted to drilling developtalesmd exploratory oil wells at Selmo, Arpatepe dvolla and acquiring seismic data. We
expect cash on hand, borrowings from our creditifi@s, including our planned debt refinancingdasash flow from operations will be
sufficient to fund our 2014 net field capital expéares. If not, we will either curtail our discigbary capital expenditures or seek other fun
sources. Our projected 2014 capital expenditurgéuid subject to change.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary sources of liquidity for 2013 were @ash and cash equivalents and borrowings undeimended and Restated Credit
Facility and TBNG credit facility. At December 31013, we had cash and cash equivalents of $12l@mi$26.5 million in long-term debt,
$43.3 million in short-term debt and a working ¢apdeficit of $39.4 million (excluding assets drabilities held for sale, deferred income
taxes and derivative liabilities), compared to casti cash equivalents of $14.8 million, $32.8 wiilin long-term debt, no short-term debt anc
working capital of $10.6 million at December 3112(excluding assets and liabilities held for sdkferred income taxes and derivative
liabilities). Cash provided by operating activitfiesm continuing operations during 2013 was $68ilian, compared to cash provided by
operating activities from continuing operationssé®.3 million in 2012.

Cash used in investing activities from continuipgiations during 2013 increased to $105.1 millmmpared to cash used in investing
activities from continuing operations of $69.9 ioifi in 2012, due primarily to higher additions iband natural gas properties and equipment
and other properties in 2013. Additionally, casbvisted by financing activities from continuing opions was $37.0 million in 2013,
compared to cash used in financing activities framtinuing operations of $125.7 million in 2012 eduimarily to higher borrowings in 2013
and higher loan repayments in 2012.

As of December 31, 2013, the outstanding princgpabunt of our debt was $69.8 million. In additiorcash, cash equivalents and cash
flow from operations, at December 31, 2013, we diadmended and Restated Credit Facility and a tcfacility with a Turkish bank, both of
which are discussed below.

Amended and Restated Credit FaciligMLP, TEMI, Talon Exploration, TransAtlantic Tuglk, Amity and Petrogas are Borrowers ur
the Amended and Restated Credit Facility. Eaclh@Borrowers is our wholly owned subsidiary. Theekled and Restated Credit Facility is
guaranteed by TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. and edidfransAtlantic Petroleum (USA) Corp. and TraraAtic Worldwide.
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The amount drawn under the Amended and Restateatit Caility may not exceed the lesser of (i) $26@ullion, (i) the borrowing bas
amount at such time, (iii) the aggregate commitmehiall lenders at such time, and (iv) any amdoortowed from an individual lender to the
extent it exceeds the aggregate amount of sucketeniddividual commitment. At December 31, 201® tenders had aggregate commitment:
of $67.5 million, with individual commitments of 335 million each. On the last day of each fisearter commencing December 31, 2013
and at the maturity date, the lenders’ commitmantssubject to reduction according to the followsehedule:

Commitment

End of Period Amount

December 2013 $67,500,00
March 2014 60,000,00
June 201 52,000,00
September 201 45,000,00
December 201 37,500,00
March 201& 30,000,00
June 201! 22,500,00
September 201 15,000,00
December 201 7,500,001
March 201€ 0

The borrowing base was re-determined semi-annoallpril 1st and October 1st of each year prioséptember 30, 2012, and is now
re-determined quarterly on January 1st, April Isly 1st and October 1st of each year. Followingbmuirowing base redetermination on
October 1, 2013, our borrowing base at Decembe2@13 was $50.6 million. The borrowing base amaapials, for any calculation date, the
lowest of:

» the debt value which results in the field life ccage ratio for such calculation date being 1.50.69;
» the debt value which results in the loan life cager ratio for such calculation date being 1.30.6®;1and
» the debt value which results in a debt service @meeratio for any calculation period being 1.23 100.

The Amended and Restated Credit Facility maturetherarlier of (i) May 18, 2016, or (ii) the lakite of the borrowing base calculat
period that immediately precedes the date thasén@-annual report of Standard Bank and the Borrewtetermines that the aggregate amour
of hydrocarbons to be produced from the borrowiagebassets in Turkey are less than 25% of the ambagdrocarbons to be produced from
the borrowing base assets shown in the initial tigpr@pared by Standard Bank and the Borrowers.Arhended and Restated Credit Facility
bears various letter of credit sub-limits, incluglmmong other things, sub-limits of up to (i) $16ion, (ii) the aggregate available unused
and uncancelled portion of the lenders’ commitment§ii) any amount borrowed from an individuahter to the extent it exceeds the
aggregate amount of such lender’s individual commaitt.

Loans under the Amended and Restated Credit Baaditrue interest at a rate of three-month LIBOES f1.50% per annum (5.74% at
December 31, 2013). The Borrowers are also requirgay (i) a commitment fee payable quarterlyriears at a per annum rate equal to
(&) 2.20% per annum of the unused and uncancetigibp of the aggregate commitments that is leaa tr equal to the maximum available
amount under the Amended and Restated Credit &acihd (b) 1.10% per annum of the unused and wetled portion of the aggregate
commitments that exceed the maximum available atnancher the Amended and Restated Credit Facilityismot available to be borrowed,
(ii) on the date of issuance of any letter of crealifronting fee in an amount equal to 0.25% efdhiginal maximum amount to be drawn unde
such letter of credit and (iii) a per annum letiEcredit fee for each letter of credit issued édqodhe face amount of such letter of credit
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multiplied by (a) 1.0% for any letter of credit tha cash collateralized or backed by a standhigreff credit issued by a financial institution
acceptable to Standard Bank or (b) 5.50% for &lképtetters of credit.

The Amended and Restated Credit Facility is sechyea pledge of (i) the local collection accoums affshore collection accounts of
each of the Borrowers, (i) the receivables payadleach of the Borrowers, (iii) the shares of eBolrower and (iv) substantially all of the
present and future assets of the Borrowers.

The Borrowers are required to comply with certaimaificial and non-financial covenants under the Ateenand Restated Credit Facility,
including maintaining the following financial rai@uring the four most recently completed fiscargers occurring on or after March 31,
2011:

» ratio of combined current assets to combined cufi@pilities of not less than 1.10 to 1.C

» ratio of EBITDAX (less non-discretionary capitalpenditures) to aggregate amounts payable undekrttended and Restated
Credit Facility of not less than 1.50 to 1.

» ratio of EBITDAX (less no-discretionary capital expenditures) to interestemge of not less than 4.00 to 1.00;
» ratio of total debt to EBITDAX of less than 2.501®0.

The Amended and Restated Credit Facility defineSTBBX as net income (excluding extraordinary iterpf)s, to the extent deductec
calculating such net income, (i) interest expersel(ding interest paid-in-kind, or non-cash ingtrexpense and interest incurred on certain
subordinated intercompany debt or interest on gagaitapitalized into subordinated debt), (ii) in@tax expense, (iii) depreciation, depletion
and amortization expense, (iv) amortization ofmigtiales and organization costs, (v) any extraomginanusual or non-recurring non-cash
expenses or losses, (vi) expenses incurred in ctionevith oil and gas exploration activities ewiginto in the ordinary course of business
(including related drilling, completion, geologiaaid geophysical costs), (vii) transaction costpeases and fees incurred in connection with
the negotiation, execution and delivery of the Admhand Restated Credit Facility and the relatad Bocuments, and (vii) any other ncast
charges (including dry hole expenses and seisniereses, to the extent such expenses would be lcagia minus, to the extent included in
calculating net income, (a) any extraordinary, wal®r non-recurring income or gains (includingingaon the sales of assets outside of the
ordinary course of business) and (b) any othergast income or gains.

Pursuant to the terms of the Amended and Restaedit@acility, until amounts under the Amended &astated Credit Facility are
repaid, each of the Borrowers shall not, and staalse each of its subsidiaries not to, in each sasject to certain exceptions (i) incur
indebtedness or create any liens, (ii) enter inpagreements that prohibit the ability of any Baver or its subsidiaries to create any liens,
(iii) enter into any merger, consolidation or anaaiwation, liquidate or dissolve, (iv) dispose of angperty or business, (v) pay any dividends,
distributions or similar payments to shareholdér$,make certain types of investments, (vii) entéo any transactions with an affiliate,

(viii) enter into a sale and leaseback arrangenfeftengage in any business or business actigityn any assets or assume any liabilities or
obligations except as necessary in connection witheasonably related to, its business as amdihatural gas exploration and production
company or operate or carry on business in angdigtion outside of Turkey or its jurisdiction afrfnation, (x) change its organizational
documents, (xi) permit its fiscal year to end cshagt other than December 31st or change its methddtermining fiscal quarters, or alter the
accounting principles it uses, (xii) modify cert&iydrocarbon licenses and agreements or matemalazis, (xiii) enter into any hedge
agreement for speculative purposes or (xiv) opanaintain new deposit, securities or commodity aots.

An event of default under the Amended and Resi@tedit Facility includes, among other events, f&lto pay principal or interest when
due, breach of certain covenants and obligatiamssadefault to other indebtedness, bankruptcpsmivency, failure to meet the required
financial covenant ratios and the occurrence ohgenal adverse effect. In addition, the occurresfca change of control is an event of default
A change of
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control is defined as the occurrence of any offtlewing: (i) our failure to own, of record and ibeficially, all of the equity of the Borrowers
or any Guarantor or to exercise, directly or indile day-to-day management and operational cowotrahy Borrower or Guarantor; (ii) the
failure by the Borrowers to own or hold, directlyindirectly, all of the interests granted to Bawers pursuant to certain hydrocarbon licenses
designated in the Amended and Restated Creditifyacit (iii) (2) Mr. Mitchell ceases for any reasto be the executive chairman of our boart
of directors at any time, (b) Mr. Mitchell and a@rt of his affiliates cease to own of record anddfeially at least 35% of our common shares;
or (c) any person or group, excluding Mr. Mitcheatid certain of his affiliates, shall become, omabtights to become, the beneficial owner,
directly or indirectly, of more than 35% of our st&nding common shares entitled to vote for memdieosir board of directors on a fully-
diluted basis. Provided that, if Mr. Mitchell ceage be executive chairman of our board of direchyr reason of his death or disability, such
event shall not constitute an event of default sgil@e have not appointed a successor reasonalggtabte to the lenders within 60 days of the
occurrence of such event.

Under the terms of the Amended and Restated Cfaditity, we are required to provide our auditedsaidated financial statements for
the year ended December 31, 2013 to the lendelddogh 31, 2014, and we are required to provideBiwrowers’ unaudited financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 20the tenders by April 30, 2014.

At December 31, 2013, the Borrowers had borrowedd8illion under the Amended and Restated Creatiilfy and had availability of
$0.8 million under the Amended and Restated Ciealiility. Pursuant to the Amended and RestatediCredility, TEMI entered into costless
derivative contracts and three-way collar contragth Standard Bank and BNP Paribas, which hedgeptite of oil during 2013, 2014 and
2015. See “ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitativedlosures about Market Risk—Commaodity Price Riskdur borrowing base is increasec
the future, we would be required under the Ameratati Restated Credit Facility to hedge additionéiwmes of oil.

We are currently in the process of refinancingAngended and Restated Credit Facility. In Januafy42e executed a mandate letter
with two financial institutions. We expect to corad the refinancing in the second quarter of 20e are unable to complete the refinanc
of our Amended and Restated Credit Facility, we i@urtail certain discretionary expenditures, aetleve our resulting cash flow from
operations and existing cash on hand are suffit@obnduct our operations through 2014 and meetantractual obligations.

At December 31, 2013, we were not in compliancé Biéction 8.17(a) of our Amended and Restated Credility, which requires the
Borrowers to maintain a current ratio of not ldssnt 1.10:1.0. The lenders have granted the Borweraiver on the current ratio requiremen
through March 31, 2015.

TBNG Credit Facility. On June 18, 2013, TBNG entered into a 78.8 milli®Y (approximately $36.9 million at December 3Q13)
unsecured line of credit with a Turkish bank, ofieth60 million TRY is available in cash for TBNG 8.8 million TRY is available in the
form of non-cash bank guarantees and letters ditdie TBNG and several other of our wholly owrsdbsidiaries operating in Turkey. The
interest rate will be established at the time ahdaorrowing. We have made two borrowings undexr ¢hédit facility, on October 9, 2013 and
November 5, 2013, each of which has a-year term at a fixed interest rate of 4.6% per amniit maturity, we expect to renew the borrowi
for one additional year at then current marketregerates. As of December 31, 2013, we had bodd@26.0 million under this credit facility.
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Contractual Obligations
The following table presents a summary of our ceitral obligations at December 31, 2013:

Payments Due By Yeal
(in thousands)

Total 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Thereafter
Debt $69,76¢ $43,28: $20,74( $5,74z2 $— $— $ —
Leases and othi 5,60z 2,54¢€ 903 29¢ 99 33 1,722
Total $75,36¢ $45,83( $21,64: $6,041 $ 99 $ 33 $ 1,72

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We did not have any off-balance sheet arrangenag¢mecember 31, 2013.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures &out Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk from changes inéstentes, foreign currency exchange and hedgingasts. A discussion of the marl
risk exposures follows. Our market risk sensitivgtiuments were entered into for hedging and imvest purposes, not for trading purposes.

Interest Rate Risk

At December 31, 2013, our exposure to interestaladeges related primarily to floating rate bornogg under our Amended and Resti
Credit Facility. At December 31, 2013, we had $48iBion in outstanding borrowings under the Ameddad Restated Credit Facility. The
interest we pay on borrowings under the AmendedRestated Credit Facility is equal to three-montBQ@QR plus 5.50% per annum (5.74% at
December 31, 2013). A hypothetical 10% changeéririkerest rates we pay on the Amended and Restaatit Facility as of December 31,
2013 would result in an increase or decrease innberest costs of approximately $0.3 million peay:

Foreign Currency Risk

We are subject to changes in foreign currency exglaates as a result of our operations in fore@mtries. The assets, liabilities and
results of operations of our foreign operationsraeasured using the functional currency of suckidor operation. The functional currency for
each of our subsidiaries in Turkey and Bulgarignéslocal currency. As a result, translation adpesits will result from the process of
translating the functional currency of our foremperation’s financial statements into the U.S. Brofkporting currency, which is a non-cash
transaction. Such non-cash translation adjustneatismulate on our consolidated balance sheets@mponent of accumulated other
comprehensive loss and are recorded in our coradeticsstatements of comprehensive income (loss).

The functional currency of our operations in Turley Bulgaria is the New Turkish Lira and the Buiga Lev, respectively. The
exchange rates used to translate the financiatiposf our Turkish and Bulgarian operations at @aber 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 are showr
below:

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
New Turkish Lira per $1.00 U.S. Doll 2.134: 1.782¢ 1.888¢
Bulgarian Lev per $1.00 U.S. Doll 1.421¢ 1.4821 1.510:

We are also subject to foreign currency exposusesrasult of our operations in the other foreigantries in which we operate. We
record foreign exchange (gain) loss on our conatdidl statements of comprehensive
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income (loss) as a component of other (expensejmedor gains and losses which result fronm@asuring transactions and monetary acct
into our functional currency in earnings. The chaimgforeign exchange (gain) loss is primarily @wiized (noneash) in nature and results frc
the re-measuring of specific transactions and nawpetccounts in a currency other than the functionaency. For example, a U.S. Dollar
transaction which occurs in Turkey is re-measutdti@period-end to the TRY amount if it has nagrbeettled previously. For 2013 and 2012
we recorded a foreign exchange loss of $9.7 mikind a foreign exchange gain of $1.1 million, resipely. We estimate that a 10% chang
the exchange rates would impact such cash balamckesur net loss by approximately $0.8 million. Wae not used foreign currency forward
contracts to manage exchange rate fluctuations.

Commodity Price Risk

Our revenues are derived from the sale of oil aatdnal gas. The prices for oil and natural gasateemely volatile and sometimes
experience large fluctuations as a result of nedifismall changes in supplies, weather conditiensnomic conditions and government
actions.

Pursuant to our Amended and Restated Credit Bgdiliteast one of the Borrowers is required tont@én commaodity derivative
contracts with Standard Bank and BNP Paribas. resalt, TEMI has entered into costless collar dmdd-way collar derivative contracts with
Standard Bank and BNP Paribas to hedge the prio#. #fursuant to our Amended and Restated Crexiiliey, we cannot enter into hedge
agreements that, when aggregated with any otheobgtbon hedge agreement then in effect, coveisrmadtvolumes in excess of 75% of the
reasonably projected production volumes attrib@tablour proved developed reserves. The derivatiwéracts economically hedge against the
variability in cash flows associated with the fasted sale of our future oil production. While thse of the hedging arrangements will limit the
downside risk of adverse price movements, it mag Amit future gains from favorable movements.

The costless collars provide us with a lower litfidor” price and an upper limit “ceiling” price othe hedged volumes. The floor price
represents the lowest price we will receive fortibdged volumes while the ceiling price represtmsighest price we will receive for the
hedged volumes. The costless collars are settledhtyo These contracts may or may not involve paynoe receipt of cash at inception,
depending on the ceiling and floor pricing.

The three-way collar contracts consist of a puretigmit, a sold call and a purchased call. The et put establishes a lower limit
“floor” price, the sold call establishes an uppenit “ceiling” price and the purchased call estabbs a “second floor” price on the hedged
volumes. The three-way collar contracts requirecmumnterparty to pay us if the settlement pricedfioy settlement period is below the floor
price. We are required to pay our counterpartiiéf $ettlement price for any settlement period @vatihe ceiling price but below the second
floor price, and our counterparty is required tg pa if the settlement price for any settlementqakis above the second floor price. Neither
party is required to make a payment to the othay iathe settlement price for any settlement péris equal to or greater than the floor price
and equal to or less than the ceiling price. Tihegiway collar contracts are settled monthly.

We have elected not to designate our derivativaniiml instruments as hedges for accounting pugy@sel accordingly, we record such
contracts at fair value and recognize changesdh fair value in current earnings as they occur.rééegnize gains and losses related to thes
contracts on a mark-to-market basis in our conat#id statements of comprehensive income (loss)rihdeaption “Loss on commodity
derivative contracts.” Cash settlements of deragationtracts are included in operating activitinsoar consolidated statements of cash flows.
All of our oil derivative contracts are settled édsipon Brent crude oil pricing. If commodity psogecrease, this commodity price change
could have a positive impact to our earnings. Coselg, if commodity prices increase, this commodgitice change could have a negative
effect on our earnings. Each derivative contraeveluated separately to determine its own fameaDuring 2013, we recorded a net loss on
commodity derivative contracts of $2.7 million. Weeorded a net loss on commodity derivative cotgrat$5.5 million in 2012.
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The following tables summarize our outstanding camity derivatives contracts with respect to ouufatoil production as of
December 31, 2013:

Weighted
Weighted Average Estimated Fair
Quantity Average Maximum Price
Minimum Value of
Type Period (Bbl/day) Price (per Bbl _ (perBb) __Liability
(in thousands)
Collar January 1, 204—December 31, 20: 622 $ 80.8:¢ $  118.0: $ (387)
$ (389
Collars Additional Call
Weighted
Average
Minimum Weighted Weighted Estimated Fair
Quantity Average Average
Price Maximum Maximum Value of
Type Period (Bbl/day) (per Bbl) Price (per Bbl) Price (per Bbl) Liability
(in thousands)
Three-way collar contract January 1, 2014
December 31, 20: 72€ $ 85.0( $ 97.1: $ 162.1: $ (3,350
Three-way collar contract January 1, 2015
December 31, 20: 1,01¢ $ 85.0( $ 91.8¢ $ 151.8¢ (4,320)

$(7,580

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
See Index to Financial Statements on page F-1.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Account&mon Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Iltem 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures are designedduore that information required to be disclosestports filed or submitted under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarizedregnorted within the time periods specified in 8#C's rules and forms. Disclosure
controls and procedures include, without limitafioantrols and procedures designed to ensurerfaatiation required to be disclosed in our
reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Aetdcumulated and communicated to managementdinglour chief executive officer and
our chief financial officer, as appropriate to allimely decisions regarding required disclosure.

As of December 31, 2013, management carried oataluation, under the supervision and with theigiggtion of our chief executive
officer and chief financial officer, of the effeetiness of our disclosure controls and procedurased@upon the evaluation, our chief executive
officer and chief financial officer concluded thas of December 31, 2013, our disclosure contradsprocedures were not effective because c
the material weaknesses described below.

Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@gaorting. Internal control over
financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15&¢f) 15d-15(f) under the
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Exchange Act, is a process designed by, or un@esupervision of, the chief executive officer ahge€financial officer, or persons performi
similar functions, and effected by the board oédiors, management and other personnel, to proga®nable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the prepacet of financial statements for external purpogeadcordance with U.S. GAAP and includes
those policies and procedures that (i) pertaiméomaintenance of records that in reasonable detailrately and fairly reflect the transactions
and dispositions of assets, (ii) provide reasonab$irance that transactions are recorded as aecéspermit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, (iii) pdeweasonable assurance that receipts and expergldre being made only in accordance
with appropriate authorizations of management aedobard of directors, and (iv) provide reasonalkurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or di#m of assets that could have a material effacthe financial statements.

Because of inherent limitations, internal contreéiofinancial reporting may not prevent or dete@statements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions or the
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

Our management, under the supervision and witlpainécipation of our chief executive officer andeftfinancial officer, conducted an
evaluation of the effectiveness of our internaltooirover financial reporting based on the framewand criteria established internal Contro
- Integrated Framework (1992ssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe Treadway Commission. Based on its evalnatio
our management concluded that our internal cootret financial reporting was not effective as otBmber 31, 2013 because of the
identification of the material weaknesses identifoelow.

A material weakness (as defined in Rule 12b-2 utfte=Exchange Act) is a deficiency, or combinatbdeficiencies, in internal control
over financial reporting such that there is a reabte possibility that a material misstatementunannual or interim financial statements will
not be prevented or detected on a timely basish&ve identified the material weaknesses describémhb

* We have not designed and implemented effectivenateontrols over the remeasurement and translatiour foreign
subsidiaries’ account balances. Specifically, wieeined that controls over the selection of foneigrrency rates used in the
translation of the financial statements of our slieses operating in Turkey, whose functional emey is the New Turkish Lira,
were ineffective. As a result of this material weags, management recorded adjustments to impaiewpanse, foreign exchange

gain (loss), and foreign currency translation amjiest balances in our preliminary consolidatedrfoial statements for the year
ended December 31, 201

* We have not designed and implemented effectiveriatecontrols to sufficiently consider all inforn@at necessary to ensure proper
classification and presentation within our consatiédl financial statements. Specifically, contralerahe proper classification of
account balances and transactions within the cilaet balance sheet and statement of comprehdnsive (loss), including
gross as compared to net presentation, were rextfiely designed. As a result of this material kresss, management recorded
material classification adjustments in our preliarinconsolidated financial statements for the yeated December 31, 2013, and
managemer's determination of compliance with debt covenardas adversely affecte

As a result of these two material weaknesses, iber@easonable possibility that a material misst@nt of our annual or interim
consolidated financial statements will not be préed or detected on a timely basis.

The effectiveness of our internal control over fioil reporting as of December 31, 2013 has beditealby KPMG LLP, the
independent registered public accounting firm thatited our consolidated financial statementstated in their reports on pages F-2 and F-3
of this Form 10-K.
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Management'’s Plan for Remediation of Our Material Weaknesses

As a result of the errors in foreign currency tfatisn, we have implemented a more comprehensivieweof the impact of foreign
currency rates in our review processes, startirtgerfirst quarter of 2014. While improvements aced throughout 2013, we continue to find
errors related to the selection of foreign curreratgs used in translating the financial statemehtair subsidiaries operating in Turkey.
Management expects remediation efforts in 2014tdicue to improve our internal control over fineeeporting.

Many of the underlying causes of the ineffectivatoals over proper classification and presentadigisted prior to 2013, and
management has worked diligently to identify anaipgrly account for these transactions in 2013. Weet to implement more specific
controls over account balances which fluctuate betwshort and long-term, and within our accourdit@ds in the statement of comprehensiv
income (loss).

We expect to continue to automate and streamlinewmting processes where possible, improve docwtientand training and continue
to monitor the performance of control activitieshimth our Istanbul, Turkey and Addison, Texas efficFinally, we expect to implement a fully
integrated SAP accounting system that will autoraaay of the manual calculations and tasks we ntlyreerform in our financial closing
process and that will include additional controlsiat will be built into the software in 2014. Wepexct to implement the new accounting
system by the end of 2014.

In addition, our chief executive officer and chiigfancial officer plan to regularly meet with owgrsor accounting staff to monitor
progress, identify continuing deficiencies and makg necessary adjustments to personnel or ourtplansure the effective implementatior
remedial measures.

While we believe that the above remediation plahnesult in the remediation of our material weakses in 2014, there is no assurance
that these efforts will be sufficient and that digdaial remedial efforts will not be necessary.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

During the quarter ended December 31, 2013, assied below, we implemented more robust and corapsaie management review
procedures.

We reported six material weaknesses as of DeceBihe@2012. Because of significant remediation e$fonede by management, the
number of material weaknesses has been reducea tastof December 31, 2013. Management has stremedhour internal control over
financial reporting and focused on addressing antkdiating the identified deficiencies in our presress which contributed to the material
weaknesses identified in 2012. Our chief finanoféiter met regularly with our senior accountingféto monitor the progress of our plan to
ensure the effective implementation of remedial sness. During 2013, we developed and implemente® motoust and comprehensive
management review procedures, controls, desk msraradl checklists as part of our internal contrafework.

As of December 31, 2013, management has suffieidence to conclude that remediation has been letetpfor five of the material
weaknesses which were reported as of Decembel032, Plowever, based upon management’s assessmatgrofl control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2013, managementifehanother material weakness related to classifin and presentation, which arose
during the fourth quarter of 2013.

There were no additional changes in our internatrab over financial reporting that occurred durthg quarter ended December 31, -
that have materially affected, or are reasonakbjyjito materially affect, our internal control af@ancial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.
None.
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PART IlI

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpora¢ Governance

Certain information required in response to thésntl0 is contained under the heading “Executivéc&f$ of the Registrant” in Part | of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Other informati@guired in response to this Item 10 is incorpatdterein by reference to our definitive
proxy statement to be filed with the SEC pursuarRégulation 14A promulgated under the Exchange dattlater than 120 days after the end
of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Reporfanm 10-K.

Code of Business Conduct

We have adopted a code of ethics that applied tuabfficers, directors and employees, including principal executive officer,
principal financial officer, principal accountindficer and controller. The full text of our Code @dnduct is published on our website at
www.transatlanticpetroleum.copon the Corporate Governance page under the AbbuwWe intend to disclose future amendments ticer
provisions of the Code of Conduct, or waivers aftsprovisions granted to executive officers anédators, on our website within four busin
days following the date of such amendment or waiver

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required in response to this Itetrislincorporated herein by reference to our difimiproxy statement to be filed with
the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A promulgated utideExchange Act not later than 120 days afteretid of the fiscal year covered by this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @Qvners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter

The information required in response to this Ite2rislincorporated herein by reference to our difimiproxy statement to be filed with
the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A promulgated utieeExchange Act not later than 120 days afteretid of the fiscal year covered by this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transa&ns, and Director Independence

The information required in response to this Ite3rislincorporated herein by reference to our dfi@iproxy statement to be filed with
the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A promulgated utideExchange Act not later than 120 days afteretid of the fiscal year covered by this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required in response to this Itefrislincorporated herein by reference to our dfimiproxy statement to be filed with
the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A promulgated utieeExchange Act not later than 120 days afteretid of the fiscal year covered by this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) Documents filed as part of the Rept

1. Reports of Independent Registered Public Accourfings
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&01301:
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive IncomssjLfor the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012@tt
Consolidated Statements of Equity for the yeargedrdecember 31, 2013, 2012 and 2
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yaaded December 31, 2013, 2012 and =
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statems
2. Exhibits required to be filed by Item 601 of Rediga S-K

The exhibits required to be filed by this Item 18 aet forth in the Exhibit Index accompanying ttegort.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatyp authorized.

March 13, 2014
TRANSATLANTIC PETROLEUM LTD.
/ s/ N. M ALONE M ITCHELL 31

N. Malone Mitchell 3
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#tes indicated.

Signature Capacity Date

/SI N. MALONE M ITCHELL 3™ Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (Princi March 13, 201
Executive Officer)

N. Malone Mitchell 3

IS/ WIiL F. SAQUETON Chief Financial Officer March 13, 201
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Wil F. Saqueton Accounting Officer/Controller)
/S/ BoB G. A LEXANDER Director March 13, 201

Bob G. Alexander

IS/ BRIAN E. BAYLEY Director March 13, 201
Brian Bayley
/S! CHARLES J. CAMPISE Director March 13, 201

Charles J. Campise

IS/ M ARLAN W. D owNEY Director March 13, 201

Marlan W. Downey

IS/ GReGORYK. R ENwICK Director March 13, 201

Gregory K. Renwick

IS/ MELG. RiGcGs Director March 13, 201

Mel G. Riggs
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. and sliéses (the Company) as of
December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related cdasedl statements of comprehensive income (lossityeand cash flows for each of the
years in the tw-year period then ended. These consolidated fiahatatements are the responsibility of the Comjzamanagement. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesgsotidated financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those standard:s
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether the finataieiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on Blasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digds in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princied and significant estimates made by managenenelaas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegreferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the financial position of the
Company as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, ana¢huéts of their operations and their cash flowsefaech of the years in the two-year period
then ended, in conformity with U.S. generally a¢edpaccounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), TransAtlantic
Petroleum Ltd. and subsidiaries’ internal contnetiofinancial reporting as of December 31, 2013¢llzon criteria establishedlimernal
Control — Integrated Framework (199sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidriee Treadway Commission (COSO), and our
report dated March 13, 2014 expressed an adveims®omn the effectiveness of the Company’s intecaatrol over financial reporting.

/sl KPMG LLP

Dallas, Texas
March 13, 2014
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd.:

We have audited TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. arteb&liaries (the Company) internal control over ficial reporting as of December 31,
2013, based on criteria establishedniternal Control — Integrated Framework (199285ued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidns
the Treadway Commission (COSO ). TransAtlantic¢tetrm Ltd.’s management is responsible for maiitagieffective internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of fifiecéiveness of internal control over financial oejing, included in the accompanying
“Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control OFmancial Reporting” appearing under Item 9Atd Company’s December 31, 2013
Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our responsibilityaseixpress an opinion on the Company’s internalrobover financial reporting based on
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statgdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq&nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to sbtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal cordxer financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, and testing aald&ing the design and operating effectivenesstefnal control based on the assessed risk.
Our audit also included performing such other pdoces as we considered necessary in the circunestave believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonablesmesuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statets:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (&ajmeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettfansactions and dispositions of the assetseofdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatg@aparation of financial statements in accor@anwith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureh®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabsurance regarding prevention or timely detecfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanweterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agjet to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combimatif deficiencies, in internal control over fingaaeporting, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of the pany’s annual or interim financial statements wit be prevented or detected on a timely
basis. Management has identified and includeddhewing material weaknesses in management’s assggs

e The Company has not designed and implemented wfdoternal controls over the remeasurement aantstation of its foreign
subsidiarie’ account balance

» The Company has not designed and implemented iefdoternal controls that sufficiently considefiaformation necessary to
ensure proper classification and presentation witliconsolidated financial statemet

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the consolidated
balance sheets of TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd.arbidiaries as of December 31, 2013 and 201 2themnblated consolidated statements of
comprehensive income (loss), equity,
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and cash flows for each of the years in the twa-peaiod then ended. These material weaknessesomastdered in determining the nature,
timing, and extent of audit tests applied in ouditiaf the 2013 consolidated financial statemeats) this report does not affect our report d
March 13, 2014, which expressed an unqualifiediopion those consolidated financial statements.

In our opinion, because of the effect of the afarrtioned material weaknesses on the achievemeéneé abjectives of the control criteria,
TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. and subsidiaries haeemaintained effective internal control over figéal reporting as of December 31, 2013,
based on criteria establishedimernal Control—Integrated Framework (1998sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe
Treadway Commission (COSO).

/sl KPMG LLP

Dallas, Texas
March 13, 2014
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidatednséatis of comprehensive loss, equity and cash faWsansAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. and
subsidiaries (the “Company”) for the year endedddelger 31, 2011. These consolidated financial sextésrare the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to egpran opinion on these consolidated financiastants based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d&/nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether the finastaieiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on Blasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digds in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managenenielhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our auditigges a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegrferred to above present fairly, in all matenéspects, the results of operations and cash
flows of TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. and subsidiarfor the year ended December 31, 2011, in canifpiwith U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.

/sl KPMG LLP

Calgary, Canada
March 23, 2012 (except Note 1 dated March 13, 2014)
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T RANSA TLANTIC PETROLEUM L TD.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
As of December 31, 2013 and 2012
(in thousands of U.S. Dollars, except share data)

2013 2012
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 12,88 $ 14,76¢
Accounts receivabl
Oil and natural gas sales, | 30,61¢ 34,15¢
Joint interest and other, r 15,34¢ 18,19:
Related part 1,004 41¢
Prepaid and other current ass 5,072 2,33¢
Deferred income taxe 2,23¢ 1,89
Assets held for sal 53€ 1,61¢
Total current asse 67,69¢ 73,39(
Property and equipment:
Oil and natural gas properties (successful effotthod)
Proved 260,85 231,49t
Unproved 54,39: 68,93¢
Equipment and other propel 39,91¢ 35,74%
355,16! 336,18:
Less accumulated depreciation, depletion and anatidin (104,19) (80,03))
Property and equipment, r 250,97: 256,15:
Other long-term assets:
Other asset 8,88( 8,19¢
Note receivabl+ related party 11,50( 11,50(
Goodwill 7,53¢ 9,021
Total other asse 27,91t 28,71¢
Total assets $ 346,58t $ 358,25(
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 16,71. $ 12,86
Accounts payabl- related party 23,09( 15,63«
Accrued liabilities 20,65¢ 29,97:
Derivative liabilities 3,731 3,90¢
Asset retirement obligatior 61C 81¢
Loan payable 43,28¢ —
Liabilities held for sale 7,55¢ 8,41¢
Total current liabilities 115,65( 71,61:
Long-term liabilities:
Asset retirement obligatior 10,28t¢ 11,14(
Accrued liabilities 6,481 7,54¢
Deferred income taxe 16,13« 16,48
Loan payabl¢ 26,48: 32,76¢
Derivative liabilities 4,23( 4,882
Total lon¢-term liabilities 63,61¢ 72,81¢
Total liabilities 179,26 144,43:
Commitments and contingencie!
Shareholders equity:
Common shares, $0.10 par value, 100,000,000 shatksrized, 37,340,206 issued and outstanding Beoémber 31, 2013 and 36,874,859 as of
December 31, 201 3,73¢ 3,687
Additional paic-in capital 542,09: 537,96:.
Accumulated other comprehensive | (64,98%) (28,017
Accumulated defici (313,52) (299,81()
Total shareholde’ equity 167,31 213,82
Total liabilities and shareholders equity $ 346,58t $ 358,25¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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T RANSA TLANTIC P ETROLEUM L TD.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incomss{Lo

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 arid 201
(U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, exceptia@esamounts)

Revenues:
Oil and natural gas sal
Sales of purchased natural ¢
Other
Total revenues
Costs and expense:
Production
Exploration, abandonment and impairm
Costs of purchased natural ¢
Seismic and other exploratic
Revaluation of contingent considerati
General and administrati
Depreciation, depletion and amortizat
Accretion of asset retirement obligatic
Total costs and expense
Operating income (loss;
Other (expense) income
Interest and other expen
Interest and other incon
Loss on commodity derivative contra
Foreign exchange (loss) g¢
Total other expense
(Loss) income from continuing operations before ineme taxes
Current income tax expen
Deferred income tax (expense) ben
Net loss from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations before income tas
Gain on disposal of discontinued operati
Income tax provisiol
Net (loss) income from discontinued operations
Net (loss) income
Other comprehensive (loss) income
Foreign currency translation adjustm:
Comprehensive (loss) incom

Net loss per common share

Basic net income (loss) per common sh
Continuing operation
Discontinued operatior

Weighted average common shares outstan

Diluted net income (loss) per common shi
Continuing operation
Discontinued operatior

Weighted average common and common equivalent sloatstanding

2013 2012 2011
$127,27  $134,11.  $124,16:
2,581 7,88: 2,66¢
97€ 1,91¢ 2,07t
130,82° 143,90¢ 128,90!
18,60: 17,80: 18,47¢
27,33 39,99: 60,95:
2,247 7,69¢ 2,64¢
14,00¢ 5,04( 11,54:
(5,000) — 6,00(
29,02( 33,94’ 36,30¢
41,32; 28,21¢ 39,00¢
50¢ 71C 1,147
128,04 133,40: 176,06
2,78¢ 10,50¢ (47,162
(3,929) (8,340) (13,66%)
1,34( 2,41¢ 1,08¢
(2,696) (5,54%) (8,426)
(9,667) 1,08: (11,979
(14,950 (10,38)) (32,979
(12,169) 11¢ (80,13¢)
(12€) (4,672) (2,386)
(979) (1,813) 4,951
$(13,27) $ (6,379 $ (77,579
(442) (5,089 (39,11
— 35,99¢ —
— (8,297) (4,25%)
(442) 22,61¢ (43,369
(13,71 16,24¢ (120,94
(36,979 22,22t (52,06¢)
$(50,680 $ 38,47(  $(173,01)
$ (03 $ (0179 $ (2.19
$ (00) $ 062 $ (1.29
37,06¢ 36,74: 35,59
$ (036 $ (017) $ (219
$ (00) $ 06z $ (1.29
37,06¢ 36,74: 35,59

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Balance at December 31, 201
Issuance of common shai

Exercise of warrant

Exercise of stock optior

Issuance of restricted stock ur

Tax withholding on restricted stock un
Shar+-based compensatic

Foreign currency translation adjustme
Net loss

Balance at December 31, 201
Issuance of common shal

Exercise of stock optior

Issuance of restricted stock ur

Tax withholding on restricted stock un
Sharebased compensatic

Foreign currency translation adjustm
Net income

Balance at December 31, 201
Issuance of common shal

Issuance of restricted stock ur

Tax withholding on restricted stock un
Shar+-based compensatic

Foreign currency translation adjustm:
Net loss

Balance at December 31, 201

T RANSA TLANTIC PETROLEUM L TD.

Consolidated Statements of Equity
For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 arid 201
(U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands)

Accumulated

Other Total
Common Additional Comprehensive Accumulated Shareholders’
Common Paid-in
Shares Shares ($ Capital Income (Loss) Deficit Equity

33,64: $ 3,36¢ $465,97. $ 1,83 $(195,11) $ 276,05
2,74; 274 65,76 — — 66,03"
8 1 95 — — 96

8% 8 62C — — 62¢
10C 11 (12) — — —
— — (210) — — (210)
— — 1,67 — — 1,67
— — — (52,069 — (52,069
— — — — (120,94) (120,94
36,57¢ $ 3,65¢ $533,90 $ (50,23¢ $(316,05) $ 171,27
81 8 65¢€ — — 664
21¢F 21 (22) — — —
— — (147) — — (147)
— — 3,56 — — 3,561
— — — 22,22« — 22,22¢
— — — — 16,24¢ 16,24¢
36,870 $ 3,687 $537,96. $ (28,01) $(299,81) $ 213,82
351 35 2,46¢ — — 2,50(
114 12 (12) — — —
— — (40) — — (40)
— — 1,71¢ — — 1,71¢
— — — (36,979) — (36,979)
— — — (13,719 (13,719
37,34( $3,73¢ $542,09: $ (64,98) $(313,52) $ 167,31

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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T RANSA TLANTIC PETROLEUM L TD.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 arid 201

(in thousands of U.S. Dollars)

2013 2012 2011
(See Note 1 (See Note 1
Operating activities:
Net (loss) incomu $ (13,71) $  16,24¢ $ (120,94)
Adjustment for net loss (income) from discontinwgerations 442 (22,619 43,36¢
Net loss from continuing operatio (13,277) (6,379 (77,579
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash piexviby operating activities from continuing operas:
Shar-based compensatic 1,71¢€ 2,55¢ 1,21z
Foreign currency los 8,62( 3,84 14,69(
Loss on commodity derivative contra 2,69¢ 5,54¢ 8,42¢
Cash settlement on commodity derivative contr (3,52) (3,829 (4,859
Amortization of loan financing cos 51C 1,991 1,63(
Deferred income tax expense (bene 97¢ 1,817 (4,95))
Inventory write dowr — 1,39( —
Amortization of warrant— related party — — 1,972
Exploration, abandonment and impairm 27,33 39,99 60,95:
Depreciation, depletion and amortizat 41,32: 28,21! 39,00¢
Accretion of asset retirement obligatic 50¢ 71C 1,142
Revaluation of contingent considerati (5,000 — 6,00(
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, neffett of acquisitions
Accounts receivabl (2,359 (6,872) (4,98%)
Prepaid expenses and other as (34) (1,149 (4,4972)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit 9,26¢ 1,502 21,14
Net cash provided by operating activities from @urihg operation: 68,77¢ 69,34¢ 59,32:
Net cash used in operating activities from discargd operation (1,42¢) (25,769 (10,607)
Net cash provided by operating activit 67,35( 43,57° 48,71¢
Investing activities:
Acquisitions, net of cas — — (747)
Additions to oil and natural gas propert (94,26¢) (70,189 (77,02
Additions to equipment and other proper (10,657 (66¢) (2,64¢)
Restricted cas (190 94¢ 5,13:
Net cash used in investing activities from contirguoperation: (105,109 (69,909) (75,29()
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activifiesn discontinued operatiol 1,01¢ 156,14¢ (4,76))
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activi (104,09) 86,24 (80,057)
Financing activities:
Exercise of stock options and warra — 664 722
Tax withholding on restricted stock un (40) (247) (210
Loan proceed 66,78¢ 25,96° 35,96°
Loan proceed- related party — 11,00( —
Loan repaymer (29,78%) (78,93) (18,029
Loan repaymer- related party — (84,000 —
Loan financing cost — (250) —
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activifiesn continuing operatior 36,96( (125,69) 18,45¢
Net cash used in financing activities from disconéd operation — (5,049) (5,06¢)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi 36,96( (130,749) 13,38
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ (2,109 58( (1,615
Net decrease in cash and cash equiva (1,887 (34¢) (29,560)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of 14,76¢ 15,11¢ 34,67¢
Cash and cash equivalents, end of ' $ 12,88: $  14,76¢ $  15,11¢
Supplemental disclosures
Cash paid for intere: $ 3,091 $ 6,94¢ $ 10,10¢
Cash paid for income tax $ 2,381 $ 5,59¢ $ 7,72¢
Supplemental nor-cash investing and financing activities
Note receivabl related party from sale of oilfield services buss $ — $  11,50( $ —
Issuance of common shares for acquisiti $ — $ = $ 66,03°
Repayment of shc-term credit facility from refinancin $ — $ — $  30,00(
Issuance of common shar amendment to purchase agreen $ 2,500 $ — $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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T RANSA TLANTIC PETROLEUM L TD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. General
Nature of operations

” ”

TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. (together with its sigharies, “we,” “us,” “our,” the “Company” or “TrasAtlantic”) is an international oil and
natural gas company engaged in acquisition, exjitoradevelopment and production. We have focusedperations in countries that have
established yet underexplored petroleum systerametrimporters of petroleum, have an existinggbetim transportation infrastructure and
provide favorable commaodity pricing, royalty ratewd tax rates to exploration and production congmams of December 31, 2013, we held
interests in developed and undeveloped oil andralagas properties in Turkey and Bulgaria. As ofrthal, 2014, approximately 40% of our
outstanding common shares were beneficially ownel.tMalone Mitchell 3rd, our chief executive officand chairman of our board of
directors.

Basis of presentatiol

Our consolidated financial statements are expreissegdS. Dollars and have been prepared by manageimaccordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United StétgsS. GAAP”). All amounts in these notes to the consolidatednitia statements are in U.
Dollars unless otherwise indicated. In preparimgficial statements, management makes informed jeidignand estimates that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities asefitite of the financial statements and affectepented amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. On an ongoing basesnagement reviews estimates, including those retatéair value measurements associated
with acquisitions and financial derivatives, theaeerability and impairment of long-lived assetd gwodwill, contingencies and income taxes
Changes in facts and circumstances may resulvisa@ estimates and actual results may differ filoese estimates.

Revision of prior period financial statemen

During the three months ended March 31, 2013, watifled and corrected errors previously reportedor consolidated statements of cash
flows. As a result, we increased the “Exploratiabandonment and impairment” sub-caption, whichniadjustment to reconcile net income
(loss) to net cash provided by operating activjtiasl increased the cash used in investing aethvitlated to “Additions to oil and natural gas
properties” by $17.4 million and $8.3 million fdret years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, resggctis we previously did not include
the cash portion of additions to oil and natura geoperties in investing activities for dry holgenses that were recognized in the same p
as the related cash disbursed. These amounts $mbtedn excluded from the adjustment to reconeiléncome (loss) to net cash provided by
operating activities.

We assessed the materiality of the errors in aecma with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Comamiggie “SEC”)guidance on considerit
the effects of prior period misstatements basedroanalysis of quantitative and qualitative fact&ased on this analysis, we determined that
the errors were immaterial to each of the prioorépg periods affected and, therefore, amendmaintsports previously filed with the SEC
were not required. Accordingly, we have reflecteel torrection of these prior period errors in teaqals in which they originated and revised
our consolidated statement of cash flows for theyended December 31, 2012 and 2011 in this ArRRejabrt on Form 10-K.
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The following shows the effect of the out-of-peri@dors on our consolidated statements of cashsffowthe years ended December 31, 2012
and 2011 (in thousands):

As Reporte Correction As Revise(
For the year ended December 31, 2(
Operating activities:
Exploration, abandonment and impairm $ 22,617 $17,37¢ $ 39,99:
Net cash provided by operating activities from amnihg operation: 51,97( 17,37¢ 69,34¢
Net cash provided by operating activit 26,20: 17,37¢ 43,57
Investing activities:
Additions to oil and natural gas propert (52,819 (17,376 (70,189
Net cash used in investing activities from contiguoperation: (52,537 (17,376 (69,909
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi $103,61° $(17,37¢) $ 86,241
For the year ended December 31, 2!
Operating activities:
Exploration, abandonment and impairm $ 52,63¢ $ 8,31 $ 60,95:
Net cash provided by operating activities from amnihg operation: 51,00 8,31¢ 59,32!
Net cash provided by operating activit 40,40¢ 8,31« 48,71¢
Investing activities:
Additions to oil and natural gas propert (68,717 (8,319 (77,029
Net cash used in investing activities from contiguoperation: (66,97¢) (8,319 (75,290
Net cash used in investing activiti $(71,73) $ (8,319 $(80,05))

2. Significant accounting policies
Basis of preparatior

Our reporting standard for the presentation ofammsolidated financial statements is U.S. GAAP. @twesolidated financial statements incli
the accounts of the Company and all majority owredtrolled subsidiaries. All significant intercoamy balances and transactions have beer
eliminated in consolidation.

Reverse stock spl

On March 4, 2014, the Company’s shareholders agpravl-for-10 reverse stock split, which becamecgiffe March 6, 2014. Pursuant to the
reverse stock split, all shareholders of recoreired one common share for each ten common shagsdo(subject to minor adjustments as a
result of fractional shares). The reverse stock sgduced the issued and outstanding common sframs374,026,984 to 37,402,698. U.S.
GAAP requires that the reverse stock split be aplpletrospectively to all periods presented. Assalt, all common share transactions
described herein have been adjusted to reflect-fioe-10 reverse stock split.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include term depositinardtments with original maturities of three munbr less at the date of acquisition. We
consider all highly liquid debt instruments purofgsvith an original maturity of three months orslés be cash equivalents. We determine the
appropriate classification of our investments ialcand cash equivalents and marketable securititbe éime of purchase and reevaluate such
designation at each balance sheet date.
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Commodity derivative instruments

Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Acating Standards Codification (“ASC”) 81Bgrivatives and HedginfASC 815"),
requires derivative instruments to be recognize€iithgr assets or liabilities in the balance shééir value. We do not designate our derive
financial instruments as hedging instruments as@ gesult, we recognize the change in a derivativéract’s fair value currently in earnings
as a component of other (expense) income.

Fair value measurements

We follow ASC 820Fair Value Measurements and Disclosu(&SC 8207). This standard defines fair value, bsihes a framework for
measuring fair value and expands disclosures daoutalue measurements. ASC 820 does not requiyaaw fair value measurements, but
applies to assets and liabilities that are requiodae recorded at fair value under other accogrgtandards.

ASC 820 characterizes inputs used in determiniiig/édue according to a hierarchy that prioritizeese inputs based upon the degree tow
they are observable. The three levels of the fainesr measurement hierarchy are as follows:

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markeds are accessible at the measurement dateefotiédl, unrestricted assets or
liabilities.
Level 2: Quoted prices in markets that are nowvactr inputs which are observable, either direotlyndirectly, for substantially the

full term of the asset or liability

Level 3: Measured based on prices or valuation tsdtiat required inputs that are both significanthte fair value measurement and
less observable for objective sources (i.e., supddy little or no market activity

As required by ASC 820, financial assets and litddd are classified based on the lowest levehpfit that is significant to the fair value
measurement. Our assessment of the significanagafticular input to the fair value measuremequires judgment, which may affect the
valuation of the fair value of assets and liakahtand their placement within the fair value highgirlevels. The determination of the fair values
takes into account the market for our financiak&sand liabilities, the associated credit risk atiekr factors as required by ASC 820. We
consider active markets as those in which tranmagfior the assets or liabilities occur in suffiti&requency and volume to provide pricing
information on an ongoing basis.

Foreign currency remeasurement and translation

The functional currency of our subsidiaries in TaykBulgaria, Romania, and Morocco is the New Tahkiira (“TRY"), the Bulgarian Lev,
the Romanian New Leu and the Moroccan Dirham, spdy. We follow ASC 830Foreign Currency Matter§'ASC 830”). ASC 830
requires the assets, liabilities, and results efrafions of a foreign operation to be measuredgusia functional currency of that foreign
operation. Exchange gains or losses from remeggtransactions and monetary accounts in a curreth®yr than the functional currency are
included in earnings.

For certain subsidiaries, translation adjustmesssilt from the process of translating the functi@uarency of subsidiary financial statements
into the U.S. Dollar reporting currency. These station adjustments are reported separately anchadated in the consolidated balance st
as a component of accumulated other compreherwsige |

Oil and natural gas properties

In accordance with the successful efforts methoalcobunting for oil and natural gas propertiesto$ productive wells, developmental dry
holes and productive leases are capitalized inpoogypiate groups of
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properties based on geographical and geologicalasities. Acquisition costs of proved propertiese amortized using the unit-of-production
method based on total proved reserves, and exjgonatll costs and additional development costsaanertized using the unit-of-production
method based on proved developed reserves. Proiteadthe sale of properties are credited to prigpessts, and a gain or loss is recognized
when a significant portion of an amortization bessold or abandoned.

Exploration costs, such as exploratory geologiodl geophysical costs, delay rentals and explorati@head, are charged to expense as
incurred. Exploratory drilling costs, including thest of stratigraphic test wells, are initiallyp@alized but charged to exploration expense if
and when the well is determined to be non-prodectihe determination of an exploratory well’s ahito produce must be made within one
year from the completion of drilling activities. &acquisition costs of unproved acreage are ilyittapitalized and are carried at cost, ne
accumulated impairment provisions, until such leae transferred to proved properties or chargexploration expense as impairments of
unproved properties.

Equipment and other propert

Equipment and other property are stated at codtjrarentory is stated at weighted average costlwtiaes not exceed replacement cost.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-timethod over the estimated useful lives (ranginghfBto 7 years) of the respective assets. The
costs of normal maintenance and repairs are chaogexpense as incurred. Material expendituresitita¢ase the life of an asset are
capitalized and depreciated over the estimatediréngauseful life of the asset. The cost of equiptrsold, or otherwise disposed of, and the
related accumulated depreciation, are removed fhamaccounts and any gain or loss is reflectediireat earnings.

Impairment of lon¢-lived assets

We follow the provisions of ASC 36@roperty, Plant, and EquipmeitASC 360”). ASC 360 requires that our loliged assets be assessec
potential impairment of their carrying values whegreevents or changes in circumstances indicatie isygairment may have occurred. Provec
oil and natural gas properties are evaluated ligf fae potential impairment. An impairment on proveroperties is recognized when the
estimated undiscounted future net cash flows @#ld &re less than its carrying value. If an impent occurs, the carrying value of the
impaired field is reduced to its estimated fairuealwhich is generally estimated using a discounésth flow approach.

Unproved oil and natural gas properties do not lmeducing properties and are valued on acquiskiipmanagement, with the assistance «
independent expert when necessary. As reservgs@red through the successful completion of expioyawells, the cost is transferred to
proved properties. The cost of the remaining ungddvasis is periodically evaluated by managemeassess whether the value of a property
has diminished. To do this assessment, managemesiders (i) estimated potential reserves and éutiet revenues from an independent
expert, (i) the Company’s history in exploring teea, (iii) the Company’s future drilling plans jits capital drilling program prepared by the
Company’s reservoir engineers and operations mamagteand (iv) other factors associated with tha.dmapairment is taken on the unproved
property value if it is determined that the costsot likely to be recoverable. The valuationubjective and requires management to make
estimates and assumptions which, with the pasdaijae may prove to be materially different frorct@al results.

Goodwill

In accordance with ASC 350tangibles-Goodwill and OthgtASC 350"), goodwill is not amortized, but is tested for impaént on an annu
basis at December 31, or more frequently as imgmitrimdicators arise. ASC 350 permits an entitfirih assess qualitative factors to
determine whether it is more likely than not the fair value of a reporting unit is less tharcasrying amount as a basis for determining
whether it is necessary
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to perform the two-step goodwill impairment teste \Assessed the qualitative factors at Decemb@(03B, and, based upon the results of the
qualitative assessment, we determined that it wasecessary to perform the two-step goodwill impent test and that our goodwill was not
impaired. All of our goodwill is attributable to pliurkey operating segment.

Joint interest activities

Certain of our exploration, development and proucactivities are conducted jointly with otherigies and, accordingly, the consolidated
financial statements reflect only our proportionaterest in such activities.

Asset retirement obligation

We recognize a liability for the fair value of dbal obligations associated with the retiremertaafjible, long-lived assets and capitalize an
equal amount as a cost of the asset. The costiagsbwith the abandonment obligation is includethie computation of depreciation,
depletion and amortization. The liability accretedil we settle the obligation. We use a creditiathd risk-free interest rate in our calculation
of asset retirement obligations.

Revenue recognitiol

Revenue from the sale of crude oil and naturaigascognized upon delivery to the purchaser whtngasses. During the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, we sold $87Ibmi91.8 million and $84.3 million, respectivebf oil to Tirkiye Petrol Rafinerileri
A.S. (“TUPRAS"), a privately owned oil refinery in Tkey, which represented approximately 66.7%, 63.8%G5.3% of our total revenues,
respectively.

Share-based compensation

We follow ASC 718 Compensation—Stock Compensaii#kxSC 718"), which requires the measurement andgadion of compensation
expense for all share-based payment awards, imgudstricted stock units, based on estimated glatet fair values. Restricted stock units are
valued using the market price of our common sharethe date of grant. We record compensation experes of estimated forfeitures, over
requisite service period.

Income taxes

We follow the asset and liability method prescrilbgdASC 740Jncome Taxe§'ASC 740"). Under this method of accounting focame

taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities aregrized for the future tax consequences attributabtéfferences between the financial statemer
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilitied their respective tax bases. Deferred tax 2.asek liabilities are measured using enacted
tax rates expected to apply to taxable incomeernytars in which those temporary differences apeeted to be recovered or settled. Under
ASC 740, the effect on deferred tax assets andifiab of a change in enacted tax rates is recghin earnings in the period that includes the
enactment date.

In connection with our acquisition Amity Oil Inteational Pty Ltd (“Amity”) and Petrogas Petrol Gaz Retrokimya Uriinleri jaat Sanayi ve
Ticaret AS. (“Petrogas”) in August 2010, at December 31, 202 recognized a liability due to an uncertaingasition related to the transfer
of Petrogas shares to Amity prior to the acquisifigee Note 11). We do not believe there will bg material changes in our unrecognized tax
positions over the next twelve months. Our polEthat we recognize interest and penalties acanexhy unrecognized tax positions as a
component of income tax expense.

We are a Bermuda exempted company, and under t@eemuda law, we are not subject to tax on prpifitsome or dividends, nor is there
any capital gains tax applicable to us in Bermuda.
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Comprehensive income

ASC 220,Comprehensive Incomestablishes standards for reporting and dispiagamprehensive income and its components (revenue,
expenses, gains and losses) in a full set of gkparpose financial statements.

Business combination

We follow ASC 805Business Combinatiorf$ASC 805"), and ASC 810-10-6%;onsolidation(*ASC 810-10-65"). ASC 805 requires most
identifiable assets, liabilities, non-controllingerests, and goodwill acquired in a business coatiain to be recorded at “fair value.” The
statement applies to all business combination&ydittg combinations among mutual entities and coratidons by contract alone. Under ASC
805, all business combinations are accounted fapmying the acquisition method.

Per share informatior

Basic per share amounts are calculated using tfghteel average common shares outstanding duringetue excluding unvested restricted
stock units. We use the treasury stock method tieriaiéne the dilutive effect of stock options antestdilutive instruments. Under the treasury
stock method, only “in the money” dilutive instrunte impact the diluted calculations in computinigiteid earnings per share. Diluted
calculations reflect the weighted average increalex@mmon shares that would be issued upon exavtididutive options assuming the
proceeds would be used to repurchase shares apaverarket prices for the period.

3. New accounting pronouncements

In February 2013, FASB issued ASU 2013-B2w Disclosures for Items Reclassified Out of Aedatad Other Comprehensive Income
(“ASU 2013-02"). ASU 2013-02 requires reclassifioatadjustments for items that are reclassifiedad@ccumulated other comprehensive
income to net income to be presented in the staitsnveéhere the components of net income and the enens of other comprehensive incc
are presented or in the footnotes to the finarst&kments. Additionally, the amendment requiressreferencing to other disclosures
currently required for other reclassification iterffife amendments were effective for interim anduahreporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2012. We adopted the provisions of 281B-02 as of January 1, 2013. The adoption of 281B-02 did not have a material
impact on our consolidated financial statements.

We have reviewed other recently issued, but noaglepted, accounting standards in order to deterihigir effects, if any, on our consolidatec
results of operations, financial position and cieivs. Based on that review, we believe that ndnt@se pronouncements will have a
significant effect on current or future earningoperations.
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4. Acquisitions
TBNG

On June 7, 2011, TransAtlantic Worldwide, Ltd. @mnsAtlantic Worldwide”) acquired Thrace Basin Natu®as (Turkiye) Corporation
(“TBNG”") in exchange for cash consideration of $10.5 milaod the issuance of 1,850,000 of our common slfatesdeemed price of $20
per common share). Of the $10.5 million cash carsitibn, $10.0 million was paid in November 201@aption fee and applied to the
purchase price. We engaged independent valuatiperesxto assist in the determination of the falugaf the assets and liabilities acquired in
the acquisition. The following tables summarize ¢basideration paid in the acquisition and thelfiraognized amounts of assets acquirec
liabilities assumed that have been recognizedeaatiguisition date:

Consideration:;

(in thousands
Cash consideration, net of purchase price adjussnen $ 10,50«
Issuance of 1,850,000 common shz 37,92¢
Fair value of total consideration transfer $ 48,42¢
Acquisitior-Related Costs
Included in general and administrative expensesurrconsolidated statements
comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended mbee 31, 201: $1,01:

Recognized Amounts of Identifiable Assets AcqainedLiabilities Assumed at Acquisitic

Assets:

Cash $ 1,84¢
Accounts receivabl 19,997
Restricted cas 4,931
Total financial assel 26,77:
Other current assets, consisting primarily of pigeapense 3,272
Deferred tax assi 722
Oil and natural gas propertie

Proved propertie 14,52¢
Unproved propertie 16,13:
Land and building: 2,601
Drilling services equipment and vehicl| 19,51:
Total oil and natural gas properties and othermgant 52,77(
Liabilities:

Accounts payable, consisting of normal trade oliliges 5,96(
Other current liabilitie 5,59¢
Asset retirement obligatic 6,48(
Deferred tax liability 2,52:
Bank loans 14,54¢
Total liabilities 35,10¢
Total identifiable net asse $48,42¢
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As of the date of acquisition, the fair value of ticcounts receivable that were acquired was $8illion, consisting of a gross amount of
$23.5 million, of which $3.5 million is not expedtéo be collected.

We finalized our purchase accounting in Decembéi 2€esulting in additional accrued liabilitiesgirases in unproved properties and
adjustments to deferred tax liabilities.

The results of operations of TBNG are includedun consolidated statement of comprehensive incdoss) beginning June 7, 2011. The
revenues and loss of TBNG included in our constdidiadtatement of comprehensive income (loss) ®y&ar ended December 31, 2011 were

Revenue Loss
(in thousands)
Actual from June 7, 2011 through December 31, 2 $13,46¢ $(4,65))

Direct

On February 18, 2011, TransAtlantic Worldwide acgdiDirect Petroleum Morocco, Inc. (“Direct Moro€gand Anschutz Morocco
Corporation (“Anschutz”), and our wholly owned sigigry TransAtlantic Petroleum Cyprus Limited aagui Direct Petroleum Bulgaria
EOOD (“Direct Bulgaria”) pursuant to a Purchase égnent (the “Purchase Agreement”) with Direct Retnm, Inc. (“Direct”), for cash
consideration of $2.4 million and the issuance3#,848 of our common shares (at a deemed pric8 b8 per common share) to Direct, in a
private placement, for total consideration of $3#i8ion. At the time of the acquisition, Direct Macco and Anschutz owned a 50% working
interest in the Ouezzane-Tissa and Asilah explamgtiermits in Morocco, and Direct Bulgaria owne®%dof the working interests in the A-
Lovech and Aglen exploration permits in Bulgaria.

The following tables summarize the consideratioi frathe acquisition of Direct Morocco, AnschutzdaDirect Bulgaria and the final
recognized amounts of assets acquired and liasilassumed which have been recognized at the ditoudate:

Consideration:;

(in thousands
Cash consideration, net of purchase price adjussnen $ 2,40¢
Issuance of 892,448 common she 28,11:
Contingent consideration liabilitie 4,00(
Fair value of total consideration transfer $ 34,52

The Purchase Agreement provided that if certait-plosing milestones were achieved, we would issigitional consideration to Direct equal
to: (i) $10.0 million worth of our common sharesh& Deventci-R2 well in Bulgaria was a commersiadcess and (ii) $10.0 million worth of
our common shares if Direct Bulgaria received alpotion concession for a specified area in Bulgdariee fair value of these contingent
consideration liabilities represents our best estitnof the amounts to be paid as additional corsiid®. Subsequent changes in the fair value
of the contingent consideration liabilities ardeefed in our consolidated statements of compreherscome (loss). The fair value of these
contingent consideration liabilities was $2.5 roifliat December 31, 2013 and $10.0 million at Deaarlh, 2012. The change in the
contingent consideration liabilities since the asigion date is included under the caption “Revaturaof contingent consideration” on our
consolidated statements of comprehensive inconss)(for the years ended December 31, 2013, 20822@h1. In July 2013, we amended the
Purchase Agreement, which resulted in changesiedhtingent consideration liability (see Note 15).
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Acquisitior-Related Costs

(in thousands

Included in general and administrative expensesusrconsolidated
statements of comprehensive income (loss) for &z gnded
December 31, 201 $ 117

Recognized Amounts of Identifiable Assets AcquainedLiabilities
Assumed at Acquisitiol

(in thousands
Assets:
Cash $ 32C
Accounts receivabl 57
Total financial assel 3717
Other current assets, consisting primarily of pigeapense 14€
Oil and natural gas propertie
Proved propertie 1,20C
Unproved propertie 32,84(
Other equipmer 79
Total oil and natural gas properties and othermgant 34,11¢
Liabilities:
Accounts payable, consisting of normal trade oliligyes 12z
Total identifiable net asse $ 34,52

The results of operations of Direct Morocco, Anderand Direct Bulgaria are included in our consat@l statement of comprehensive income
(loss) beginning February 18, 2011, the closing ddithe acquisition.

The amounts of revenue and loss of Direct Moroéewschutz and Direct Bulgaria included in our cordatied statement of comprehensive
income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 204 5hown below:

Revenu¢ Loss
(in thousands)
Continuing operation $ 482 $(30,749 W
Discontinued operatior — (7,02))
Total from February 18, 2011 through December 81 $ 48¢ $(37,770

(1) See Note 6, Property and equipment, for a discnssithe impairment of our properties in Bulga
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Pro forma results of operation

The following table presents the unaudited pro foresults of operations for the year ended Dece®be2011 as though the acquisitions of
Direct Morocco, Anschutz, Direct Bulgaria and TBM&d occurred as of January 1, 2011 (in thousaxdepéper share amounts):

2011

Total revenues $ 139,99¢
Loss from continuing operations before income t¢ (82,85¢)
Loss from continuing operatiol (80,839
Loss from discontinued operatio (45,077
Net loss (125,909
Net loss per common share from continuing operat

Basic $  (2.2))

Diluted $ (2.2))
Net loss per common share from discontinued opars

Basic $ (129

Diluted $ (1.2

5. Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase pfie business over the estimated fair value®btsets acquired and liabilities assumec
have goodwill on acquisitions where we anticipaedess to potential exploration and producing dppdies. All of our goodwill is
attributable to our Turkey operating segment. Gabhdvas as follows at December 31, 2013 and 2012:

2013 2012
(in thousands)
Goodwill at January 1 $ 9,021 $8,51¢
Foreign exchange change eff (1,486 507
Goodwill at December 3: $ 7,53¢ $9,021

6. Property and equipment
Oil and natural gas properties

The following table sets forth the capitalized sastder the successful efforts method for oil asitiral gas properties:
December 31, 201 December 31, 201

(in thousands)
Oil and natural gas properties, prov

Turkey $ 260,23: $ 229,46.
Bulgaria 625 2,03¢
Total oil and natural gas properties, pro' 260,85’ 231,49t
Oil and natural gas properties, unprov
Turkey 51,27: 68,93¢
Bulgaria 3,11¢ —
Total oil and natural gas properties, unpro 54,39: 68,93¢
Gross oil and natural gas propert 315,24¢ 300,43t
Accumulated depletio (96,959 (74,099
Net oil and natural gas properti $ 218,29: $ 226,33
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At December 31, 2013 and 2012, we excluded $1.5omiand $1.8 million of costs, respectively, frahe depletion calculation for
development wells in progress and for costs oddieurrently not in production.

At December 31, 2013, the capitalized costs ofadluaind natural gas properties included $35.5 onillielating to acquisition costs of proved
properties, which are being amortized by the uftjroduction method using total proved reserved, $126.9 million relating to well costs,
and additional development costs, which are beingrazed by the unit-of-production method usingya® developed reserves.

At December 31, 2012, the capitalized costs ofadluaind natural gas properties included $49.5 oiillielating to acquisition costs of proved
properties, which are being amortized by the ufifproduction method using total proved reserved, $105.3 million relating to well costs,
and additional development costs, which are beingrazed by the unit-of-production method usingya® developed reserves.

Dry hole costs

During the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012@hdl, we recorded $16.0 million, $24.7 million, #6.8 million of exploratory dry hole
costs, respectively. Of the $16.0 million of drydoosts incurred during the year ended Decembe2@13, approximately $10.0 million was
related to cash spent during 2013.

Impairment and abandonmer

Unproved oil and natural gas properties that adevidually significant are periodically assessedifopairment, and a loss is recognized at the
time of impairment. Capitalized costs related toved oil and natural gas properties, including svatd related equipment and facilities, are
evaluated for impairment based on our analysismdiscounted future net cash flows. If undiscouriteedre net cash flows are insufficient to
recover the net capitalized costs related to pr@rederties, then we recognize an impairment chisxggcome equal to the difference betweer
the carrying value and the estimated fair valuthefproperties. We categorize the measurementrofdaue of these assets as Level 3

inputs. Estimated fair values are determined udiagounted cash flow models. The discounted cash fihodels include management'’s
estimates of future oil and natural gas productipgrating and development costs, and discourd.rate

During the year ended December 31, 2013, we reddbdi#.3 million in impairment and abandonment chargn our proved and unproved
properties, primarily related to our Senova andKded licenses.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, we reddger million in impairment charges on our proypedperties, of which $2.7 million was
due to downward revisions in natural gas resemesii Alpullu field. We recorded a $8.4 million imipment on our unproved oil and natural
gas properties during the year ended December@P, 2f this amount, $5.2 million was attributatdeexploration license acquisition costs

for the Banarli license.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we redadk80.2 million impairment on our unproved oitlaratural gas properties. Of this
amount, $25.9 million was attributable to our Bulga properties. We impaired our Bulgarian progarfollowing the enactment by the
Bulgarian Parliament of legislation which banneatfure stimulation in the Republic of Bulgaria. Also recorded $14.6 million in impairm:
charges on two of our proved properties in Turkgimarily due to downward revisions in natural geserves in the Alpullu and Edirne fields.

Capitalized cost greater than one year

As of December 31, 2013, we had $2.6 million oflesgtory well costs capitalized for the Kazanci-Bllwwhich we spud in September 2012.
We recently finished a long-term pressure buildaghe current completion and have identified piéepay up-hole. We are evaluating, with
our partners, whether to test another unconveritmoree or to move up to the conventional pay amtdbdish production.
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Equipment and other propert
The historical cost of equipment and other propeutgsented on a gross basis with accumulated clafiom, is summarized as follows:

December 31

2013 2012
(in thousands)
Other equipmer $ 2,67¢ $ 2,01
Inventory 24,31¢ 20,51;
Gas gathering system and facilit 4,48¢ 5,36¢
Vehicles 321 131
Leasehold improvements, office equipment and saéh 8,11¢ 7,710
Gross equipment and other prope 39,91¢ 35,747
Accumulated depreciatic 7,23¢ (5,939
Net equipment and other prope $32,68: $29,81¢

We classify our materials and supply inventory|uding steel tubing and casing, as a long-termtdmsgause such materials will ultimately be
classified as a long-term asset when the mateariadéed in the drilling of a well.

At December 31, 2013, we excluded $24.3 millioimeEntory and $0.7 million of software from depwgan, as the inventory and software
had not been placed into service. At December 812 2we excluded $20.5 million of inventory frompdeciation as the inventory had not
been placed into service.

7. Commodity derivative instruments

We use collar derivative contracts to economichéigdge against the variability in cash flows asgediavith the forecasted sale of a portion of
our future oil production. We have not designateelderivative contracts as hedges for accountinggses, and accordingly, we record the
derivative contracts at fair value and recognizangfes in fair value in earnings as they occur.

To the extent that a legal right of offset exists, net the value of our derivative contracts with $ame counterparty in our consolidated
balance sheets. All of our oil derivative contraants settled based upon Brent crude oil pricing.ré¢egnize gains and losses related to these
contracts on a fair value basis in our consolidatatements of comprehensive income (loss) un@etdption “Loss on commodity derivative
contracts.” Settlements of derivative contractsiackided in operating activities on our consol@hstatements of cash flows under the captio
“Cash settlement on commodity derivative contrddte are required under our amended and restagstit ¢acility (the “Amended and
Restated Credit Facility”) with BNP Paribas (Su)sS& (“BNP Paribas”) and Standard Bank Plc (“Stadddank”),to hedge between 30% a
75% of our anticipated production volumes in thér®eand Arpatepe oil fields in Turkey.

During the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012@bdl, we recorded net losses on commodity derigatdntracts of $2.7 million,
$5.5 million, and $8.4 million respectively.
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At December 31, 2013, we had outstanding commafiitivative contracts with respect to our futurederwil production as set forth in the

tables below:

Fair Value of Derivative Instruments as of DecembeB1, 2013

Weighted
Weighted Average
Quantity Average Maximum Price
Minimum Estimated Fair
Type Period (Bbl/day) Price (per Bbl (per Bbl) Value of Liability
(in thousands)
Collar January 1, 20—December 31, 20: 622 $ 80.8:¢ $  118.0: $ (387)
$ (389
Collars Additional Call
Weighted
Weighted
Average Average Weighted
Minimum Maximum Average Estimated Fair
Quantity Maximum
Price Price Price Value of
Type Period (Bbl/day) (per Bbl) (per Bbl) (per Bbl) Liability
(in thousands)
Three-way collarcontract January 1, 202—December 31, 20: 72€ $ 85.0( $ 97.1¢ $ 162.1: $ (3,350
Three-way collar contrac January 1, 202—December 31, 20: 1,01¢ $ 85.0( $ 91.8¢ $ 151.8¢ (4,230)
$ (7,580

At December 31, 2012, we had outstanding commaliitivative contracts with respect to our futurederwil production as set forth in the

tables below:

Fair Value of Derivative Instruments as of DecembeB1, 2012

Weighted
Weighted Average Estimated Fair
Quantity Average Maximum Price
Minimum Value of
Type Period (Bbl/day) Price (per Bbl (per Bbl) Liability
(in thousands)
Collar January 1, 204—December 31, 20: 775 $ 82.2¢ $  121.3¢ $ (25%)
Collar January 1, 20—December 31, 20: 622 $ 80.8:¢ $  118.0° (292)
$ (545
Collars Additional Call
Weighted
Weighted
Average Average Weighted
Minimum Maximum Average Estimated Fair
Quantity Maximum
Price Price Price Value of
Type Period (Bbl/day) (per Bbl) (per Bbl) (per Bbl) Liability
(in thousands)
Three-way collarcontract January 1, 202—December 31, 20: 831 $ 85.0( $ 97.1¢ $ 162.1: $ (3,659
Three-way collar contrac January 1, 20—December 31, 20: 72€ $ 85.0( $ 97.1¢ $ 162.1: (2,150
Three-way collar contrac January 1, 202—December 31, 20: 1,01¢€ $ 85.0( $ 91.8¢ $ 151.8¢ (2,440
$ (8,249
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8. Asset retirement obligations

As part of our development of oil and natural gaspprties, we incur asset retirement obligatiod®dR0O"). Our ARO results from our
responsibility to abandon and reclaim our net sbéwgdl working interest properties and facilitidd. December 31, 2013, the net present value
of our total ARO was estimated to be $10.9 milliith the undiscounted value being $18.5 milliontal ARO at December 31, 2013 shown
in the table below consists of amounts for futurgyging and abandonment liabilities on our welllsoaad facilities based on third-party
estimates of such costs, adjusted for inflatioa &tte of approximately 6.2% per annum for Turkeg 2.5% for Bulgaria. These values are
discounted to present value using our credit-adfussk-free rate of 5.75% per annum for the yeaded December 31, 2013 and 2012. The
following table summarizes the changes in our ARxtie years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012:

2013 2012
(in thousands)

Asset retirement obligation January $11,95¢ $13,53¢
Change in estimate® @) (3,869
Liabilities settlec (29¢) (120
Foreign exchange change eff (2,25%) 793
Additions 991 89¢
Accretion expens 50¢ 71C
Asset retirement obligation at December 10,89¢ 11,95¢
Less: current portio 61C 81¢
Long-term portion $10,28¢ $11,14(

(1) For 2013 and 2012, we used cost estimates prowigdkirc-party engineers

Our ARO is measured using primarily Level 3 inpdise significant unobservable inputs to this failue measurement include estimates of
plugging costs, remediation costs, inflation ratd well life. The inputs are calculated based @tdnical data as well as current estimated
costs.

9. Loans payable
As of the dates indicated, our third-party debtsisted of the following:

December 31 December 31

2013 2012

(in thousands)
Floating Rate Debt

Amended and Restated Credit Faci $ 49,76¢ $ 32,76¢
TBNG credit facility (sho-term) 20,00( —
Loans payabl 69,76¢ 32,76t
Less: current portio 43,28¢ —
Long-term portion $ 26,48: $ 32,76¢

Amended and Restated Credit Facili

On May 18, 2011, DMLP, Ltd. (“DMLP”), TransAtlantiExploration Mediterranean International Pty LtdEEMI"), Talon Exploration, Ltd.
(“Talon Exploration”), TransAtlantic Turkey, Ltd“{ransAtlantic Turkey”) and Petrogas (collectivend together with Amity, the
“Borrowers”) entered into the Amended and Rest&eztit Facility. Each of the Borrowers is our wiyadwned subsidiary. In July 2011,
Amity executed a joinder agreement and becamerawer under the Amended and Restated Credit Facllite Amended and Restated Cr
Facility is guaranteed by us and each of TransAittdPetroleum (USA) Corp. and TransAtlantic Worldei
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The Amended and Restated Credit Facility maturetherearlier of (i) May 18, 2016 or (ii) the lasitd of the borrowing base calculation
period that immediately precedes the date thas¢ng-annual report of Standard Bank and the Bomrswetermines that the aggregate amour
of hydrocarbons to be produced from the borrowiagebassets in Turkey are less than 25% of the ambagdrocarbons to be produced from
the borrowing base assets shown in the initial tigp@pared by Standard Bank and the Borrowers. Athended and Restated Credit Facility
bears various letter of credit sub-limits, incluglimmmong other things, sub-limits of up to (i) $1Mlion, (ii) the aggregate available unused
and uncancelled portion of the lenders’ commitment§ii) any amount borrowed from an individuahtier to the extent it exceeds the
aggregate amount of such lender’s individual committ.

Loans under the Amended and Restated Credit Baaditrue interest at a rate of three-month LIBOES [1.50% per annum (5.74% at
December 31, 2013). The Borrowers are also requir@ay (i) a commitment fee payable quarterlyriears at a per annum rate equal to

(a) 2.20% per annum of the unused and uncancetigobp of the aggregate commitments that is leas tir equal to the maximum available
amount under the Amended and Restated Credit faciiid (b) 1.10% per annum of the unused and wedlad portion of the aggregate
commitments that exceed the maximum available atnmugler the Amended and Restated Credit Facilityiamot available to be borrowed,
(i) on the date of issuance of any letter of crealifronting fee in an amount equal to 0.25% efdhiginal maximum amount to be drawn unde|
such letter of credit and (iii) a per annum letiecredit fee for each letter of credit issued édodhe face amount of such letter of credit
multiplied by (a) 1.0% for any letter of credit tha cash collateralized or backed by a standhigref credit issued by a financial institution
acceptable to Standard Bank or (b) 5.50% for &léptetters of credit.

In November 2012, we entered into an amendmemmedtmended and Restated Credit Facility. The amemtiramong other things, reduced
the commitment fee rates and extended the firsihtitmment reduction date from September 30, 2012dodber 31, 2013. In addition, the
amendment provided for a scheduled quarterly réoluctf the commitment amount beginning on Decen3ier2013, when the commitment
amount will be reduced to $67.5 million, and endimgMarch 31, 2016, when the commitment amountngdich zero.

Availability under the Amended and Restated CrEditility is subject to a borrowing base. The bolrmwbase was re-determined semi-
annually on April 1st and October 1st of each ywéar to September 30, 2012, and is now re-detezthjuarterly on

January 1st, April 1st, July 1st and October 1sauth year. Following our borrowing base redeteatiom on October 1, 2012, the borrowing
base at December 31, 2012 was $59.7 million. Fatigwur borrowing base redetermination on Octoh@013, the borrowing base is
currently $50.6 million. In June 2012, we used eipo of the net proceeds from the sale of ouiielidf services business to pay down
approximately $45.2 million in outstanding indebteds under the Amended and Restated Credit Facility

At December 31, 2013, we had borrowed $49.8 milliader the Amended and Restated Credit Facility.

We are currently in the process of refinancingAhgended and Restated Credit Facility. In Januad12@/e executed a mandate letter with
two financial institutions. We expect to compléte tefinancing in the second quarter of 2014. lfaneeunable to complete the refinancing of
our Amended and Restated Credit Facility, we wauidail certain discretionary expenditures, anddwel our resulting cash flow from
operations and existing cash on hand are suffit@obnduct our operations through 2014 and meetantractual obligations.

At December 31, 2013, we were not in compliancéBiection 8.17(a) of our Amended and Restated Cedility, which requires the
Borrowers to maintain a current ratio of not ldssnt 1.10:1.0. The lenders have granted the Borweraiver on the current ratio requiremen
through March 31, 2015.
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TBNG credit facility

On June 18, 2013, TBNG entered into a 78.8 milli®Y (approximately $36.9 million at December 31123Punsecured line of credit with a
Turkish bank, of which 60 million TRY is available cash for TBNG and 18.8 million TRY is availaliethe form of non-cash bank
guarantees and letters of credit for TBNG and sdw@her of our wholly owned subsidiaries operaimgurkey. The interest rate is establis
at the time of each borrowing. We have made twodwgngs under this credit facility, on October 813 and November 5, 2013, each of
which has a one-year term at a fixed interestoate6% per annum. At maturity, we expect to renlegborrowings for one additional year at
then current market interest rates. As of DecerBtheR013, we had borrowed $20.0 million under thelit facility.

10. Shareholders’ equity
July 2013 share issuance
In July 2013, we issued 351,074 common shareslaemed price of $7.12 per common share to Direet ote 15).

June 2011 share issuance

In June 2011, we issued 1,850,000 common shaeedetmed price of $20.50 per common share in ateridacement to an accredited
investor in connection with the acquisition of TBNG

February 2011 share issuance

In February 2011, we issued 892,448 common shaesieemed price of $31.50 per common share iivatprplacement to an accredited
investor in connection with the acquisition of @it&orocco, Anschutz and Direct Bulgaria.

Restricted stock unit

Under our 2009 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “IrtoenPlan”), we award restricted stock units (“R3Umd other sharbased compensatis
to certain of our directors, officers, employeed aaonsultants. Each RSU is equal in value to ormiotommon shares on the grant date. L
vesting, an award recipient is entitled to a numdd@rommon shares equal to the number of vestedsRBluie RSU awards can only be settled
in common shares. As a result, RSUs are classifieghjuity. At the grant date, we make an estimfatigedforfeitures expected to occur during
the vesting period and record compensation costfrtbe estimated forfeitures, over the requiséevice period. The current forfeiture rate is
estimated to be 10%.

Under the Incentive Plan, RSUs vest over speciiribds of time ranging from immediately to fouayg RSUs are deemed full value awards
and their value is equal to the market price ofemmmon shares on the grant date. ASC 718 reqthia¢she Incentive Plan be approved in
order to establish a grant date. Under ASC 718agipeoval date for the Incentive Plan was Febr@aB009, the date our board of directors
approved the Incentive Plan.

In connection with the sale of our oilfield senddausiness, we accelerated the vesting of RSUsnfiptoyees of this business, and we
recognized $1.0 million in share-based compensatipense during the three months ended June 3Q, Z01al share-based compensation of
approximately $1.7 million and $3.6 million withsggect to awards of RSUs was recorded for the yerated December 31, 2013 and 2012,
respectively. As of December 31, 2013, we had apprately $1.3 million of unrecognized compensatipense related to unvested RSUSs,
which is expected to be recognized over a weigatenlage period of 1.4 years.
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The following table sets forth RSU activity for tixear ended December 31, 2013:

Weighted
Average Grant
Number of Date Fair Value

RSUs

(in thousands Per RSU
Unvested RSUs outstanding at December 31, 2012 31t $ 12.4¢
Grantec 172 7.1C
Forfeited (62) 10.2(
Vested (129 14.5%
Unvested RSUs outstanding at December 31, : 29¢€ $ 8.91

Stock option plar

Our Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan (2G06)“Option Plan”) terminated on June 16, 2009.qAltstanding awards issued under the
Option Plan remained in full force and effect. A@cember 31, 2013, there were no options outsignehder the Option Plan. All options
previously outstanding under the Option Plan hfideayear term.

The fair value of stock options is determined ughmgBlack-Scholes Model and is recognized ovestrgice period of the stock option. All
stock options are fully vested; therefore, no stim®ed compensation expense for stock option aweadsecorded for the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011. We did not gnaystock options during the years ended Decenmhe2®.3, 2012 and 2011.

Details of stock option activity for the years edd2ecember 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 are presentad.be

2013 2012 2011

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise

Number of Price Number of Price Number of Price

Options Per Options Per Options Per

(in thousands’ Share (in thousands Share (in thousands’ Share
Outstanding at January 1, 16 $12.3( 114 $ 9.07 211 $ 8.6C

Grantec — — — — — —
Expired (16) 12.3( (17) 10.0¢ (13 12.9¢
Exercisec — — (81) 8.24 (84 7.3¢€
Outstanding at December & — $ — 16 $12.3( 114 $ 9.07
Exercisable at December & — $ — 16 $12.3( 114 $ 9.07

Earnings per share

We account for earnings per share in accordandeA®C Subtopic 260-1&arnings Per Shar€'ASC 260-10"). ASC 260-10 requires
companies to present two calculations of earnimgspare: basic and diluted. Basic earnings penaamshare for the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 equals net indoriteed by the weighted average shares outstaralingg the periods. Weighted averz
shares outstanding are equal to the weighted agefagjl shares outstanding for the period, execlgdRSUs. Diluted earnings per common
share for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012Gil1 are computed in the same manner as basiogaper common share after
assuming the issuance of common shares for alhpally dilutive common share equivalents, whichludes stock options, RSUs and
warrants, whether exercisable or not. The compurtaif diluted earnings per common share exclud&i58s, 959,438 and 2,075,213
antidilutive common share equivalents from the gearded December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, resplgctiv
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The following table presents the basic and dil@athings per common share computations:

2013 2012 2011

(in thousands, except per share amount:
Net loss from continuing operatio $(13,277) $(6,379) $(77,572)
Net (loss) income from discontinued operati $ (442 $22,61¢ $(43,36¢)
Basic net (loss) income per common sh
Shares

Weighted average common shares outstan 37,06¢ 36,74: 35,59
Basic net (loss) income per common sh

Continuing operation $ (0.36) $ (0.19) $ (2.19

Discontinued operatior $ (0.0) $ 0.6z $ (1.29
Diluted net (loss) income per common shi
Shares

Weighted average common shares and common equidlares

outstanding 37,06¢ 36,74 35,59

Diluted net (loss) income per common shi

Continuing operation $ (0.3 $ (0.19) $ (2.19

Discontinued operatior $ (0.0)) $ 0.62 $ (1.29

Additionally, we had a contingent liability at Deuber 31, 2013 of approximately $2.5 million thapayable in our common shares. At the
December 31, 2013 closing price of our common shahés liability represented 294,117 common sh#rascould be potentially dilutive to
future earnings per share calculations.

11. Income taxes

The income tax provision differs from the amourdttivould be obtained by applying the Bermuda stayuhcome tax rate of 0% for 2013,
2012 and 2011 to loss for the year as follows:

Statutory tax rat

Income (loss) from continuing operations beformme taxe:

Increase (decrease) resulting frc

Foreign tax rate differentia

Change in valuation allowan
Expiration of nor-capital tax loss carryove

Other
Total
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2013

0.00%
$(12,169)

(1,449
982
1,367
201

$ 1,107

2012

(in thousands)

0.0(%
$ 11¢

8,60

2011

0.0(%
$(80,139)

(11,179
6,871
1,19¢

53¢

$ (2,569
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The components of the net deferred income taxlifiplsit December 31, 2013 and 2012 were as follows:

2013 2012
(in thousands)

Deferred tax asse

Unrealized derivative loss: $ 1,59/ $ 1,75¢
Timing of accruals 1,04: 1,251
Non-capital loss carryovel 25,86¢ 28,45t
Valuation Allowance (28,409 (29,059
Total deferred tax asse 101 2,40¢
Deferred tax liabilities
Property and equipme $(13,099) $(16,999)
Total deferred tax liabilitie (13,099 (16,999
Net deferred tax liabilitie $(12,997) $(14,589)
Components of net deferred tax liabilit
Current assel $ 2,23¢ $ 1,89
Non-current asset 90:< —
Non-current liabilities (16,139 (16,489
Net deferred tax liabilitie $(12,997) $(14,589)

We have accumulated losses or resource-relatectti@ds available for income tax purposes in Turk®gmania, Bulgaria and the United
States. As of December 31, 2013, we had non-capidbsses in Turkey of approximately 134.0 millibRY (approximately $62.8 million),
which will begin expiring in 2014; non-capital tlbsses in Romania of approximately 24.9 million Ravan New Leu (approximately $7.7
million), which will begin expiring in 2014; non-pé#al losses in Bulgaria of approximately 5.8 noifliBulgarian Lev (approximately $4.1
million), which will begin expiring in 2014; and necapital tax losses in the United States of apprately $26.1 million, which will begin
expiring in 2018.

Effective October 1, 2009, we continued to thesdiétion of Bermuda. We have determined that nesaxere payable upon the continuance.
However, our tax filing positions are still subjéotreview by taxation authorities who may sucagigsthallenge our interpretation of the
applicable tax legislation and regulations, with thsult that additional taxes could be payablasy

We file income tax returns in the United Stategkéy, Romania, Bulgaria, Morocco and Cyprus, withkey being the only jurisdiction with
significant amounts of taxes due. Income tax regditad in Turkey for years before 2008 are no lemgubject to examination. The Turkish
Ministry of Finance is currently conducting tax @&adn two of our Turkish subsidiaries, Amity anBNG, for the years ended December 31,
2010 and 2012, respectively. The Turkish Ministifrmance recently began an audit of our Turkidhssdiary, TEMI, for the year ended
December 31, 2010.

In connection with our acquisition of Amity and Retas in August 2010, at December 31, 2012, wegrgzed a liability due to an uncertain
tax position related to the transfer of Petrogaseshto Amity prior to the acquisition. Pursuantite Amity share purchase agreement, we are
indemnified from any tax liability arising in Turikeor Australia as a result of the transfer of tlér&@gas shares for a period of up to six years
from the sale date at an amount up to 50% of thehase price of $96.3 million and, therefore, haaerded a corresponding receivable in
other long-term assets.

As of December 31, 2013 the liability and receieatdbnsisted of taxes of $3.3 million, penaltie$@f7 million and interest of $1.8 million.
During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 204 Z,ompany recorded interest of $0.5 million ah@$nillion, respectively.

As of December 31, 2013, there were no materiabdam tax positions for which the total amountsiofecognized tax benefits will
significantly increase or decrease within the riexmonths.
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12. Segment information
In accordance with ASC 288egment ReportindASC 280”), we have two reportable geographic segments: TuakeyBulgaria. Summarizt
financial information from continuing operationshcerning our geographic segments is shown in thewimg tables:

Corporate Turkey Bulgaria Total
(in thousands)

For the year ended December 31, 2(

Total revenue $ — $130,70: $ 12¢ $130,82°
Production 5 18,38 213 18,60:
Exploration, abandonment and impairm — 27,11¢ 217 27,33:
Cost of purchased natural ¢ — 2,24 — 2,24
Seismic and other exploratic 10C 13,90¢ — 14,00¢
Revaluation of contingent considerati — — (5,000 (5,000
General and administrati 12,68¢ 16,06¢ 267 29,02
Depreciation, depletion and amortizat 69 41,19¢ 57 41,32
Accretion of asset retirement obligatic — 47¢ 33 50¢
Total costs and expens 12,85¢ 119,39! (4,217) 128,04:
Operating (loss) incom (12,859 11,30¢ 4,33¢ 2,78¢
Interest and other expen — (3,929 — (3,929
Interest and other incon 284 1,05¢ — 1,34(
Loss on commodity derivative contra — (2,69¢) — (2,69¢)
Foreign exchange (loss) g¢ (9) (9,669 10 (9,669
Income (loss) from continuing operations beforeme taxe: (12,589 (3,929 4,34¢ (12,169
Income tax provisiol — (1,109 — (1,107
Net (loss) income from continuing operatic $(12,589) $ (5,036 $ 4,34¢ $(13,27))
Total assets as of December 31, 2 $ 14,07( $321,74¢ $10,23: $346,05(W
Goodwill as of December 31, 20 $ — $ 7,53t $ — $ 7,53
Capital expenditure $ 1,00: $ 96,20¢ $ 2,742 $ 99,95:
For the year ended December 31, 2(

Total revenue: $ — $143,65( $ 25¢ $143,90¢
Production 16¢ 17,32¢ 307 17,80¢
Exploration, abandonment and impairm 28t 39,70¢ — 39,99:
Cost of purchased natural ¢ — 7,69/ — 7,69/
Seismic and other exploratic 304 4,72¢ 10 5,04(
General and administrati 10,98: 20,60s 2,362 33,941
Depreciation, depletion and amortizat 30 28,09: 93 28,21t
Accretion of asset retirement obligatic — 67¢ 31 71C
Total costs and expens 11,77( 118,83l 2,80z 133,40:
Operating (loss) incom (12,770 24,82( (2,545 10,50¢
Interest and other expen (1,890 (6,450 — (8,340
Interest and other incon 30¢ 2,11C — 2,41¢
Loss on commodity derivative contra — (5,549 — (5,54¢)
Foreign exchange gain (los 79 1,05¢ (50 1,08:
Income (loss) from continuing operations beforeme taxe: (13,279 15,98¢ (2,595 11¢€
Income tax provisiol — (6,49]) — (6,497
Net income (loss) from continuing operatic $(13,279) $ 9,49t $(2,59%) $ (6,379
Total assets as of December 31, 2 $ 14,93( $339,75: $ 1,957 $356,63(W
Goodwill as of December 31, 20 $ — $ 9,021 $ — $ 9,021
Capital expenditure $ — $ 80,95: $ 867 $ 81,82«
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Corporate Turkey Bulgaria Total
(in thousands)

For the year ended December 31, 2

Total revenue $ 66 $128,35¢ $ 48¢ $128,90!
Production 35¢ 17,48¢ 632 18,47:
Exploration, abandonment and impairm 2 37,00¢ 23,94 60,95:
Cost of purchased natural ¢ — 2,64¢ — 2,64¢
Seismic and other exploratic 1,801 9,651 84 11,54:
Revaluation of contingent considerati — — 6,00( 6,00(
General and administrati 14,71 21,58t 6 36,30¢
Depreciation, depletion and amortizat 127 38,38¢ 492 39,00¢
Accretion of asset retirement obligatic — 1,131 11 1,14
Total costs and expens 17,00 127,89¢ 31,16: 176,06!
Operating (loss) incom (16,937) 457 (30,689 (47,169
Interest and other (expense) inca (6,789 (6,87¢) 3 (13,665
Interest and other incon 27 914 14¢ 1,08¢
Loss on commodity derivative contra — (8,42¢) — (8,42¢)
Foreign exchange lot (23) (11,740 (210 (11,977
Loss from continuing operations before income t¢ (23,71 (25,677) (30,749 (80,139
Income tax benefi — 2,56¢ 2,56¢
Net loss from continuing operatio $(23,717)  $(23,109)  $(30,749  $(77,579
Total assets as of December 31, 2 $ 3,71¢ $313,75: $ 4,16« $321,63
Goodwill as of December 31, 20 $ — $ 8,51« $ — $ 8,514
Capital expenditure $ — $117,07: $ 35,36¢ $152,44(

(1) Excludes assets from our discontinued Moroccanatipers and oilfield services business of $0.5 omil]i$1.6 million, and $127.2 millic
at December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respecti

13. Financial instruments
Interest rate risk

We are exposed to interest rate risk as a reswltiofariable rate short-term cash holdings anddwgngs under the Amended and Restated
Credit Facility.

Foreign currency risk

We have underlying foreign currency exchange raposure. Our currency exposures relate to trarmectienominated in the Bulgarian Lev,
European Union Euro, and TRY. We are also subgeftireign currency exposures resulting from traimsfgthe functional currency of our
subsidiary financial statements into the U.S. Drakgoorting currency. We have not used foreignenoy forward contracts to manage
exchange rate fluctuations. At December 31, 20E3had 22.8 million TRY (approximately $10.7 milljom cash and cash equivalents, which
exposes us to exchange rate risk based on fluohgaith the value of the TRY.

Commodity price risk

We are exposed to fluctuations in commodity priceil and natural gas. Commaodity prices are aéddy many factors, including but not
limited to, supply and demand. At December 31, 28132012, we were a party to commodity derivativetracts.
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Concentration of credit risk

The majority of our receivables are within theard natural gas industry, primarily from our indygiartners and from government agencies.
Included in receivables are amounts due from TerKgtrolleri Anonim Ortakligi (“TPAQO”), the natiohail company of Turkey, Zorlu Dogal
Gaz Ithalat Ihracat ve Toptan Ticaret A.S. (“ZojlA privately owned natural gas distributor in Key, and TUPRAS, which purchase the
majority of our oil and natural gas production. Theeivables are not collateralized. To date, e lexperienced minimal bad debts and have
no allowance for doubtful accounts. The majorityaf cash and cash equivalents are held by thmaadial institutions in the United States
and Turkey.

Fair value measurements

Cash and cash equivalents, receivables, accouydblgaaccrued liabilities, and the TBNG creditilfgcwere each estimated to have a fair
value approximating the carrying amount at Decen3ie2013 and 2012 due to the short maturity of¢hastruments. Indebtedness under th
Amended and Restated Credit Facility was estimiatédve a fair value approximating the carrying antat December 31, 2013 and 2012
since the interest rate is generally market semsiti

The financial assets and liabilities measured etarring basis at December 31, 2013 and 2012 st@asof our commaodity derivative
contracts. Fair values for options are based onteoparty market prices. The counterparties us&ebatandard valuation methodologies
incorporating market inputs for volatility and rifilee interest rates in arriving at a fair valuedach option contract. Prices are verified by us
using analytical tools. There are no performandigations related to the call options purchasedeidge our oil production.

We utilize independent third-party pricing servitesletermine the fair values of derivative conisad¢he independent third party determines
fair values using models based on a range of obbkrynarket inputs, including pricing models, qdatearket prices of publicly traded
securities with similar duration and yield, timdu& yield curve, prepayment spreads, default ratelsdiscounted cash flow and the values fo
these contracts are disclosed in Level 2 of thevigue hierarchy. Generally, we obtain a singlegor quote per instrument from independen
third parties to assist in establishing the falueaof these contracts. We review prices receivenhfservice providers for unusual fluctuations
to ensure that the prices represent a reasonabieass of fair value.

The following table summarizes the valuation of fimancial assets and liabilities as of December281 3:

Fair Value Measurement Classification

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for

Identical Assets ol Significant Other Significant
Observable Inputs Unobservable Inputs
Liabilities
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(in thousands)
Liabilities:
Commodity derivative
contracts $ — $ (7,969) $ — $(7,969)

Total $ — $ (7,96 $ — $(7,967)
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The following table summarizes the valuation of fimancial assets and liabilities as of December2812:

Fair Value Measurement Classification

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for

Identical Assets ol Significant Other Significant
Observable Inputs Unobservable Inputs
Liabilities
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(in thousands)
Liabilities:
Commaodity derivative
contracts $ — $ 8,790) $ — $(8,790
Total $ — $ (8,790 $ — $(8,790
14. Commitments
Our aggregate annual commitments, other than @unslpayable, as of December 31, 2013 were as fallow
Payments Due by Yeal
Total 2014 2015 2016 2017 201¢ Thereafter
(in thousands)
Leases and otht $5,60: $2,54¢ $90: $29¢ $9¢ $3¢ $1,72:

Normal operations purchase arrangements are extfooi® the table as they are discretionary or beedormed under contracts which
cancelable immediately or with a 30-day notice queri

We lease office space in Dallas, Texas, Bulgarthaurkey. We also lease apartments in Turkey afth®aas well as operations yards in
Turkey. Rent expense for the years ended Decenih@0d3, 2012 and 2011 was $3.3 million, $3.5 miilland $3.4 million, respectively.

15. Contingencies
Selmo

We are involved in litigation with persons who atedwnership of a portion of the surface at the ®ehihfield in Turkey. These cases are
being vigorously defended by TEMI and Turkish gaweental authorities. We do not have enough infoionab estimate the potential
additional operating costs we would incur in thergwthe purported surface owners’ claims are utgasuccessful. Any adjustment arising
out of the claims will be recorded when it becompesbable and measurable.

Morocco

In the second quarter of 2012, we were notified tiha Moroccan government may seek to recover appedely $5.5 million in contractual
obligations under our Tselfat exploration permitrkvprogram. In February 2013, the Moroccan govemmdeew down our $1.0 million bank
guarantee that was put in place to ensure our egiace of the Tselfat exploration permit work paogr Although we believe that the bank
guarantee satisfies our contractual obligationstegerded $5.0 million in accrued liabilities rétat to our Tselfat exploration permit during
2012 for this contingency.

Aglen

In the second quarter of 2012, we were notified tihe Bulgarian government may seek to recoverapprately $2.0 million in contractual
obligations under our Aglen exploration permit wprogram. Due to the Bulgarian government’s Jan@a@f? ban on fracture stimulation and
related activities, the government recognized egfanajeure event under the terms of the explorgtéwmit. Although we invoked force
majeure, we have recorded $2.0 million in accrugglities relating to our Aglen exploration perrdiiring 2012 for this contractual obligatic
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Direct Petroleum

In July 2013, we entered into a second amendmieat'’Amendment”) to the Purchase Agreement with @irBursuant to the Amendment, we
issued 351,074 common shares to Direct as pagiahpnt of certain liquidated damages due undePthiehase Agreement. The number of
shares was calculated by dividing $2.5 million bg volume weighted average price per share of @mnwon shares on the NYSE MKT for
ten trading days prior to July 2, 2013.

The parties also agreed that Direct is not eligibteany liquidated damages relating to the coohthe Etropole shale formation, which
resulted in the reversal of the $5.0 million cogént liability recorded in 2011, which we recogmize our consolidated statement of
comprehensive income (loss) under the caption “Reti@an of contingent consideration.”

The Amendment sets forth a new obligation to @mitl test the Deventci-R2 well by May 1, 2014. e &vent that we do not meet the drilling
and testing obligations by May 1, 2014, the Amendimequires us to issue an additional $2.5 milllloommon shares (the “Additional
Liquidated Damages'ip Direct. As such, the $2.5 million contingenbliiy, recorded in 2011, remained as of Decemider2®13. In additior
the Amendment provides that we will issue $7.5imillin common shares, less the Additional Liquidddamages, if any, if the Deventci-R2
well is a commercial success (as defined in theliftage Agreement) on or prior to May 1, 2016. Wéngitord any provision for this
contingent consideration when it is estimable amdbable. As of December 31, 2013, we did not reeocdntingent liability for this continge
consideration.

Additionally, the Amendment provides that if thel@arian government issues a production concessientbe Stefenetz Concession Area,
Direct will be entitled to a payment of $10.0 nahiin common shares, or a pro rata amount if tbeymtion concession is less than 200,000
acres. We do not have enough information to eséinttet potential contingent liability we would indarthe event the Bulgarian government
issues a production concession over the StefermizeSsion Area. Any adjustment will be recordedmibt®ecomes probable and estimable.

16. Related party transactions
Equity transactions

On September 1, 2010, we issued 730,000 commor phachase warrants to Dalea Partners, LP (“Daj@a&§uant to a credit agreement with
Dalea. The common share purchase warrants hadeacisg price of $60.00 per share, and expired gteBer 1, 2013. Dalea is an affiliate
of Mr. Mitchell.

Sale of oilfield services busine:

On June 13, 2012, we closed the sale of our d@lelrvices business, which was substantially caagrof our wholly owned subsidiaries
Viking International Limited (“Viking Internation&l and Viking Geophysical Services, Ltd. (“VikingeBphysical”), to a joint venture owned
by Dalea and funds advised by Abraaj Investmentddament Limited for an aggregate purchase pri&i168.5 million, consisting of
approximately $157.0 million in cash and a $11.8iom promissory note from Dalea. The promissoryenis payable five years from the date
of issuance or earlier upon the occurrence of esjgecified events, including an initial publidering by the joint venture. Upon the
consummation of an initial public offering by tharjt venture and the prior approval of Dalea, we ekect to convert the outstanding balance
of the promissory note, including accrued interisg the number of shares offered in the initiablic offering equal to such outstanding
balance divided by the per share purchase pricktpathe public in the initial public offering. Thromissory note bears interest at a rate of
3.0% per annum and is guaranteed by Mr. Mitchell.
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Service transaction

Effective May 1, 2008, we entered into a serviceeament, as amended (the “Service Agreement”), kotigfellow Energy, LP
(“Longfellow™), Viking Drilling LLC (“Viking Drilli ng”), MedOil Supply, LLC and Riata Management, L[Riata Management”).

Mr. Mitchell and his wife own 100% of Riata Managem In addition, Mr. Mitchell, his wife and hisitdren indirectly own 100% of
Longfellow. Riata Management owns 100% of MedOipgly, LLC. Dalea owns 85% of Viking Drilling. Undéhe terms of the Service
Agreement, we pay, or are paid, for the actual obtte services rendered plus the actual costaganable expenses on a monthly basis.

Effective January 1, 2011, our wholly owned sulzsigli TEMI, entered into an accommodation agreemader which it leased rooms, flats
and office space at a resort hotel owned by Gunbignzm Yatirim ve Isletme A.S. (“Gundem”), a Turkisompany controlled by
Mr. Mitchell. Under the accommodation agreementMT leases six rooms at the hotel and pays the TRYwvalent of $6,000 per month.

On August 23, 2011, the Company’s wholly owned glias/, TransAtlantic Petroleum (USA) Corp. (“Traktkantic USA”), entered into an
office lease with Longfellow to lease approximat&)$00 square feet of corporate office space inigaid Texas. The initial lease term under
the lease commenced on July 1, 2013, the datdthasAtlantic USA subleased a portion of its presgioffice space in Dallas, Texas (the
“Commencement Date”). The lease expires five yaties the Commencement Date, unless earlier tetedria accordance with the lease.
During the initial lease term, TransAtlantic USAlvgiay monthly rent of $6,625 to Longfellow pludijlities, real property taxes and liability
insurance. Prior to the Commencement Date, no uglities, real property taxes and/or liabilitysurance were required to be paid to
Longfellow under the lease.

On June 13, 2012, we entered into separate mastacas agreements with each of Viking InternatipWiéking Petrol Sahasi Hizmetleri AS
(“VOS”) and Viking Geophysical in connection withet sale of our ailfield services business to atjeanture owned by Dalea and funds
managed by Abraaj Investment Management LimitedsuRnt to the master services agreements with Yikiternational and VOS, we are
entitled to receive certain oilfield services andtemials, including, but not limited to, drillinggs and fracture stimulation that are needed for
our operations in Bulgaria and Turkey. Pursuarthéomaster services agreement with Viking Geoplay,siee are also entitled to receive
geophysical services and materials that are nefedexir operations in those countries. Each ma#rrices agreement is for a five-year term.
Currently, we can contract for services and mdteda a firm basis and, to the extent that we dacoatract for all of their services or
materials, Viking International, VOS and Viking Géysical are allowed to contract with third parfiesany remaining capacity.

connection with the sale of our oilfield servicesimess to a joint venture owned by Dalea and fumaisaged by Abraaj Investment
Management Limited. Pursuant to the transitionises/agreement, we agreed to provide certain adtrative services, including, but not
limited to, continued use of certain of our empleyand independent contractors, a guarantee ata fer flats in Turkey, Turkish tax or legal
advice and services, office space in Istanbul, @yrknformation technology support and certainwafe or licenses to Viking Management. In
addition, Viking Management agreed to cause itsislidiries to provide us with the continued useestain office space in Tekirdag, Turkey.
the third quarter of 2012, we entered into an addento the transition services agreement wherekinyiManagement agreed to cause its
subsidiaries to provide us with the continued Useeaain equipment yards in the Thrace Basin argbuthwestern Turkey. The addendum
terminate on April 1, 2014. The transition serviegseement has a two-year term. Viking Managemgmteal to use commercially reasonable
efforts to eliminate its need for such services@m as practicable following the entry into thesggnent.

On April 5, 2013 (the “First Floor Commencement &t TransAtlantic USA entered into an office leagth Longfellow to lease
approximately 4,700 square feet of additional caapmoffice space in Addison, Texas. The initialse term commenced on the First Floor
Commencement Date and expires five years aftefitlse Floor
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Commencement Date, unless earlier terminated iordaace with the lease. For the first year of #asé, TransAtlantic USA will pay monthly
rent of $7,533 to Longfellow plus, utilities, rgaioperty taxes and liability insurance.

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 201ixcwaed capital and operating expenditures of B&&illion and $73.8 million,
respectively, related to our various related pagseements.

The following table summarizes related party act®ueceivable and accounts payable as of Decembh@033 and December 31, 2012:

December 31 December 31

2013 2012
(in thousands)

Related party accounts receivab

Viking International master services agreern $ 93¢ $ 313
Riata Management Service Agreem 65 —
Dalea promissory not — 10¢€
Total related party accounts receiva $ 1,00¢ $ 41¢
Related party accounts payab
Viking International master services agreemn $ 15,95¢ $ 15,467
Viking Geophysical master services agreen 6,80( —
Riata Management Service Agreem 334 167
Total related party accounts paya $ 23,09 $ 15,63¢

17. Discontinued operations
Discontinued operations in Morocc

On June 27, 2011, we decided to discontinue ouratipes in Morocco. We have substantially completedprocess of winding down our
operations in Morocco. We have presented the Mamsegment operating results as discontinued dapesdor all periods presented.

Discontinued operations of oilfield services busas

On June 13, 2012, we closed the sale of our d@lelrvices business, which was substantially caagrof our wholly owned subsidiaries
Viking International and Viking Geophysical, todirjt venture owned by Dalea and funds advised bypéjdnvestment Management Limited
for an aggregate purchase price of $168.5 milll@msisting of approximately $157.0 million in casid a $11.5 million promissory note from
Dalea. The transaction was approved by a speamhttiee of our board of directors after the receia fairness opinion solely for the benefit
of the special committee, which was subject toaterssumptions and limitations as provided in sahion. The promissory note is payable
five years from the date of issuance or earliemugh@ occurrence of certain specified events, ginly an initial public offering by the joint
venture. Upon the consummation of an initial pubfi@ring by the joint venture and the prior apmbef Dalea, we can elect to convert the
outstanding balance of the promissory note, inclgdiccrued interest, into the number of shareseaxdfen the initial public offering equal to
such outstanding balance divided by the per shaighpse price paid by the public in the initial beibffering. The promissory note bears
interest at a rate of 3.0% per annum and is gueedrtby Mr. Mitchell. We used a portion of the netqeeds from the sale to pay off our
$73.0 million credit agreement with Dalea, our $lrillion credit facility with Dalea, our $0.9 miin promissory note with Viking Drilling
and our $1.8 million credit agreement with a Tunkank. In addition, we used a portion of the metpeds from the sale of our oilfield
services business to pay down approximately $4%5IBmin outstanding indebtedness under our Amehaed Restated Credit Facility. We
have presented the oilfield services segment dpgregsults as discontinued operations for thes/eaded December 31, 2013 and 2012.
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The assets and liabilities held for sale at DecerBlhe2013 and 2012 were as follows:

December 31 December 31
2013 2012
(in thousands)

Cash $ 23 $ 93
Other asset® 51¢ 1,52¢
Total assets held for s¢ $ 53¢ $ 1,61¢
Accrued expenses and other liabilit 7,55¢ 8,41¢
Total liabilities held for sal: $ 7,55¢ $ 8,41¢

(1) Other assets consist primarily of $0.5 milleomd $1.5 million of restricted cash at December2B13 and December 31,
2012, respectively.

Our operating results from discontinued operationshe years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 antl @@&lsummarized as follows:

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)

Total revenue: $— $ 19,95¢ $ 28,41¢
Total costs and expens (50¢& (24,687) (70,265
Total other income (expens 63 (359 2,732
Loss from discontinued operations before incomeg (442) (5,089 (39,119

Gain on disposal of discontinued operati — 35,99¢ —
Income tax provisiol — (8,299 (4,25
Net (loss) income from discontinued operati $(442) $ 22,61¢ $(43,369)

18. Subsequent events

Reverse Stock Sp. On March 4, 2014, the Company’s shareholdersosepra 1-for-10 reverse stock split, which becaffectve March 6,
2014. Pursuant to the reverse stock split, alleti@ders of record received one common share fdr s common shares owned (subject to
minor adjustments as a result of fractional shar@s® reverse stock split reduced the issued atsdamding common shares from 374,026,984
to 37,402,698. U.S. GAAP requires that the revstsek split be applied retrospectively to all pdggresented. As a result, all common share
transactions described herein have been adjustedleéat the 1-for-10 reverse stock split.

Idil Farm-Out. In February 2014, our wholly owned subsidiaryarigAtlantic Turkey, and Selsinsan Petrol Maden B&n ve Tic. Ltd. Sti.
(“Selsinsan”) entered into a farm-out agreemenh hshore Petroleum Company AS (“Onshore”), a peiwdl and gas company. Pursuant to
the agreement, Onshore will fund 100% of our ihitgploration well, up to $3.5 million, on the Ildi€ense in southeastern Turkey. Expenses
over $3.5 million will be split equally between aisd Onshore. In exchange, TransAtlantic Turkey2®idinsan will assign Onshore a 50%
interest in the Idil license.
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T RANSA TLANTIC P ETROLEUM L TD.
Supplemental Information
(unaudited)
Supplemental quarterly financial dat
The following table summarizes results for eactheffour quarters in the years ended December@®13 and 2012.
Three Months Ended

March 31, June 30, September 3C December 31
(in thousands, except per share datz

For the year ended December 31, 201

Revenue: $34,04« $ 30,51¢ $ 32,34 $ 33,92
Net income (loss® 2,93¢ 2,90z (4,979 (14,587
Comprehensive income (los 10z (10,640 (15,599 (24,55()
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per commoneshar

from continuing operation® $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢ $ (0.19) $ (039
For the year ended December 31, 201
Revenue: $36,67: $ 34,42¢ $ 34,81 $ 37,99
Net (loss) incomi (3,627 25,10¢ 6,99/ (12,227
Comprehensive income (los 9,73¢ 26,245 10,14( (7,657%)
Basic and diluted net (loss) income per commoneshar

from continuing operation® $ (0.09 $ 0.2t $ 0.01 $ (0.39

(1) The sum of the individual quarterly net incoffess) amounts per share may not agree with yedet® net income (loss) per share
as each quarterly computation is based on thennetrie or loss for that quarter and the weightedamenumber of shares
outstanding during that quart

(2) See Note 15 regarding the revaluation of contingensideration which was recorded during the timeaths ended June 30, 20

Supplemental oil and natural gas reserves informati

As required by the FASB and SEC, the standardizeaisore of discounted future net cash flows (tharf@&rdized Measure”) presented below
is computed by applying first-day-of-the-month age prices, year-end costs and legislated tax aags discount factor of 10% to proved
reserves. We do not believe the Standardized Megsuorides a reliable estimate of the Company’'setqul future cash flows to be obtained
from the development and production of its oil aadlural gas properties or of the value of its pcowt and natural gas reserves. The
Standardized Measure is prepared on the basigtafrc@rescribed assumptions including first-daytrad-month average prices, which
represent discrete points in time and therefore caange significant variability in cash flows froreay-to-year as prices change.

Users of this information should be aware thattezess of estimating quantities of proved and @dadeveloped oil and natural gas reserv
very complex, requiring significant subjective dgans in the evaluation of all available geologiealgineering and economic data for each
reservoir. The data for a given reservoir also gfeange substantially over time as a result of noogefactors, including additional
development activity, evolving production historydacontinual reassessment of the viability of paiiun under varying economic conditions.
Consequently, revisions to existing reserves esisnaay occur from time to time. Although everys@zable effort is made to ensure reserve
estimates reported represent the most accuratesassets possible, the subjective decisions andnees in available data for various
reservoirs make these estimates generally lessspréiian other estimates included in the finarstetement disclosures.
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Proved reserves are those quantities of oil angralagas that by analysis of geoscience and engiredata can be estimated with reasonable
certainty to be economically producible—from a givdate forward, from known reservoirs, and undésteyg economic conditions, operating
methods and government regulations—prior to the ttwhich contracts providing the right to opeatpire, unless evidence indicates that
renewal is reasonably certain, regardless of whetbirministic or probabilistic methods are usattiie estimation. The project to extract the
hydrocarbons must have commenced or the operatstrmeureasonably certain that it will commencegttaect within a reasonable time. We
engaged DeGolyer & MacNaughton to prepare our vesegstimates comprising 100% of our estimatedqurogserves (by volume) at
December 31, 2013.

The following unaudited schedules are presentedt@ordance with required disclosures about oilreatdral gas producing activities to
provide users with a common base for preparingnesés of future cash flows and comparing reserremg companies.

All of our proved reserves are located in Turkey all prices are held constant in accordance S rules.

Oil and natural gas prices used to estimate resaveee computed by applying the unweighted, aritiiaverage of the closing price on the
first day of each month for the 12-month periodptdo December 2013, 2012 and 2011. The oil andrabgias prices used to estimate reserve
are shown in the table below.

12-Month

Average Price
Natural Gas

oil

(per Bbl) (per Mcf)
2013 $102.07 $ 9.9
2012 $108.6¢ $ 87¢
2011 $108.0( $ 7.1¢
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The following table sets forth our estimated netved reserves (natural gas converted to Mboe hididiy Mmcf by six), including changes
therein, and proved developed reserves:

Disclosure of reserves quantitie

Natural Gas
oil Total
(Mbbl) (Mmcf) (Mboe)
Total proved reserves
December 31, 201 12,93¢ 22,42¢ 16,67
Acquisitions 1 5,62( 93¢
Extensions and discoveri 33 46¢ 111
Revisions of previous estimat (864) (20,637 (2,63€)
Sales volume (897) (4,657 (1,667
December 31, 201 11,21¢ 13,22¢ 13,41¢
Extensions and discoveri 1,794 3,05¢ 2,30¢
Revisions of previous estimat (2,540 427 (2,470
Sales volume (949 (4,239 (1,655
December 31, 201 9,52( 12,46! 11,59:
Extensions and discoveri 1,56% 2,65z 2,00¢
Revisions of previous estimat (43€) 3,43¢ 137
Sales volume (939 (3,519 (1,519
December 31, 201 9,714 15,03¢ 12,22:
Proved developed reserve
December 31, 201
Proved developed producil 4,28¢ 6,56/ 5,37¢
Proved developed n-producing 1,08¢ 3,95¢ 1,74¢
Total 5,37: 10,52( 7,12¢
December 31, 201
Proved developed producil 4,247 5,22¢ 5112
Proved developed n-producing 91C 2,88 1,391
Total 5,151 8,11t 6,50:
December 31, 201
Proved developed producil 4,54( 7,18¢ 5,73¢
Proved developed n-producing 33t 3,261 87¢
Total 4,87¢ 10,45( 6,617
Proved developed reserve
As of December 31, 201 5,37: 10,52( 7,12¢
As of December 31, 201 5,151 8,11¢ 6,50:
As of December 31, 201 4,87¢ 10,45( 6,617
Proved undeveloped reserve
As of December 31, 201 5,84: 2,708 6,29:
As of December 31, 201 4,36¢ 4,34¢ 5,09
As of December 31, 201 4,83¢ 4,58¢ 5,60¢
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Standardized measure of discounted future net céskvs

The standardized measure of discounted futureasdt ffows relating to estimated proved reserves &ecember 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 ar
shown in the table below.

2013 2012(1) 2011
(in thousands)

Future cash inflow $1,141,77! $1,143,34 $1,306,84-
Future production cos (190,33) (227,879 (246,56¢)
Future development cos (131,649 (93,267 (63,805
Future income tax expen (127,97) (122,587 (171,599
Future net cash flown 691,82: 699,62: 824,88
10% annual discount for estimated timing of casw (196,059 (221,71)) (293,089
Standardized measure of discounted future netft@sh relatec

to proved reserve $ 495,76¢ $ 477,90¢ $ 531,79
(1) During the second quarter of 2013, we discaVel@ing our review procedures associated withnoidryear reserves

analysis, that the future lease operating expemsed in our 2012 reserves calculation were ovexbtdthis resulted in an
immaterial understatement of the present valub®Standardized Measure as of December 31, 20E2cdrnection
resulted in a proved reserves volume increasemioapmately 19 Mboe, related to one of our oil dfiewhere the econorr
life exceeds our remaining lease term. For the gaded December 31, 2012, this change in volumes meegligible
impact on the consolidated financial stateme

Changes in the standardized measure of discountgdre net cash flows

The following are the principal sources of chanigehe standardized measure of discounted futureash flows applicable to proved oil and
natural gas reserves for the years ended Decenib2033, 2012 and 2011.

2013 2012(1) 2011
(in thousands)

Standardized measure, Januar $ 477,90¢ $ 531,79 $ 438,36
Net change in sales and transfer prices and inugtadh (lifting)

costs related to future producti (7,869 (5949 244,98(
Changes in future estimated development ¢ (73,759 (66,179 (34,40)
Sales and transfers of oil and natural gas dutiegoerioc (108,674) (116,47 (108,919
Net change due to extensions and discovi 112,81 124.,64: 5,68¢
Net change due to purchases of minerals in — — 48,01%
Net change due to revisions in quantity estim 7,67¢ (133,63) (134,99)
Previously estimated development costs incurrethduhe perioc 47,25: 50,81( 54,94:
Accretion of discoun 56,37¢ 64,58 52,25¢
Other (12,070 (10,644) (15,604
Net change in income tax (3,899 33,60¢ (18,53)
Standardized measure, December $ 495,76¢ $ 477,90¢ $531,79°
(1) During the second quarter of 2013, we discaVel@ing our review procedures associated withnoidryear reserves

analysis, that the future lease operating expemnsed in our 2012 reserves calculation were ovextdthis resulted in an
immaterial understatement of the present valub®fStandardized Measure as of December 31, 20¥2cdrnection
resulted in a proved reserves volume increasemapnately 19 Mboe, related to one of our oil dfiglwhere the econorr
life exceeds our remaining lease term. For the gaded December 31, 2012, this change in volumes meegligible
impact on the consolidated financial stateme
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Capitalized costs related to oil and natural ga®ducing activities
Our capitalized costs for oil and natural gas priiee consisted of the following:

Turkey Other Total
(in thousands)

As of December 31, 20:
Oil and natural gas properti

Proved $260,23: $ 62¢ $260,85'
Unproved 51,27: 3,11¢ 54,39
Total oil and natural gas properti 311,50¢! 3,74¢ 315,24¢
Less accumulated depleti (96,38%) (570 (96,95%)
Net oil and natural gas properties capitalizeds: $215,11° $3,17¢ $218,29:

As of December 31, 20:
Oil and natural gas properti

Proved $229,46. $2,03¢ $231,49¢
Unproved 68,93¢ — 68,93¢
Total oil and natural gas properti 298,40( 2,03¢ 300,43t
Less accumulated depleti (73,589 (510 (74,099
Net oil and natural gas properties capitalizeds: $224,81: $1,52¢ $226,33'

As of December 31, 20:
Oil and natural gas properti

Proved $172,91° $1,691 $174,60¢
Unproved 70,39: — 70,39:
Total oil and natural gas properti 243,31( 1,691 245,00:
Less accumulated depleti (44,87() (457) (45,32)
Net oil and natural gas properties capitalizeds: $198,44( $1,23¢ $199,67-

Costs incurred in oil and natural gas property adgition, exploration and development
Costs incurred in oil and natural gas property @&stijon, exploration and development activities floe years ended December 31, 2013, 2012
and 2011 are summarized as follows:

Turkey Other Total
(in thousands)

For the year ended December 31, 2!
Acquisitions of propertie

Proved $ — $ — $ —
Unproved 6,75( — 6,75(
Exploration 40,25¢ 2,74z 43,00(
Developmen 47,25: — 47,25:
Total costs incurre $ 94,26( $ 2,742 $ 97,00:

For the year ended December 31, 2(
Acquisitions of propertie

Proved $ — $ — $ —

Unproved — — —
Exploration 36,46¢ — 36,46¢
Developmen 43,824 867 44,69
Total costs incurre $ 80,28¢ $ 867 $ 81,15¢

For the year ended December 31, 2(
Acquisitions of propertie

Proved $ 14,52¢ $ 1,20( $ 15,72¢
Unproved 16,13 25,84( 41,97
Exploration 22,53¢ — 22,53¢
Developmen 52,71: 192 52,90:
Total costs incurre $105,90: $27,23: $133,13:
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated March 15, 201@ntdyamong TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd., TransAtaw{orldwide, Ltd.,
Longe Energy Limited, TransAtlantic Petroleum (US29rp., TransAtlantic Petroleum Cyprus Limited, Mi International
Limited, Viking Geophysical Services, Ltd., Vikir@jlfield Services SRL and Dalea Partners, LP. (ipocated by reference to
Exhibit 2.1 to the Compar's Quarterly Report on Form -Q, filed with the SEC on May 10, 201.

Certificate of Continuance of TransAtlantic PettotelLtd., dated October 1, 2009 (incorporated bgrexice to Exhibit 3.1 to the
Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K dated October 1, 2009, filed with the SEC on ®eto7, 2009)

Altered Memorandum of Continuance of TransAtlaft@troleum Ltd., dated March 4, 2014 (incorporatgddference
to Exhibit 3.1 to the Compa’s Current Report on Forn-K dated March 6, 2014, filed with the SEC on Maégl2014).

Amended Bye-Laws of TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltatedi March 4, 2014 (incorporated by reference tailiiix3.2 to the
Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K dated March 6, 2014, filed with the SEC on Maéct2014).

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreerdateéd December 30, 2008, by and between TranditiBatroleum Corp.
and Riata Management, LLC (incorporated by refezdndExhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Reporfonm 8-K dated
December 30, 2008, filed with the SEC on JanuaB069).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated February 0&12by and between TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. Rirect Petroleum
Exploration, Inc. (incorporated by reference to iBkhL0.1 to the Company’s Current Report on For 8ated February 18,
2011, filed with the SEC on February 24, 20:

Specimen Common Share certificate (incorporatecefgrence to Exhibit 3.3 to the Company’s Curreep&t on Form 8< datec
March 4, 2014, filed with the SEC on March 6, 2Q:

Service Agreement, effective as of May 1, 2008abg among TransAtlantic Petroleum Corp., Longfellemergy, LP, Viking
Drilling, LLC, Longe Energy Limited and Riata Mareagent, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibitl1® the Company’s
Current Report on Form-K dated August 6, 2008, filed with the SEC on Felpyul2, 2009)

Amendment to Service Agreement, effective as ob@et 1, 2008, by and among TransAtlantic Petrol@arp., Longfellow
Energy, LP, Viking Drilling, LLC, Longe Energy Lirred, MedOil Supply LLC and Riata Management, LL&:@rporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s CurReport on Form 8-K dated August 6, 2008, filed wiith SEC on February 12,
2009).

Domestic Crude Oil Purchase/Sale Agreement, dated danuary 26, 2009, by and between Tirkiye PB&éinerileri AS. and
TransAtlantic Exploration Mediterranean InternatibRty. Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhilfit13 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form -K, filed with the SEC on April 21, 2011

Executive Employment Agreement, effective Januar3008, by and between TransAtlantic Petroleum Canp Jeffrey S.
Mecom (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8#® Company’s Annual Report on Form 20-F (File Bi@0-31643), filed with
the SEC on May 14, 200¢

TransAtlantic Petroleum Corp. 2009 Long-Term InagnPlan (incorporated by reference to Appendix Bhiie Definitive Proxy
Statement filed by TransAtlantic Petroleum Corphvihe SEC on April 30, 200¢

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (irprated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Conyfm@urrent Report on
Form ¢-K dated June 16, 2009, filed with the SEC on Juhe2009).
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10.7 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated Blapfl8, 2011, by and between DMLP, Ltd., PetrogetsdP Gaz ve
Petrokimya Uriinleri Isaat Sanayi ve Ticaret 8., Talon Exploration, Ltd., TransAtlantic Explorati Mediterranean
International Pty. Ltd., TransAtlantic Turkey, Ltds borrowers, TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd., Trgtentic Petroleum (USA)
Corp., TransAtlantic Worldwide, Ltd., as guarantdhe lenders party thereto from time to time, &tahdard Bank Plc and BNP
Paribas (Suisse) SA, as joint mandated lead arraragel joint bookrunners, and Standard Bank Plettes of credit issuer,
administrative agent, collateral agent and tectigigant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 110.the Company’s Current
Report on Form-K dated May 17, 2011, filed with the SEC on May 2011).

10.8 Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated Chegldement, dated as of August 4, 2011, by and ketwenity Oil
International Pty. Ltd., DMLP, Ltd., Petrogas Pet@z ve Petrokimya Uriinleri §aat Sanayi ve Ticaret ., Talon Exploratior
Ltd., TransAtlantic Exploration Mediterranean Imational Pty. Ltd. and TransAtlantic Turkey, Ltds borrowers, TransAtlant
Petroleum Ltd., TransAtlantic Petroleum (USA) CofransAtlantic Worldwide, Ltd., as guarantors, &tdndard Bank Plc as
administrative agent and as collateral agent (jm@@ted by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Compma@uarterly Report on
Form 1(-Q, filed with the SEC on November 9, 201

10.9 Amendment No. 2 to the Amended and Restated Chegldement, dated as of September 14, 2011, by efweekn Amity Oil
International Pty. Ltd., DMLP, Ltd., Petrogas Pet@z ve Petrokimya Uriinleri §aat Sanayi ve Ticaret ., Talon Exploratior
Ltd., TransAtlantic Exploration Mediterranean Imational Pty. Ltd. and TransAtlantic Turkey, Ltds borrowers, TransAtlant
Petroleum Ltd., TransAtlantic Petroleum (USA) CoifransAtlantic Worldwide, Ltd., as guarantors &tdndard Bank Plc as
administrative agent and collateral agent (incaapeat by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Compa@usirterly Report on Form
1C-Q, filed with the SEC on November 9, 201

10.10 Office Lease, dated August 23, 2011, by and betWw&ansAtlantic Petroleum (USA) Corp. and Longfell&wrergy, LP
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tlmrPany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated Aug@st2®11, filed with the
SEC on August 25, 2011

10.11¢t Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporatedrbference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s CuriReport on Form 8-K,
dated July 13, 2011, filed with the SEC on July2®11).
10.12 Master Services Agreement, dated June 13, 2012ndpetween TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. and ViKimgrnational Limited

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tlwer@any’s Current Report on Fornk8-dated June 13, 2012, filed with the £
on June 19, 2012

10.13 Master Services Agreement, dated June 13, 2012ntpetween TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. and Vikiegrol Sahasi
Hizmetleri A.S. (incorporated by reference to Exhil).2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form,&#ted June 13, 2012,
filed with the SEC on June 19, 201

10.14 Master Services Agreement, dated June 13, 2012n8ypetween TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. and Vikidepphysical Service
Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3hie Company’s Current Report on FornKgdated June 13, 2012, filed with 1
SEC on June 19, 201:

10.15 Transition Services Agreement, dated June 13, 201 and between TransAtlantic Petroleum, Ltd. afldnig Services
Management, Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Bixi0.4 to the Company’s Current Report on Fori, 8ated June 13, 201
filed with the SEC on June 19, 201

10.16 Convertible Promissory Note made by Dalea Partiidétsp the order of TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltcatet June 13, 2012 in the
principal sum of $11,500,000 (incorporated by reffee to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Current ReporForm 8-K, dated
June 13, 2012, filed with the SEC on June 19, 2(
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Amendment No. 3 to the Amended and Restated Cieg@dement, dated as of November 21, 2012, by atwides Amity
Oil International Pty. Ltd., DMLP, Ltd., Petrogast®l| Gaz ve Petrokimya Uriinleri Insaat Sanayiveafiét A.S., Talon
Exploration, Ltd., TransAtlantic Exploration Meditanean International Pty. Ltd. and TransAtlantickey, Ltd., as
borrowers, TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd., TransAtiaPetroleum (USA) Corp., TransAtlantic Worldwidsggd., as
guarantors and Standard Bank Plc as administratjeat and collateral agent (incorporated by refaréa Exhibit 10.22 to
the Compan’s Annual Report on Form -K, filed with the SEC on May 16, 201:

Office Lease, dated April 5, 2013, by and betwesan3$Atlantic Petroleum (USA) Corp. and Longfellowgtgy, LP
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tler@any’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated May®,2, filed with the
SEC on May 14, 2013
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EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors
TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference inrélggstration statement (No. 333-162814) on Forth@-TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. (the
Company) of our reports dated March 13, 2014, vapect to the consolidated balance sheets of Atlamsic Petroleum Ltd. as of
December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related cdasedl statements of comprehensive income (lossityegnd cash flows for the two-year
period ended December 31, 2013, and all relatechdiral statement schedules, and the effectiverféageonal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2013, which reports appeareibdcember 31, 2013 Annual Report on Form 10-Krah3Atlantic Petroleum Ltd.

Our report dated March 13, 2014, on the effectigeraf internal control over financial reportingaiDecember 31, 2013, expresses an opinio
that the Company did not maintain effective intéawatrol over financial reporting as of Decembér 3013 because of the effect of material
weaknesses on the achievement of the objectivikeafontrol criteria and contains an explanatomagaph that states that the following
material weaknesses were identified and includedanagement’s assessment in Item 9A of the Compddgtember 31, 2013 Annual Report
on Form 10-K:

» The Company has not designed and implemenfedtie® internal controls over remeasurement aaisiation of its foreign
subsidiarie’ account balance

e The Company has not designed and implemenfedti®® internal controls that sufficiently considgl information necessary to
ensure proper classification and presentation witliconsolidated financial statemet

/s KPMG LLP
Dallas, Texas
March 13, 2014



EXHIBIT 23.2

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

KPMG LLP Telephone (403) 6¢-8000
20E-5th Avenue SW Fax (403) 69-8008

Suite 3100, Bow Valley Square www.kpmg.ca

Calgary AB

T2P 4B9

To the Board of Directors of TransAtlantic Petratelutd.

We consent to the incorporation by reference inrRbgistration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 38381L4) of TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd.
of our report dated March 23, 2012 (except for Notsated March 13, 2014) on the consolidated se¢srof comprehensive loss, equity and
cash flows of TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. for §rear ended December 31, 2011, which report appesine Form 10-K of TransAtlantic
Petroleum Ltd. for the year ended December 31, 2013

/s! KPMG LLP
Chartered Accountants

Calgary, Canada
March 13, 2014

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnerptand a member firm of the KPMG network of indepamtdnember firms affiliated with KPMG Internatior@boperative
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP.

KPMG Confidential



Exhibit 23.3

DeGolyer and MacNaughton
5001 Spring Valley Road
Suite 800 East

Dallas, Texas 75244

March 13, 2014

TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd.
16803 Dallas Parkway
Addison, Texas 75001

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We hereby consent to references to DeGolyer andNidliaghton as an independent petroleum engineerimgutting firm under the
heading “Glossary of Selected Oil and Natural Gasrg”, “Part |. — Item 1. Business” and “Part tenh 2. Properties” of the Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 26flBransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. (“TransAtlantic’® be filed with the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission on or about March 17, 2014“@&heaual Report”), including any amendments theyatad to the inclusion of our third-
party letter report dated February 28, 2014, cairigiour opinion on the proved, probable and pdssiserves attributable to certain
properties owned by TransAtlantic as of Decembe2813.

We hereby further consent to the incorporationdfgnence of the foregoing in the Registration $tatet on Form S-8 (No. 333-162814)
of TransAtlantic.

Very truly yours,
/sl DeGOLYER and MaCNAUGHTOI

DeGOLYER and MacNAUGHTOT!
Texas Registered Engineering Fir-716



EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION

I, N. Malone Mitchell 3rd, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10fRransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notagorany untrue statement of a material fact or eondttate a material fact

necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementswade, not misleading with respect
to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all

material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaaral for, the periods presented in this
report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a}Hhd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over finaheporting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) forriagistrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedoreaused such disclosure controls and procedaoites designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material infornmatielating to the registrant, including its condatied subsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particulatlying the period in which this report is beingpared;

b. Designed such internal control over financiglorting, or caused such internal control over faiahreporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeragsurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmure with generally accepted accounting princjples

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeagiisclosure controls and procedures and preséntad report our conclusior

about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehis report based on such
evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig's internal control over financial reportirttgat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrsts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaf, the registrant’s internal control over finaeeporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anthve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over

financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditoreldhe audit committee of the registrant’s boardiofctors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting

which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaiad report financial information;
and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that invawaanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

March 13, 2014 /s/ N. Malone Mitchell 3rd
N. Malone Mitchell 3rc
Chief Executive Office




EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION

I, Wil F. Saqueton, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10fRransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notagorany untrue statement of a material fact or eondttate a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementswade, not misleading with respect
to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaaral for, the periods presented in this
report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a}Hhd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over finaheporting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) forriagistrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedoreaused such disclosure controls and procedaoites designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material infornmatielating to the registrant, including its condatied subsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particulatlying the period in which this report is beingpared;

b. Designed such internal control over financiglorting, or caused such internal control over faiahreporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeragsurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmure with generally accepted accounting princjples

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeagiisclosure controls and procedures and preséntad report our conclusior
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehis report based on such
evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig's internal control over financial reportirttgat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrsts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaf, the registrant’s internal control over finaeeporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anthve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditoreldhe audit committee of the registrant’s boardiofctors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaiad report financial information;
and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that invawaanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

March 13, 2014 /s/ Wil F. Saqueton
Wil F. Saquetor
Chief Financial Office




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 104KansAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. (the “Company”) fiie year ended December 31,
2013 as filed with the Securities and Exchange C@sion on the date hereof (the “Form 10-K”), I,Malone Mitchell 3rd, Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant®U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 9f@itecbarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to
the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Form 10-K fully complies with the requirente of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securitiestzxge Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Form 10-K liapresents, in all material respects, the findnmadition and results of operations of the
Company.

Dated March 13, 2014 /s/ N. Malone Mitchell 3rd
N. Malone Mitchell 3rc
Chief Executive Office

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906 has been provided to TransAtldPeiroleum Ltd. and will be retained
by TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. and furnished te Securities and Exchange Commission or its sfghuequest.

The foregoing certification is being furnished aseahibit to the Form 10-K pursuant to Item 60182)(of Regulation S-K and
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (sctisns (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 6Bitté 18, United States Code) and,
accordingly, is not being filed as part of the FdrtaK for purposes of Section 18 of the Securiigshange Act of 1934, as amended, and is
not incorporated by reference into any filing of tiompany, whether made before or after the datoheegardless of any general
incorporation language in such filing.



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 104KansAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. (the “Company”) fiie year ended December 31,
2013 as filed with the Securities and Exchange C@sion on the date hereof (the “Form 10-K;)Wil F. Saqueton, Chief Financial Officer
the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.§.€C350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sasb@rkey Act of 2002, that to the best of
my knowledge:

(1) The Form 10-K fully complies with the requirent& of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securitiestzxme Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Form 10-K liapresents, in all material respects, the findnmadition and results of operations of the
Company.

Dated March 13, 2014 /s/ Wil F. Saqueton
Wil F. Saquetor
Chief Financial Office

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906 has been provided to TransAtldPeiroleum Ltd. and will be retained
by TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. and furnished te Securities and Exchange Commission or its sfghuequest.

The foregoing certification is being furnished aseahibit to the Form 10-K pursuant to Item 60182)(of Regulation S-K and
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (sctisns (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 6Bitté 18, United States Code) and,
accordingly, is not being filed as part of the FdrtaK for purposes of Section 18 of the Securiigshange Act of 1934, as amended, and is
not incorporated by reference into any filing of tiompany, whether made before or after the datoheegardless of any general
incorporation language in such filing.



Exhibit 99.1

DeGolyer and MacNaughton
5001 Spring Valley Road
Suite 800 East

Dallas, Texas 75244

February 28, 2014

TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd.
16803 Dallas Parkway, Suite 200
Addison, Texas 75001

Gentlemen:

Pursuant to your request, we have conducted apémiient evaluation, completed on February 28, 2@1<erve as a reserves audit of
the extent and value of the proved, probable, asdiple oil, natural gas, and condensate resessesf, December 31, 2013, of certain
properties owned by TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltda@BAtlantic) in Turkey and Bulgaria. TransAtlartias represented that these properties
account for 100 percent, on a net equivalent bhaasis, of TransAtlantic’s net proved, probable] possible reserves, as of December 31,
2013. The net proved, probable, and possible rese¥stimates have been prepared in accordancéwithserves definitions of Rules 4-10(a)
(1)-(32) of Regulation S—X of the Securities an@ltange Commission (SEC) of the United States. rEgert was prepared in accordance
with guidelines specified in Item 1202 (a)(8) ofgRkation S-K and is to be used for inclusion intaier SEC filings by TransAtlantic.

Gross reserves are defined as the total estimateolgum to be produced from these properties Bigmember 31, 2013. Net reserves
defined as that portion of the gross reservesattble to the interests owned by TransAtlantieradeducting interests owned by others. Only
net reserves are reported herein.

Gas reserves estimated herein are expressed agjaaleéSales gas is defined as that portion abtaégas produced from the reservoir
after reduction for shrinkage resulting from fiskeparation, processing, fuel use, and flare aJaikabbe delivered into a gas pipeline for sale.
Gas reserves are expressed at a temperature BB8elejrees Fahrenheit (°F) and at a pressureolbd<e70 pounds per square inch absolute
(psia). Oil and condensate reserves estimatedrhareithose to be recovered by conventional legsaration



DeGolyer and MacNaughton

Values of proved, probable, and possible reserveas herein are expressed in terms of estimatenduyross revenue, future net
revenue, and present worth. Future gross reverthatisevenue which will accrue to the appraiseerasts from the production and sale of the
estimated net reserves adjusted for net profite(e/applicable). Future net revenue is definethaduture gross revenue less direct operating
expenses, capital costs, abandonment costs, amdafiés, where applicable. Direct operating exmenisiclude field operating expenses,
transportation expenses, compression charges,reailbaation of overhead that directly relates toduction activities. Future income tax
expenses were not taken into account in the préparaf these estimates. Present worth is defirsefti@re net revenue discounted at a
specified arbitrary discount rate compounded mgrlier the expected period of realization.

Estimates of oil, natural gas, and condensatevesand future net revenue should be regardedasndstimates that may change as
further production history and additional infornmatibecome available. Not only are such reserveserghue estimates based on that
information which is currently available, but suedtimates are also subject to the uncertaintiesr@mtt in the application of judgmental factors
in interpreting such information.

Data used in this audit were obtained from reviexith TransAtlantic personnel, from TransAtlantitefi, from records on file with the
appropriate regulatory agencies, and from publizees. In the preparation of this report we haliedewithout independent verification, upon
such information furnished by TransAtlantic witlspect to property interests, production from sudperties, current costs of operation and
development, current prices for production, agragmeelating to current and future operations aid sf production, and various other
information and data that were accepted as repiexdef field examination of the properties was cansidered necessary for the purposes of
this report.

Methodology and Procedures

Estimates of reserves were prepared by the usgpobpriate geologic, petroleum engineering, anduatin principles and techniques
that are in accordance with practices generallggeized by the petroleum industry as presenteldarptiblication of the Society of Petroleum
Engineers entitle“ Standards Pertaining to the Estimating and Auditih@il and Gas Reserv
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Information (Revision as of February 19, 2007).EThethod or combination of methods used in theyaisabf each reservoir was tempered by
experience with similar reservoirs, stage of depelent, quality and completeness of basic datapesdiction history.

When applicable, the volumetric method was usesktonate the original oil in place (OOIP) and thigioal gas in place (OGIP).
Structure and isopach maps were constructed tma&stireservoir volume. Electrical logs, radioatyiVogs, core analyses, and other available
data were used to prepare these maps as welleasintate representative values for porosity aneémssturation. When adequate data were
available and when circumstances justified, mateatance and other engineering methods were wsestimate OOIP or OGIP.

Estimates of ultimate recovery were obtained afpiying recovery factors to OOIP or OGIP. Thesmvery factors were based on
consideration of the type of energy inherent inréservoirs, analyses of the petroleum, the stracpositions of the properties, and the
production histories. When applicable, other engjiimgy methods were used to estimate recovery fadtoisuch case, an analysis of reservoir
performance, including production rate, reservoéspgure, and gas-oil ratio behavior, was usederestimation of reserves.

For depletion-type reservoirs or those whose perémce disclosed a reliable decline in producing-tiands or other diagnostic
characteristics, reserves were estimated by thiicappn of appropriate decline curves or otheffgenance relationships. In the analyses of
production-decline curves, reserves were estimat@dto the limits of economic production or to timait of the production licenses as
appropriate.

In certain cases, when the previously named metbodisl not be used, reserves or certain elementssefves were estimated by anal
with similar wells or reservoirs for which more cplete data were available.

The fields have been grouped into three asset grbaged on economic considerations: the Thrace B&gural Gas Company (TBNG
asset group, the core TransAtlantic properties (JaSset group, and the Edirne asset group (camgisfiEdirne field). All fields are subject to
a royalty of 12.5 percent. The TBNGC asset growguigect to an additional 1.0-percent overridingatty interest, except for Alibey field
which has a 0-percent overriding royalty interest. Certain wallSTAT and Edirne asset groups are also subjeatrtet profits
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interest of 5 percent. Net reserves quantitiesrteddierein reflect the appropriate quantity reiunst for royalty interests and overriding
royalty interests, as well as the quantity redurctieelded from the calculated revenue associatéd thve net profits payable.

Definition of Reserves

Petroleum reserves included in this report aresifilad by degree of proof as proved, probable,assfble. Reserves classifications used
in this report are in accordance with the resededmitions of Rules 4-10(a) (1)—(32) of Regulat®nX of the SEC. Reserves are judged to be
economically producible in future years from knorgservoirs under existing economic and operatinglitions and assuming continuation of
current regulatory practices using conventionatipotion methods and equipment. In the analysesaafyetion-decline curves, reserves were
estimated only to the limit of economic rates ajgurction under existing economic and operating itmms using prices and costs consistent
with the effective date of this report, includingnsideration of changes in existing prices providely by contractual arrangements but not
including escalations based upon future conditidhg petroleum reserves are classified as follows:

Proved oil and gas reservesProved oil and gas reserves are those quartitieisand gas, which, by analysis of geoscienad an
engineering data, can be estimated with reasonaiainty to be economically producible—from a gidate forward, from known
reservoirs, and under existing economic conditiopgrating methods, and government regulations—+poithe time at which contracts
providing the right to operate expire, unless enaeindicates that renewal is reasonably certagandless of whether deterministic or
probabilistic methods are used for the estimafidre project to extract the hydrocarbons must hawensenced or the operator must be
reasonably certain that it will commence the proyeithin a reasonable time.

(i) The area of the reservoir considered as pravelddes:

(A) The area identified by drilling and limited lfiyid contacts, if any, and (B) Adjacent undrillpdrtions of the reservoir that can,
with reasonable certainty, be judged to be contisuwith it and to contain economically producibleon gas on the basis of
available geoscience and engineering ¢
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(i) In the absence of data on fluid contacts, paquantities in a reservoir are limited by thedstwknown hydrocarbons (LKH) as
seen in a well penetration unless geoscience, eadiry, or performance data and reliable techno&sggblishes a lower contact
with reasonable certainty.

(iii) Where direct observation from well penetratiohas defined a highest known oil (HKO) elevatod the potential exists for an
associated gas cap, proved oil reserves may kgnaskin the structurally higher portions of theergsir only if geoscience,
engineering, or performance data and reliable t@lolgy establish the higher contact with reasonabtéainty.

(iv) Reserves which can be produced economicaityuitph application of improved recovery techniquaslgding, but not limited
to, fluid injection) are included in the proved sdéication when:

(A) Successful testing by a pilot project in anaaoé the reservoir with properties no more favagahln in the reservoir as a whole,
the operation of an installed program in the resielmr an analogous reservoir, or other evidenéegusliable technology
establishes the reasonable certainty of the engigeanalysis on which the project or program wasddl; and (B) The project has
been approved for development by all necessarjepaahd entities, including governmental entities.

(v) Existing economic conditions include prices aodts at which economic producibility from a reséris to be determined. The
price shall be the average price during the 12-mpatiod prior to the ending date of the period ceddny the report, determined
an unweighted arithmetic average of the first-d&yhe-month price for each month within such periodless prices are defined by
contractual arrangements, excluding escalationsdbagon future condition



DeGolyer and MacNaughton

Probable reserves Probable reserves are those additional reseémaésite less certain to be recovered than provaives but which,
together with proved reserves, are as likely agabte recovered.

(i) When deterministic methods are used, it iskedy as not that actual remaining quantities rexed will exceed the sum of
estimated proved plus probable reserves. When bilidiec methods are used, there should be at ke&8% probability that the
actual quantities recovered will equal or exceedpioved plus probable reserves estimates.

(i) Probable reserves may be assigned to areasedervoir adjacent to proved reserves whereada#ol or interpretations of
available data are less certain, even if the imétegl reservoir continuity of structure or prodvityi does not meet the reasonable
certainty criterion. Probable reserves may be assido areas that are structurally higher tharptbeed area if these areas are in
communication with the proved reservaoir.

(iii) Probable reserves estimates also includeni@kincremental quantities associated with a grepercentage recovery of the
hydrocarbons in place than assumed for provedveser

(iv) See also guidelines in paragraphs (iv) anii¢fithe definition of possible reserves.
Possible reserves Possible reserves are those additional resemaesre less certain to be recovered than probbabéves.

(i) When deterministic methods are used, the tpahtities ultimately recovered from a project havew probability of exceeding
proved plus probable plus possible reserves. Whelpgpilistic methods are used, there should beaat la 10% probability that the
total quantities ultimately recovered will equalexceed the proved plus probable plus possiblevesestimate:
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(ii) Possible reserves may be assigned to areaseaxervoir adjacent to probable reserves wheeeatsitrol and interpretations of
available data are progressively less certain.Uemsty, this will be in areas where geoscienceemgineering data are unable to
define clearly the area and vertical limits of coemaial production from the reservoir by a definedjgct.

(iii) Possible reserves also include incrementalrgities associated with a greater percentage eeg@f the hydrocarbons in place
than the recovery quantities assumed for proba&slerves.

(iv) The proved plus probable and proved plus potdalus possible reserves estimates must be lomsezhsonable alternative
technical and commercial interpretations within agervoir or subject project that are clearly doented, including comparisons
results in successful similar projects.

(v) Possible reserves may be assigned where gecscémd engineering data identify directly adjagemtions of a reservoir within
the same accumulation that may be separated fromegrareas by faults with displacement less themdton thickness or other
geological discontinuities and that have not bemmeprated by a wellbore, and the registrant bedi¢hrat such adjacent portions are
in communication with the known (proved) reservBiossible reserves may be assigned to areas ¢hstracturally higher or lower
than the proved area if these areas are in commutioricwith the proved reservoir.

(vi) Pursuant to paragraph (iii) of the provedanld gas reserves definition, where direct obsemdtas defined a highest known
(HKO) elevation and the potential exists for amoagsted gas cap, proved oil reserves should bgrassiin the structurally higher
portions of the reservoir above the HKO only if thigher contact can be established with reasorcastainty through reliable
technology. Portions of the reservoir that do netnithis reasonable certainty criterion may begaesi as probable and possible oil
or gas based on reservoir fluid properties andspresgradient interpretatior
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Developed oil and gas reserve®eveloped oil and gas reserves are reservesyafaagory that can be expected to be recovered:

(i) Through existing wells with existing equipmeartd operating methods or in which the cost of gguired equipment is relative
minor compared to the cost of a new well; and

(ii) Through installed extraction equipment andastructure operational at the time of the reseestisnate if the extraction is by
means not involving a well.

Undeveloped oil and gas reservesndeveloped oil and gas reserves are resenasyatategory that are expected to be recovered fror
new wells on undrilled acreage, or from existindlsverhere a relatively major expenditure is reqdifer recompletion.

(i) Reserves on undrilled acreage shall be limitethose directly offsetting development spacireparthat are reasonably certair
production when drilled, unless evidence usingal#é technology exists that establishes reasomrailainty of economic
producibility at greater distances.

(ii) Undrilled locations can be classified as havimdeveloped reserves only if a development péanbieen adopted indicating that
they are scheduled to be drilled within five yeansgss the specific circumstances justify a lorigee.

(iif) Under no circumstances shall estimates faleweloped reserves be attributable to any acreagetfich an application of fluid
injection or other improved recovery techniqueastemplated, unless such techniques have beendgeffextive by actual projec
in the same reservoir or an analogous reservottefised in [section 210.4-10 (a) Definitions],lgr other evidence using reliable
technology establishing reasonable certai
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The extent to which probable and possible resarltgsately may be reclassified as proved reserseiependent upon future drilling,
testing, and well performance. The degree of shd applied in evaluating probable and possilderses is influenced by economic and
technological factors as well as the time elem@rdbable and possible reserves in this report havbeen adjusted in consideration of these
additional risks and therefore are not comparalitfle proved reserves.

Primary Economic Assumptions

The following economic assumptions were used fomeding existing and future prices and costs:
Oil, Condensate, and Natural Gas Prices

Prices used in this evaluation were based on ad#hraverage price, calculated as the unweighiéthaetic average of the first-
day-of-the-month price for each month within ther@nth period prior to the end of the reportingigeir An average reference oil
price during this period is Brent at 108.63 Unigtdtes dollars (U.S.$) per barrel. The averagarullcondensate prices used to
estimate reserves herein were as follows: U.S.8588 barrel in Bulgaria, U.S.$103.71 per barreA field, U.S.$103.50 per
barrel in Alibey field, U.S.$102.82 per barrel impatepe field, U.S.$91.99 per barrel in Goksu field5.$81.28 per barrel in
Kazanci field, U.S.$103.00 per barrel in Molla fiehnd U.S.$102.98 per barrel in Selmo field. Therall weighted-average oil
price in this report was U.S.$102.07. An averaderemce gas price during this period is the Unke@tydom National Balancing
Point Index of U.S.$10.93 per million British theahunits. The average gas prices used in this tepene as follows: U.S.$10.35
per thousand cubic feet (Mcf) for TBNGC asset grduis.$9.30 per Mcf for the Edirne asset group,. 8880 per Mcf for
Bulgaria, U.S.$8.76 per Mcf for the Bakuk field 3)$10.03 per Mcf for the CAB and DAK fields, andSU$9.30 per Mcf for the
remaining fields in TAT asset group. The overaligited-average gas price in this report was U.S.$9.9Muér These prices we
held constant for the lives of the propert
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Net Profits Interest

As represented by TransAtlantic, there is a 5-pdmoet profits interest burden for certain wellgthe AG, Alpullu, CAB, DAK,
Edirne, Karapurcek, and REDY fields. Where applieathe net profits reduced TransAtlantic’'s owngrsif reserves and revenue
values.

Operating Expenses and Capital Costs

Estimates of operating expenses based on currpehegs were used for the lives of the propertiéls ng increases in the future
based on inflation. In certain cases, future exggnaither higher or lower than current expensey, mve been used because of
anticipated changes in operating conditions. Futapstal expenditures were estimated using cunaluies and were not adjusted
for inflation.

Abandonment Costs

Abandonment costs were provided by TransAtlantiesE costs were estimated using current valuewarenot adjusted for
inflation. Abandonment costs herein include wekdbonment only. Also, TransAtlantic has represetitatlit will relinquish
operation of the Selmo field to the Turkish Goveemtnat the end of June 2025, and therefore wilbeotesponsible for
abandonment costs pertaining to wells in the Sdietd that produce beyond June 2025.

Royalty and Taxes

All fields are subject to a royalty of 12.5 percefields in the TBNGC asset group are subject tadatitional 1.0percent overridin
royalty interest, except for the Alibey field, whibas an 0.5-percent overriding royalty interestrt&in wells in the Edirne field are
subject to a thir-party carried net revent
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interest of 2.625 percent. TransAtlantic has regmmtesd that there are no production taxes to beipdlidrkey or Bulgaria. No other
taxes, including income taxes for Turkey, Bulga@anada, or the United States, were considerdddretvaluation.

While the oil and gas industry may be subject tutatory changes from time to time that could affetindustry participant’s ability to

recover its oil and gas reserves, we are not asfaaay such governmental actions which would resthie recovery of the December 31, 2013
oil, condensate, and gas reserves estimated h&redreserves estimated in this report can be pextlunder current regulatory guidelines.

Summary of Qil and Gas Reserves and Revenue

The estimates of net proved, probable, and possiskrves, as of December 31, 2013, attributattfeetinterests owned by TransAtlar
in Turkey and Bulgaria, of the properties evaludtetkin, are summarized as follows, expressedrirelsgbbl) or thousands of cubic feet
(Mcf):

Estimated by DeGolyer and MacNaughtor
as of December 31, 201

Net
Net Condensatt Net
Qil Sales Gas
(bbl) (bbl) (Mcf)
Proved
Developec 4,874,07. 0 10,450,76
Undevelopec 4,839,711l 0 4,587,63!
Total Proved 9,713,78: 0 15,038,39
Probable 8,119,93I 0 23,030,27
Possible 16,877,45 0 78,204,98

Note: Probable and possible reserves have notriseadjusted to make them comparable to proveerves.
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The estimated revenue and expenditures attributableansAtlantic’s interests in Turkey and Bulgain the proved, probable, and
possible net reserves, as of December 31, 20%Beqgdroperties appraised under the aforementiossahaptions concerning future prices and
costs are summarized as follows, expressed inddlgrs (U.S.3$):

Estimated by DeGolyer and MacNaughton as of Decemb81, 2013

Proved

Developed Undeveloped Total Probable Possible

(U.S.9) (U.S.9) (U.S.9) (U.S.9) (U.S.9)
Future Gross Revent 603,011,127 538,763,68 1,141,774,85 1,050,707,01 2,507,219,88
Production Taxe 0] 0 0 0 0]
Operating Expense 105,405,01 80,775,70 186,180,72 110,147,87 168,687,01
Capital Cost: 4,143,98 127,499,43 131,643,42 139,141,57 165,713,85
Abandonment Cos! 2,791,94. 298,51- 3,090,45! 613,68 327,33t
Net Profits (273,37) (792,84) (1,066,21) (982,31)  (23,463,39)
Future Net Revenu 490,396,84 329,397,18 819,794,03 799,821,56 2,149,028,28
Present Worth at 10 Perce 364,282,14 228,241,42 592,523,57 521,412,27 1,282,337,80

Notes:
1. Values for probable and possible reserves haveeaw risk adjusted to make them comparable to sdtreproved reserve
2. Future income tax expenses were not taken intoustéo the preparation of these estima

In our opinion, the information relating to estimatproved, probable, and possible reserves, esitihfiature net revenue from proved,
probable, and possible reserves, and present wbestimated future net revenue from proved, préshand possible reserves of all,
condensate, and gas contained in this report hers firepared in accordance with Paragraphs 932-@35-832-235-50-6, 932-235-50-7, 932-
235-50-9, 932-235-50-30, and 932-235-50-31(a),gbl (e) of the Accounting Standards Update 9325tBExtractive Industries- Oil and
Gas (Topic 932): Oil and Gas Reserve Estimation RistlosuregJanuary 2010) of the Financial Accounting Stang@dard and Rules 4-10
(a) (1)—(32) of Regulation S—X and Rules 302(bp1,21202(a) (1), (2), (3), (4), (5), (8), and 128)3¢f Regulation S—K of the Securities and
Exchange Commission; provided, however, that (Qrielincome tax expenses have not been takendotmiat in estimating the future net
revenue and present worth values set forth herar(ig estimates of the proved developed and mtawedeveloped reserves are not presente
at the beginning of the year.

To the extent the above-enumerated rules, regakatend statements require determinations of amuatiog or legal nature, we, as
engineers, are necessarily unable to express aioopis to whether the above-described informasian accordance therewith or sufficient
therefor.
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DeGolyer and MacNaughton is an independent petmolengineering consulting firm that has been praxgdgietroleum consulting
services throughout the world since 1936. DeGadysl MacNaughton does not have any financial inteirduding stock ownership, in
TransAtlantic. Our fees were not contingent onrémilts of our evaluation. This letter report hesrbprepared at the request of TransAtlantic
DeGolyer and MacNaughton has used all data, assumspprocedures, and methods that it considersssacy to prepare this report.

Submitted

/s| DeGolyer and MacNaughtt
DeGOLYER and MacNAUGHTO!
Texas Registered Engineering Fir-716

/s/ Lloyd W. Cade, P.E.

Lloyd W. Cade, P.E
[SEAL] Senior Vice Presidel

DeGolyer and MacNaughtc
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CERTIFICATE of QUALIFICATION

I, Lloyd W. Cade, Petroleum Engineer with DeGolgad MacNaughton, 5001 Spring Valley Road, Suite Ba§, Dallas, Texas, 75244
U.S.A., hereby certify:

1. Thatlam a Senior Vice President with DeGolmed MacNaughton, which company did prepare therlegport addressed to
TransAtlantic dated February 28, 2014, and thas ISenior Vice President, was responsible for thpgration of this repor

2. Thatl attended Kansas State University, antltheaduated with a Bachelor of Science degreédéchanical Engineering in the
year 1982; that | am a Registered Professionalriemgiin the State of Texas; that | am a membehefriternational Society «
Petroleum Engineers; and that | have in exces4 gkars of experience in oil and gas reservoiristuand evaluation

3. That DeGolyer and MacNaughton or its officers hawalirect or indirect interest, nor do they expgeateceive any direct or indire
interest in any properties or securities of Trafettc Petroleum Ltd. or affiliate therec

SIGNED: February 28, 2014

/sl Lloyd W. Cade, P.E.

Lloyd W. Cade, P.E
[SEAL] Senior Vice Presidel

DeGolyer and MacNaughtc




